Genetic and Proteomic Basis of Abiotic Stress Responses in Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*)

Inaugural-Dissertation

Zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Universität zu Köln

vorgelegt von

JAROD ROLLINS

aus Waterville, Maine

Vereinigte Staaten von Amerika

Köln, 2012

Die vorliegende Arbeit wurde am Max-Planck-Institut für Pflanzenzüchtungsforschung in Köln in der Abteilung für Entwicklungsbiologie der Pflanzen (Direktor: Prof. Dr. G. Coupland) angefertigt.



Max-Planck-Institut für Pflanzenzüchtungsforschung

Prüfungsvorsitzender:Prof. Dr. Martin HülskampBerichterstatter:Prof. Dr. George Coupland
Prof. Dr. Ute HöckerPrüfungsdatum :Oktober 11th 2012

Abstract

Drought and heat stress are the two leading abiotic stresses that limit crop productivity. Understanding the range of responses that a model crop like barley can exhibit in different environments to avoid or tolerate stress will be crucial in unraveling the basis of abiotic stress resistance. The objectives of the present study were to identify i) morphological and physiological traits associated with abiotic stress resistance, ii) genetic loci linked to agronomic performance traits under drought, and iii) proteins differentially regulated in response to heat and drought stress.

A barley recombinant inbred line population derived from a cross between the Syrian landrace Arta and the Australian cultivar Keel was grown in a greenhouse under well watered conditions and subjected to drought treatment that began at anthesis and persisted until maturity. Using genotyping data from over 700 genetic markers, a multi-environmental quantitative trait loci (QTL) analysis of morphological and physiological traits was performed. For the proteomic analysis, Arta and Keel were grown in a growth chamber under well watered conditions and subjected to drought, high temperature, or a combination of both treatments starting at anthesis. The leaf proteome of Arta and Keel were visualized and changes in protein spot abundance due to the stress treatments were quantified using difference gel electrophoresis (DIGE). Mass spectrometry was used to identify protein spots excised from the gels.

The drought treatment was characterized by morphological plasticity and stability on the physiological and proteomic level. In contrast, the heat treatment caused perturbations on the physiological and proteomic level which were more prominent than the morphological responses that occurred. The QTL analysis revealed nineteen loci for traits associated with agronomic and physiological performance under drought. The proteomic analysis identified 99 protein spots differentially regulated in response to the heat treatment, 14 of which were regulated in a genotype specific manner. Differentially regulated proteins with potential roles in the observed morphological and physiological changes under heat stress included photosynthetic proteins Rusbisco activase B and chlorophyll a-b binding proteins in addition to the glycolytic enzymes fructose-bisphosphate aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase. Of the stress responsive traits, significant differences in plant height, spike fertility, and photosynthetic performance were detected between Arta and Keel. Altogether, the detection of genetic variation in traits responsive to abiotic stress and in protein abundance represent unique stress adaption mechanisms which can be exploited in future crop breeding efforts.

Zusammenfassung

Trockenheit und Hitze sind die zwei führenden abiotischen Stressfaktoren, die sich limitierend auf den Ernteertrag auswirken. Ein Verständnis davon welche umfangreichen Reaktionen eine Modelpflanze wie Gerste – wenn unterschiedlichen Umweltbedingungen ausgesetzt – aufweisen kann, um Stressfaktoren zu umgehen, beziehungsweise zu tolerieren, wäre entscheidend bei der Aufklärung abiotischer tressresistenz. Die Zielsetzung der vorliegenden Arbeit war die Identifizierung von i) morphologische und physiologische Reaktionen auf Stress durch Hitze und Trockenheit, ii) genetischen Loci, welche mit agronomischen Merkmalen bezüglich der Ertragsleistung unter trockenen Bedingungen, verbunden sind und iii) Proteinen, die als Reaktion auf Hitze und Trockenheit unterschiedlich reguliert werden.

Eine durch rekombinante Zucht erzeugte Gerstensorte, die eine Kreuzung aus der syrischen Landgerste Arta und der australischen Sorte Keel ist, wurde in einem Gewächshaus unter guten Bewässerungsbedingungen gewachsen, und anschließend einer Trockenheitsbehandlung, beginnend mit der Anthesis und die bis zur Reife anhielt, unterzogen. Unter Verwendung von genotypischen Daten von über 700 genetischen Markern wurde eine Multi-umweltbedingte-Merkmal-Loci Analyse (engl.: multienvironmental quantitative trait loci (QTL)) morphologischer und physiologischer Merkmale durchgeführt. Für die proteomische Analyse wurden die parentalen Linien Arta und Keel in einem Gewächshaus unter guten Bewässerungsbedingungen gewachsen und mit der Anthesis startend folgenden Bedingungen ausgesetzt: Trockenheit, erhöhten Temperaturen, oder einer Kombination dieser beiden Bedingungen. Das Blattproteom von Arta und Keel wurde visualisiert, und mittles 2D-Gelelektrophorese (engl.: difference gel electrophoresis (DIGE)) wurde eine Änderung in der Menge an Proteinflecken (protein spots) aufgrund der Stressbehandlungen quantifiziert. Für die Identifizierung der aus den Gelen herausgeschnittenen Proteinflecken wurde Massenspektronomie genutzt.

Die Trockenheitsbehandlung war durch morphologische Plastizität und einer Beständigkeit auf physiologischer und proteomischer Ebene charakterisiert. Im Gegensatz dazu hatte eine Hitzebehandlung einen markanteren Störeinfluss auf die Pflanzenphysiologie und Proteinanreicherung als auf die Morphologie. Die QTL Analysen ließen 19 Loci erkennen für Merkmale, die mit einer agronomischen und physiologischen Leistung in Zusammenhang stehen. Durch die Proteomanalyse der parentalen Linien ließen sich 99 Proteine (Proteinflecken) identifizieren, die als Reaktion auf die Hitzebehandlung unterschiedlich reguliert wurden, 14 davon wurden in Abhängigkeit des Genotyps unterschiedlich reguliert. Der Großteil dieser unterschiedlich regulierten Proteine spielt eine Rolle im Stoffwechsel und der Photosynthese. Unterschiedlich regulierte Proteine mit möglichen Funktionen verantwortlich für die beobachteten morphologischen und physiologischen Veränderungen als Reaktion auf Hitzebehandlung, schließen photosynthetische Proteine Rusbisco Aktivase B, Chlorophyll a-b bindende Proteine, als auch Glykolytische Enzyme wie Fructosebiphosphataldolase und Glyceraldehyd-3-Phosphatdehydrogenase ein. Einige Merkmale, die Stressabhängig zu sein scheinen, wie z.B. Pflanzengröße, Fertilität der Ähren und die photosynthetische Leistung, haben sich zwischen den zwei Genotypen unter Stressbehandlung deutlich unterschieden. Zusammenfassend erlaubt eine Erkennung der genetischen Variationen dieser stressabhängigen Merkmale sowie der Häufigkeit an Proteinen, dass diese Eigenschaften für spätere Züchtungen ausgenutzt werden.

Table of contents

Chapter One - QTL Analysis of Agronomic Traits in Barley Under Water Limited Conditions
Introduction1
Barley is a model crop with worldwide agricultural importance
Molecular responses to drought 2
Quantitative trait loci for drought resistance4
Development dependent responses to drought5
Materials and methods
Experimental overview
Plant material6
Drought treatment
Physiological measurements
Morphological and agronomic measurements
Statistical analysis
Linkage mapping
Quantitative trait loci analysis10
Results
Robustness of barley physiology despite drought10
Reduction in grain yield and yield components due to drought stress
Evaluation of agronomic traits under drought stress15
Phenotypic variation of traits due to genotype and drought conditions
Genetic correlations of traits to yield under control and drought conditions
QTL for agronomic traits
Discussion
Reduction of growth and yield in the absence of physiological stress
Genotype specific environmental responses 24
Clustering of QTL
Confirmed and novel QTL 26
Conclusion

apter Two - Leaf Proteome Analysis of Barley Subjected to Drought and Heat Stress	30
Introduction	30
Molecular responses to abiotic stress	31
Quantitative proteomics	32
Materials and Methods	34
Experimental overview	34
Plant material	34
Drought and heat treatments	34
Physiological measurements	35
Morphological and agronomic measurements	36
Protein extraction	
Fluorescent labeling of proteins	37
Two dimensional gel electrophoresis	38
Colloidal Coomassie Brilliant Blue staining	39
Gel image analysis	
Protein identification	39
Annotation of identified proteins with gene ontology terms	40
Singular Enrichment Analysis	41
Statistical analysis	41
Results	42
Single and combined effects of drought and heat treatments on physiological traits over tim	e 42
Single and combined effects of drought and heat stress on morphological traits	47
Phenotypic variation of traits due to main and interacting effects of the genotype and treatr	ments 53
Phenotypic correlation of traits to grain yield under control and high temperature treatment	ts 55
Mapping and characterization of the barley leaf proteome	56
Quantification of differentially expressed proteins	57
Differential regulation of proteins in response to heat treatments	60
Differential protein expression due to genotype	63
Interacting effects of genotype and heat on protein abundance	65
Discussion	67
Morphological traits were more plastic under drought than under high temperature	

Physiological traits were negatively impacted by heat stress but not drought stress
Barley genotypes Arta and Keel respond uniquely to heat and drought treatments
Proteomic basis of morphological plasticity and physiological responses to heat stress
Conclusion
Tables
References
Appendix
Abbreviations
Acknowledgements
Erklärung 110
Lebenslauf

Chapter One - QTL Analysis of Agronomic Traits in Barley Under Water Limited Conditions

Introduction

As the world population grows and weather patterns become more unpredictable, the limitation of water available for agriculture will have an increasingly larger impact on the world's food supply [1]. To combat this problem is necessary to develop crops that are more resistance to drought. Drought resistance is the ability of a plant to maintain yield despite limitations in available water. The ability to maintain yield is achieved by plant responses to drought on the morphological, physiological and molecular level. The occurrence of drought is made complex by variations in its severity, duration, and timing [2]. Thus, the responses to drought are accordingly complex.

To date, studies concerned with the molecular basis of the complex responses to drought have been primarily performed in Arabidopsis (*Arabidopsis thaliana*). Such work has partially uncovered responses to drought and the signaling pathways that invoke them. Unfortunately, the majority of research in Arabidopsis has been limited to severe drought stress being applied in the early stages of plant development [3], which only simulates a portion of the stress that crops experience in the field. Additionally, Arabidopsis is not considered a drought tolerant species [4] and may lack the response mechanisms to drought that tolerant species employ. However, barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) is a genetically diverse species adapted to marginal, drought prone, agricultural areas as well as temperate, favorable environments. In comparison to the work in Arabidopsis, our understanding of the genetic basis of drought resistance in barley is lagging behind.

Barley is a drought resistant model crop with established genomic resources that make it suitable for studies concerned with the genetic basis of drought tolerance. Quantitative trait loci (QTL) analysis has been used successfully in Arabidopsis [5] and rice [6] to locate genes participating in the drought response. QTL analysis has also been made possible in barley by the development of segregating populations and recombination maps. A QTL analysis of traits responsive to water limited conditions during anthesis will allow the genetic basis of drought resistance to be further unraveled.

Barley is a model crop with worldwide agricultural importance

Barley originated in the steep ecoclines of the Fertile Crescent where it was under a variety of selection pressures for thousands of years. Since its origin, wild barley (*Hordeum spontaneum*) has been domesticated into numerous landraces due to selection for agronomic traits and has given rise to various

elite cultivars as a result of modern breeding programs. Barley is the fourth most important cereal crop, after maize, rice and wheat in terms of world production. In the year 2010, 123.4 million tons of barley were harvested worldwide from an area totaling 47.8 million hectares [7]. Top world producers of barley in 2010 were Russia (17.8 million tons), Germany (11.8 million tons), and Canada (11.6 million tons) [7]. The majority (~66%) of barley produced worldwide is used for animal feed and a small portion (2%) is used in the production of food stuffs for human consumption while the rest (~32%) is used for malt in the production of fermented beverages [8]. Additional to the agricultural importance of barley is the value of barley as a genetic model for other crops.

The value of barley as a model crop also lies in the genomic tools and research that have been established for it. The barley genome is diploid with seven pairs of chromosomes designated 1H to 7H with an estimated size of 5.1 Gbp [9]. Attempts to sequence the entire genome of barley have been initiated [10][11] and a gene-based marker map of the barley genome has been completed [12]. Comparison of barley gene sequences and gene order to rice, sorghum and *Brachypodium* revealed high collinearity between the four genomes [13] and the comparison will aid in future efforts to assemble the complete genome of barley and more complex genomes such as wheat. In addition to the genomic tools available, microarrays for barley gene expression have been established based on a library consisting of 350,000 high-quality ESTs [14]. Reverse genetics approaches to discovering gene function are also possible in barley thanks to the development of Targeting Induced Local Lesions in Genomes (TILLING) populations [15]. Despite the size and complexity of the barley genome, the above resources combined with the genetic diversity of barley make this species an ideal model for use in abiotic stress research.

Molecular responses to drought

Drought resistance mechanisms can be divided into escape, avoidance and tolerance. Drought escape is the completion of the life cycle before water deficits occur. An example of drought escape would be the completion of flowering and grain filling before the onset of seasonal drought. Drought avoidance is the ability of a plant to maintain a high water status despite experiencing water limited conditions. Drought avoidance mechanisms include: stomatal closure, inhibition of shoot growth, promotion of root growth, and the accumulation of osmolytes [16]. Drought tolerance is the ability to maintain cellular activity despite a decrease in water status. Drought tolerance mechanisms include the increased production of free radical scavengers, protein protecting molecular chaperones, and proteases [4].

One of the most immediate drought avoidance responses to water limitation is the closure of the stomata to reduce transpiration and avoid dehydration. Stomata closure is mediated by the hormone abscisic acid (ABA) in a pathway recently characterized thanks to the discovery of the PYR/PRL family of

ABA receptors. In brief, binding of ABA to the PYR/PRL receptor allows the receptor/ligand complex to inhibit the phosphatase PP2C which would otherwise dephosphorylate and inhibit the kinase SnRK2.6 [17]. Thus, in the presence of ABA, SnRK2.6 is free to phosphorylate and activate the anion channel protein SLAC1 found in guard cells. Once active, SLAC1 regulates the efflux of anions into the apoplast of guard cells resulting in membrane depolarization and subsequent stomata closure [18]. Drought avoidance can also occur through a reduction in the growth rate of leaves and stems as the plant acclimates to water limited conditions. A reduction in the leaf cell number and cell size has been observed in Arabidopsis plants under osmotic stress [19][20]. However, despite the inhibition of above ground growth, roots can continue to elongate despite inhibition of shoot growth [21] in an attempt to access more soil water.

Maintaining a water potential more negative than that of the surrounding soil is crucial for the continued uptake of water into the plant. The accumulation of compatible solutes under drought helps maintain the positive water flow into the plant by reducing the water potential of the cell. Compatible solutes increase the osmolarity in the cell without disturbing ionic interactions and include amino acids (e.g. proline), quaternary amines (e.g. glycine and betaine) and polyols (e.g. mannitol and sorbitol) [22]. In addition to playing a role in drought avoidance, compatible solutes can assist in drought tolerance by acting as free radical scavengers [23] and chemical chaperones [24].

When attempts to avoid drought fail, the plant is left to tolerate the effects of the stress. Two of the major sources of damage during drought stress come from reactive oxygen species and misfolded proteins. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) such as super oxide anion, hydroxyl and singlet oxygen, are primarily formed due to the improper flow of energy during light harvesting [25][26] or due to oxidation of photorespiration products during the light-independent reactions of photosynthesis [27]. Drought increases the production of ROS mainly through the limitation of available carbon dioxide as a final electron acceptor [28][29]. Once formed, ROS may oxidize and damage components crucial for cellular function such as proteins, membrane lipids, and nucleotides [30]. Prevention of damage by ROS is accomplished by the production of enzymatic and non-enzymatic antioxidants which can scavenge ROS by converting them into less reactive forms. Scavenging is performed in part through the action of the enzymes superoxide dismutase, ascorbate peroxidase, glutathione reductase and catalase [22] as well as by the above mentioned compatible solutes. Despite an increase in ROS scavenging drought stress can still result in the damage of proteins which can cause them to denature and aggregate.

Misfolding of proteins during drought can occur due to low cellular water content in addition to damage by ROS. Low cellular water content can lead a to a smaller cytoplasmic volume which results in increased interactions between proteins and a of lack water molecules to form hydration shells around

proteins necessary to maintain proper folding and stability [31]. While some compatible solutes can temporally replace water in providing a hydration shell for proteins [32] the heat shock family of proteins can also act as molecular chaperones for proteins. The heat shock family includes members that are inducible by drought stress [33], and convey drought tolerance by preventing the denaturation of proteins, refolding misfolded proteins, or preventing the aggregation and subsequent accumulation of misfolded proteins [34]. Non-functional proteins that cannot be refolded must be degraded via proteolysis. Proteolysis is increased in response to drought stress [35][36] and is thought to promote drought tolerance by removing damaged proteins and mobilizing nitrogen [37].

Together, small molecules such as compatible solutes and macromolecules such as enzymes comprise a large portion of the drought avoidance and drought tolerance responses known to date. Drought avoidance is concerned with maximizing water uptake and minimizing water loss so as to maintain high plant water status. Drought tolerance is concerned with minimizing cellular damage incurred by ROS and protein denaturation.

Quantitative trait loci for drought resistance

Quantitative trait loci (QTL) analysis has proven to be a valuable method in discovering the genetic basis of quantitative traits. Quantitative traits, or continuous traits, are those that cannot be placed into discrete classes. The genes underlying quantitative traits have been successfully mapped and subsequently identified using QTL analysis in a diverse set of organisms including: rat [38], mouse [39], cow [40], tomato [41], Arabidopsis [5] and rice [6]. The requirements for performing a QTL analysis are: species that can be inbred to produce a segregating population, genetic markers distributed across each chromosome to generate a recombination map, and a trait with quantitative variation that can be phenotyped. QTL analysis is a statistical test performed for a genetic marker which determines if significant differences exist between the phenotype exhibited by progeny carrying one parental allele and progeny carrying another parental allele. The test is repeated for every marker in the recombination map and when a significant difference is found the QTL is considered to be linked to that marker. Since its inception, QTL analysis has evolved to include more sophisticated techniques such as simple interval mapping [42], composite interval mapping [43], and permutation testing [44] which have increased the resolution and reliability in detecting QTL.

QTL analysis has been used to identity chromosomal regions involved in drought stress responses in barley since 1997 by Teulat et al. [45]. Since then, at least eleven studies using barley grown under water limited conditions in the greenhouse and field have been published which used only three mapping populations: Tadmor x Er/Apm [45][46][47][48][49][50][51][52], Arta x *Hordeum spontaneum* 41-1 [53][54], and Steptoe x Morex [55]. From these studies, over 200 significant QTL for a variety of drought resistance related traits have been discovered. These traits, among others, include: relative water content, chlorophyll fluorescence parameters, grain yield, days to maturity, plant height, and kernel weight. These QTL are useful in mapping genes responsible for conveying drought resistance and can be applied in marker assisted breeding programs [56]. Of the QTL studies enumerated above, some have demonstrated the specificity of some QTL to one environment, for example, in a growth chamber experiment using the Tadmor x Er/Apm population QTL for relative water content and leaf number were detected under drought conditions but not well watered conditions [45].

Development dependent responses to drought

Responses to drought are dependent on when the stress occurs (i.e. which developmental stage the barley plant is in) [57], how severe the stress is [58], and how long it persists [59]. Of the eleven barley drought resistance QTL studies mentioned above, six were conducted in the field under low rainfall conditions and five were conducted in the controlled environment of a greenhouse or growth chamber. In rainfed field studies, where the rainfall is not easily controlled, the timing, severity and duration of the drought differs between replications. Therefore, the average recorded phenotypes in rainfed studies are the integration of the varied responses to the different types of drought stress experienced by the population over the experimental replications. While QTL studies under rainfed field conditions provide valuable insight to the genetic basis of barley performance in the field, they provide less information on developmental stage specific responses to drought. In controlled environment studies, the timing of the stress event can be chosen and coinciding factors such as light intensity and humidity can be controlled. In four of the five QTL studies conducted in controlled environments, the stress was applied at the fourleaf stage of development i.e. during vegetative growth. The remaining experiment, which was only concerned with chlorophyll fluorescence parameters, applied drought stress starting post-flowering. A review of the literature revealed an absence of QTL studies in barley that characterized the morphological and physiological responses to drought applied during flowering.

The objective of this study was to identify marker-trait linkages in a barley RIL population, derived from the Syrian landrace Arta and the Australian cultivar Keel, under moderate drought applied during anthesis using quantitative trait loci analysis. Additionally, this study aimed to understand which morphological and physiological traits respond to drought stress and how they correlate with yield performance under well watered and drought conditions. These objectives were realized by measuring grain yield and yield related traits at maturity in addition to morphological and physiological responses that occur during drought stress.

Materials and methods

Experimental overview

This chapter is concerned with the genetic basis of physiological and morphological changes in barley that occur in response to long term drought stress applied at anthesis. Control plants were well watered and maintained at a soil water content (SWC) of 50% while the SWC of drought treated plants was maintained at 15%. These treatments were applied to barley genotypes Arta and Keel and to a core population of 56 recombinant inbred lines (RILs) from a cross of the parental lines Arta and Keel. Physiological traits were measured in parental lines one day and three days after the target SWC of drought treated plants was reached. Morphological measurements were made during grain filling and agronomic measurements were made after plant maturity. A list of all traits considered and the abbreviations used in this text can be found in **Table 1**. The variance in each trait measured in Arta, Keel and the RIL population was attributed to effects of genotype, the treatment, or the interaction of two, by using a two way ANOVA. Phenotyping in the RIL population under each treatment was used to calculate genetic correlations between grain yield and the physiological, morphological and agronomic traits. By utilizing the recombination map available for the RIL population, Quantitative trait locus (QTL) analysis was performed using the collected phenotypic measurements to locate genetic loci containing potential drought resistance genes.

Plant material

Two *Hordeum vulgare* genotypes, Arta and Keel, were grown in well watered and water limited conditions in the greenhouse to evaluate their performance. Arta is a pure line selection from a Syrian landrace adapted to the driest areas in Syria. Keel is a feed-quality cultivar from Southern Australia with good performance under dry conditions in Australia. A recombinant inbred line population (RIL) generated at International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA) consisting of 188 F8 plants from the cross Arta x Keel (Arke) was available for genetic analyses. A subset of 54 individuals from the Arke population was selected to represent the maximal diversity in the population by using Core Hunter version 1.0b (CIMMYT)[60] set to optimize the modified Rogers distance.

Table 1. Traits measured experimentally including the abbreviation used, units used and the procedure by which th	e
measurements were taken.	

Abbr.	Trait	Units	Procedure
GY	Grain yield	g	Total weight of kernels
BM	Total biomass	g	Weight of all above ground plant biomass
ні	Harvest index	g/g	Ratio of grain yield over total biomass
РН	Plant height	cm	Distance from top of soil to top of primary spike
Pedex	Peduncle extrusion	cm	Distance from peduncle to bottom of primary spike
SN	Spike number		Number of spikes over half of grains filled
AS	Number of aborted spikes		Number of pikes with over half of all grains unfilled
GS	Grains per spike		Number of grains divided by number of spikes
ткw	Thousand kernal weight	g	Extrapolated weight of 1000 kernals
DM	Days to maturity	days	Days in LD until kernels were mature
WU	Total water used per pot	L	Water given to plant from LD to maturity
WUE	Water use efficency of grain yield	g/L	Ratio of grain yield over water used
RWC_1	Relative water content at day 1	%	Ratio of leaf fresh weight over fully turgid weight
RWC_3	Relative water content at at day 3	%	Ratio of leaf fresh weight over fully turgid weight
Fv/Fm_1	Maximum PSII quantum yield at day 1	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf
Fv/Fm_3	Maximum PSII quantum yield at day 3	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf
PI_1	PSII performance indexat day 1	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf
PI_3	PSII performance index at day 3	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf

Drought treatment

The response to drought stress was tested under controlled conditions in the greenhouse by withholding water at the generative stage (Zadoks scale 49-53) [61]. Plants were sown in 96 well trays, vernalized at 4°C for 5 weeks with an 8 h light/16 h dark short day (SD) photoperiod and then potted in four liter pots containing 1.8 kg of soil with three plants in each pot. The field capacity of 1.8 kg soil was calculated as the difference in weight between fully hydrated soil and dried soil. The soil was allowed to fully hydrate by flooding the pot with water and allowing any excess water to drain over 24 h while the pot was covered. Soil was dried by heating at 70°C for seven days. The soil water content (SWC) of potted plants was adjusted to 50% of the field capacity (FC) based on trial experiments concerned with finding the moisture content for optimum growth (data not shown). The pots were arranged in two random blocks in a climatically controlled SD greenhouse for 10 days before being moved to a climatically controlled greenhouse with a 16 hr/8 hr long day (LD) photoperiod for the remainder of the experiment. In the mornings, evenings and during overcast days, supplemental lighting was used to ensure that the light levels were maintained at no less than 200 µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹. Humidity of the greenhouse was maintained between 50% and 60%.

For the water stress treatment, the water content of the soil was reduced to 15% FC by withholding water in a controlled manner; all pots were weighed every day and then watered to match the weight of

the heaviest pot. Following this gravimetric method, the reduction of the water content of the soil was equal across all pots in the stress treatment. The SWC of 15% FC for the stressed plants and 50% FC for the control plants was maintained until maturity of the plants. The amount of water given to each four liter pot was recorded and used to determine the water use efficiency. To control for the added weight of the growing plants the volumetric water content of random pots were periodically checked using a TDR 100 soil moisture meter (FieldScout) fitted with 12 cm probe rods and set to standard soil mode. If the projected SWC was lower than the measured water content than additional water would be added to correct for the increased plant mass.

Physiological measurements

Samples were taken from control and drought treated plants one and three days after the target FC of 15% had been reached in drought stressed pots. The leaf directly under the flag leaf was used for both physiological measurements. Fast chlorophyll fluorescence induction kinetics was measured on every plant per pot using the Handy PEA chlorophyll fluorimeter (Hansatech Instruments). Fluorescence was induced using a 3000 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ flash of light persisting for 1 s on leaves dark adapted with leaf clips for a minimum of 20 min. Care was taken to place the leaf clips so as to avoid taking measurements that included the midrib. Chlorophyll fluorescence induction curves were analyzed using the PEA plus software version 1.02 (Hansatech Instruments) and the maximum quantum efficiency (Fv/Fm) and the Performance Index (PI) were calculated. The relative water content of the leaf (RWC) was calculated from one ~3 cm leaf cutting per plant and calculated according

to $\frac{fresh weight-dry weight}{turgid weight-dry weight}$ × 100 [62]. Freshly cut leaves were immediately weighed to determine the fresh weight. The turgid weight was determined after submerging the leaf cuttings in distilled water in closed tubes and storing them overnight at 4 °C in the dark. Dry weight of the leaf cuttings was determined after drying the cuttings at 70 °C for 48 hours.

Morphological and agronomic measurements

Plants were considered to head when the spikelet had visibly emerged from the ear in the main tiller and was used as a developmental marker to apply the drought stress. Peduncle extrusion (Pedex) and plant height (PH) were recorded post-anthesis by measuring the distance from the flag leaf collar to the bottom of the main tiller and the distance from the soil surface to the top of the spike, respectively. In cases where the spike remained booted in the leaf sheath, negative Pedex values were recorded. The number of grains on each primary spike (GS) was counted as well as the number of spikes per plant (SN). The days until maturity (DM) was recorded for each pot from the time of transfer to LD until the majority

of the grains could no longer be dented by fingernail. Mature plants were harvested and the following measurements were taken per pot: above ground biomass dry weight (BM), total grain weight (GY), and 1000 kernel weight (TKW). Harvest index (HI) was calculated as the ratio of the total grain weight over the biomass above ground dry weight. The water used by the plants in each pot (WU) was recorded starting after the plants were potted in four liter pots. To control for the water lost due to evaporation alone, four additional pots were included in the experiment which contained 1.8 kg of soil but no plants and were watered to maintain SWC of either 50% or 15% FC. Water use efficiency (WUE) was calculated as the ratio of the grain yield over the water given to each pot.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS software version 9.1.3 for Windows (SAS Institute Inc, copyright 2003) using data from the parental barley genotypes and from the RIL population. The command PROC MEANS was used to determine the mean, minimum and maximum values for Arta, Keel and the RIL population. A two way analysis of variation (ANOVA) was performed for each trait in Arta, Keel, and the RIL population with a general linear model using the PROC GLM command with the model: $Y_{ij} = G_i + E_k + G_i \times E_k$, where G_i is the fixed effect of the genotype, E_k is the fixed effect of the treatment, and $G_i \times E_k$ is the interaction of the two effects. Pearson correlation coefficients between all traits recorded in the RIL dataset under control conditions and stress conditions were generated separately using the PROC CORR command.

Linkage mapping

Arta, Keel and 188 RILs were genotyped with six gene specific PCR markers, 103 microsatellite (SSR) markers and 623 Diversity array technology (DArT) markers. DArT genotyping was carried out by Triticarte Pty. Ltd. (Australia). Markers with a segregation distortion higher than 20% in the 188 RILs were excluded from linkage map construction. As a first step SSR markers were assigned to barley chromosomes based on a previously published barley consensus map Alsop et al. [63] . Linkage groups of SSR-, DArT- and PCR-markers were defined using a LOD threshold of 3.0 using the mapping software JoinMap 3.0 (Kyazma B.V.). Genetic distances between markers were calculated using the Haldane mapping function of the software package. For the seven barley chromosomes (1H-7H) 661 markers were assigned to 11 linkage groups with a total map size of 1147.9 cM and an average marker distance of 1.7 cM. Insufficient linkage was found between markers on chromosomes 1H, 2H and 7H, therefore they were assigned to the separate linkage groups 1Ha/1Hb, 2Ha/2Hb and 7Ha/7Hb/7Hc, respectively. Linkage groups of chromosomes 1H, 2H and 7H were combined into a single linkage group per

chromosome with an arbitrary genetic distance of 20 cM added in between them. Minor changes in marker positions and marker order in the range of 1-10 cM were detected when compared to the consensus map of Alsop et al. [63].

Quantitative trait loci analysis

The QTL analysis was conducted with MultiQTL version 2.5 [64]. The population type selected was "RIL selfing" and the multiple environment option was used to calculate significant effects across control and drought treatments. Simple interval mapping using the Haldane function was employed for each trait. A permutation test consisting of 1001 iterations was used to detect significant QTL (p < 0.05).

Results

Robustness of barley physiology despite drought

Physiological measurements in drought experiments are important for understanding the extent of stress experienced by the plant due to the treatment. Such measurements allow morphological changes in the treated plants to be put into context of how the plant is responding on the cellular level and can facilitate the comparison of results between different experimental setups. Two physiological measurements are considered here: the leaf relative water content and the chlorophyll fluorescence induction curve. Leaf relative water content (RWC) is a measurement of the how much water is present in the leaf relative to the maximum amount of water the leaf can contain and is an indicator of the overall water status of the plant. After one day of drought treatment, the mean RWC dropped significantly in the RIL population from 87.3% in control conditions to 81.2% in drought conditions (**Table 2**). However, no significant differences in the mean RWC of stressed Arta and Keel plants were detected as compared to controls. After three days of drought treatment, significant differences in mean RWC between conditions were seen in Arta and Keel with respective values of 96.5% and 95.9% in control conditions and 80.2% and 76.0% in drought conditions. Conversely, the mean RWC of the RIL population was not statistically different between conditions after three days of treatment.

The chlorophyll fluorescence induction curve is obtained by measuring the rise in chlorophyll fluorescence in photosystem II (PSII) from a dark adapted state where the reaction centers are fully oxidized to a light saturated state where the reaction centers are fully reduced. One of the parameters calculated from the induction curve is the maximum quantum efficiency of photosystem II which is the ratio of the difference in fluorescence between the fully reduced state (Fo) and the fully oxidized state (Fm) over Fm, this ratio $\frac{Fm-Fo}{Fm}$ is also known as Fv/Fm. The maximum quantum efficiency of

photosystem II (Fv/Fm) describes how often the primary plastoquinone acceptor (Q_a) is reduced per photon absorbed and is an indicator of the status of the light harvesting complex of PSII. The other, more comprehensive parameter considered was the performance index (PI), which incorporates three independent aspects of photosynthesis; the force of the light reactions, the force of the dark reactions and the efficiency of light trapping by the light harvesting complex.

Table 2. The mean, minimum (Min) and maximum (Max) values of the traits measured for Arta, Keel and the Arke RIL population either under control or drought conditions. Means that are not significantly (p<0.05) different share the same letter subscript.

	Cont	trol Art	а	Cont	rol Ke	el	Control Arke RILs			Drought Arta			Drought Keel			Drought Arke RILs		
Trait	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max
GY	7.6 a	6.0	8.2	5.3 cd	3.2	6.7	5.4 c	2.4	9.8	3.7 bd	2.8	4.4	3.0 b	2.6	3.8	3.3 b	1.	4.7
BM	14.2 a	11.9	15.5	10.0 cd	6.4	12.4	10.8 c	5.7	18.6	7.3 bd	5.7	8.5	6.0 b	5.0	7.5	6.9 b	4.	9.6
ні	0.54 a	0.50	0.64	0.52 a	0.42	0.57	0.49 a	0.41	0.58	0.50 a	0.48	0.52	0.50 a	0.48	0.53	0.48 a	0.3	0.71
PH	54.4 a	50.3	57.8	50.7 ac	48.6	53.5	53.1 a	42.3	63.5	44.8 bc	39.4	49.2	42.8 b	39.7	45.6	42.8 b	31.	55.0
Pedex	1.5 a	-1.5	15.8	-4.6 bc	-5.8	-2.5	-4.0 c	-9.1	4.8	-6.8 bc	-8.1	-4.6	-5.7 bc	-10.3	0.9	-6.3 b	-11.	3.3
SN	8.9 a	5.0	10.3	7.5 ab	4.0	10.0	5.5 b	3.3	36.5	3.7 bc	3.0	4.0	3.5 bc	3.0	4.0	3.6 c	1.	5.0
GS	14.1 ab	11.7	16.3	12.7 a	10.7	14.7	13.6 a	10.0	17.7	15.4 b	13.7	17.0	13.5 ab	12.3	14.3	12.8 a	10.	16.7
TKW	55.0 b	50.8	58.1	54.0 ab	49.2	62.0	49.1 a	32.2	60.8	51.6 ab	48.3	53.9	53.8 ab	49.2	59.4	50.5 a	41.	60.2
DH	19.5 a	18.0	20.0	14.5 bc	13.0	20.0	16.5 ab	13.0	23.0	19.1 a	18.0	21.0	13.4 c	13.0	14.0	16.8 a	13.	22.0
DM	68.0 a	63.0	70.0	69.8 a	68.0	70.0	68.1 a	56.0	70.0	60.8 b	60.0	62.0	61.8 b	60.0	62.0	63.4 b	57.	70.0
WU	12.88 a	11.54	13.59	9.58 c	7.34	11.48	10.50 c	6.75	14.39	7.22 b	6.44	7.90	6.08 b	5.20	6.57	6.31 b	4.3	8.35
WUE	1.8 b	1.5	2.1	1.6 ab	1.2	1.9	1.5 a	1.0	2.1	1.5 ab	1.3	1.7	1.5 ab	1.3	1.7	1.6 a	1.	1.9
RWC_1	87.2 abc	63.4	100.0	87.3 ac	62.0	100.0	93.1 a	78.8	100.0	81.6 bc	71.9	100.0	84.2 abc	64.7	100.0	81.2 b	69.	95.6
RWC_3	96.5 a	78.3	100.0	95.9 a	64.7	100.0	89.4 b	75.2	100.0	80.2 bc	62.5	95.8	76.0 c	44.4	100.0	88.4 b	64.	100.0
Fv/Fm_1	0.832 a	0.823	0.839	0.833 a	0.831	0.838	0.840 a	0.821	0.850	0.832 a	0.816	0.841	0.837 a	0.832	0.839	0.838 a	0.80	0.851
Fv/Fm_3	0.844 ab	0.841	0.847	0.842 ab	0.840	0.844	0.843 b	0.829	0.852	0.845 ab	0.844	0.846	0.844 ab	0.843	0.844	0.840 a	0.83	0.850
PI_1	3.4 a	2.9	4.0	4.1 a	3.9	4.431	3.9 a	1.7	4.9	3.1 a	2.6	3.6	4.1 a	3.8	4.4	3.8 a	1.86	4.768
PI_3	3.8 ab	3.5	4.2	4.3 ab	4.3	4.3	4.1 b	2.7	5.1	3.2 ab	3.1	3.3	4.2 ab	4.0	4.4	3.6 a	2.	4.5

GY grain yield, BM biomass, HI harvest index, PH plant height, Pedex peduncle extrusion, SN spike number, GS grains per main spike, TKW 1000 kernel weight, DH days to heading, DM days to maturity, WU water use, WUE water use efficiency, RWC _1/3 leaf relative water content at 1 or 3 days after treatment start, Fv/Fm_1/3 at 1 or 3 days after treatment start, PI_1/3 performance index 1 or 3 days after treatment start.

The mean Fv/Fm of all plants was similar one day after the target SWC of 15% was reached, with values ranging from 0.832 to 0.840 (**Table 2**). Three days after the target SWC was reached, there was a significant difference in the mean Fv/Fm in the RIL population between control (0.843) and in drought (0.840) conditions. The mean Fv/Fm between treatments was not different for Arta and Keel after three days of treatment. The mean PI after one day of stress treatment was not different between Arta, Keel and the RIL population in either control and drought conditions with mean values ranging from 3.1 to 4.1 (Table 2). After three days at 15% SWC, mean PI values between treatments were not different for Arta and Keel while the RIL population showed a significant decrease in the mean PI from 4.1 in control conditions to 3.6 in drought stressed conditions. The PI values in the RIL population after three days at 15% SWC was normally distributed under control and drought conditions (**Figure 1**). It is notable that

under control conditions two RILs had PI values two standard deviations higher than either parental line which was indicative of transgressive segregation for this trait.

Altogether, these results show that the RWC, Fv/Fm and the PI of the plants were relatively unaffected by the drought treatment as seen in the slight reduction in the water status of the plants and in the intermittent decrease in the photosynthetic performance as compared to control.



Figure 1. Distribution of the mean performance index three days after the SWC reached 15% in the RIL population under the two watering schemes. Under control conditions the mean performance index and standard deviation was 3.84±0.54 for Arta and 4.3±0.02 for Keel. Under drought conditions, the mean performance index and standard deviation was 3.22±0.12 for Arta and 4.21±0.30 for Keel.

Reduction in grain yield and yield components due to drought stress

When evaluating the performance of a crop plant the most important trait is yield. Grain yield is a complex trait which is dependent on yield component traits such as the ones measured here: number of spikes per plant, the number of grains per spike and the thousand kernel weight. The mean grain yield of Arta under control conditions (7.6 g) was significantly higher than that of Keel (5.3 g) and the RILs (5.4 g) (**Table 2**). However, the mean yield under drought stress conditions of Arta (3.7 g), Keel (3.0 g), and the RIL population (3.3 g) were not different from each other. Comparing yields between treatments revealed significant decreases in yield for Arta, Keel and the RIL population under drought conditions as compared to control conditions. By dividing the grain yield achieved under drought conditions by the yield achieved under control conditions one can obtain the yield tolerance index of each group (**Figure 3**). The highest yield stability was seen in the RIL population (0.60), the second highest in Keel (0.57), with Arta having the lowest index (0.48). The yield of the RIL population was normally distributed under

control conditions and under drought conditions (**Figure 2**). Four RILs had grain yield two standard deviations higher than either parent under control conditions and eight RILs were higher under drought conditions, which is indicative of transgressive segregation for yield in the RIL population.

To better understand how drought affects yield, the performance of individual yield components were also measured under control and drought conditions. There are also genetic components to yield component traits, for example, some genotypes may produce more grains by producing more tillers while other genotypes may favor having more grains per spike. Because the two genotypes used in this study are adapted to different drought prone areas it is possible that have adapted different strategies to maximize yield. The number of spikes developed under water limited conditions can indicate how well the plant has continued to grow despite a perceived limitation in available water. There was a significant decrease in the mean spike number for Arta, Keel and the RILs in drought conditions (3.7 and 3.5, and 3.6, respectively) as compared to control conditions (8.9, 7.5, and 5.5, respectively) (Table 2). The mean spike number under control conditions was not different between Arta and Keel but was significantly different between Arta and the RILs. Under drought conditions, the mean spike number was similar between Arta, Keel and the RILs. The mean number of grains per primary spike under control conditions for Arta (14.1), Keel (12.7) or the RILs (13.6) were not different from the number present in plants grown under drought conditions, respectively (15.4, 13.5, and 12.8). The number of grains per primary spike between conditions was similar for Arta, Keel and the RILs with mean values ranging from 12.7 to 14.1 under control conditions and from 12.8 to 15.4 under drought conditions (Table 2). The third yield component trait considered was the thousand kernel weight. Under control conditions, Arta had a higher mean thousand kernel weight than the RILs with respective values of 55.0 g and 49.1 g; the kernel weight of Keel was intermediate between the two (54.0 g) (Table 2). The mean thousand kernel weight was not different between Arta, Keel and the RILs under drought nor was it different between conditions for Arta, Keel and the RILs.

In summary, grain yield in Arta, Keel and the RILs was reduced due to the drought treatment and this appears to be due to a reduction in the spikes that developed during the drought treatment. It appeared that the reduction in grain yield between conditions was neither due to differences in the number of grains per spike nor due to reductions in the overall weight of individual grains. Arta produced more grain yield than Keel under control conditions but not under drought conditions. In addition to yield component traits, morphological and developmental traits classically associated with yield in an agricultural setting were considered. Many of these agronomic traits, such as plant height, peduncle extrusion, and days to maturity were seen here to be positively and significantly correlated to grain yield under control and drought conditions (**Table 4**).

13



Figure 2.Distribution of the mean grain yield weight per RIL under the two watering schemes. Under control conditions the mean grain yield per plant and standard deviation was 7.59±0.71 for Arta and 5.27±1.46 for Keel. Under drought conditions, the mean grain yield per plant and standard deviation was 3.66±0.49 for Arta and 3.03±0.04 for Keel.



Figure 3. Tolerance index of: grain yield , biomass , number of spikes per plant , days until maturity , water use (WU), the performance index (PI_3), and the relative water content (RWC_3) of Arta, Keel and the average of the RIL population. Units of each axis are the fraction of the trait value maintained under stress conditions as compared to control.

Evaluation of agronomic traits under drought stress

Aside from grain yield and its components, additional agronomic traits pertaining to growth, water use and development were considered. Specifically, the traits measured were: biomass, harvest index, days to maturity, peduncle extrusion, water use, and water use efficiency. The above ground biomass of Arta under control conditions was significantly higher than that of Keel and the RILs with mean per pot weights of 14.2 g, 10.0 g and 10.8 g, respectively (Table 2). Under drought conditions there was no significant difference in the biomass between Arta, Keel and the RILs. Due to the drought treatment, the mean biomass of Arta (7.3 g), Keel (6.0 g) and the RILs (6.9 g) were significantly lower than their control counterparts. The tolerance index of biomass was the highest in the RILs and lowest in Arta (Figure 3). Harvest index, the ratio of grain yield over the total above ground biomass, is a measure of how the photosynthate has been allocated in the plant. The harvest index was neither different between Arta, Keel and the RILs under either condition nor between conditions for Arta Keel, and the RILs. Mean values of the harvest index ranged from 0.48 to 0.54 (Table 2). The time taken for barley grains to mature dictates how long the plant has to fill its grains as well as how long the plant must be kept in the field before harvest. Arta, Keel and the RILs matured faster under drought conditions (61 d, 62 d and 63 d, respectively) than under control conditions (68 d, 70 d and 68 d, respectively)(**Table 2**). The time taken for plant maturity was neither significantly different between Arta, Keel and the RILs under control conditions nor under drought conditions. The mean plant height under control conditions in Arta (44.8 cm), Keel (42.8 cm) and the RILs (42.8 cm) was significantly diminished due the drought treatment (54.4 cm, 50.7 cm and 53.1 cm respectively). No significant differences in plant height were detected between Arta, Keel and the RILs under either condition (Table 2). The peduncle extrusion, or Pedex, is a measurement of the distance between the flag leaf collar and the spike bottom and can be negative when the spike remains booted in the leaf sheath. Arta had a positive mean Pedex under control conditions (1.5 cm) which was significantly higher than the Pedex of Keel and the RILs (-4.6 cm and -4.0 cm) (Table 2). Due to the drought conditions the mean Pedex of Arta and the RILs (-6.8 cm and -6.3 cm, respectively) was significantly lower than in control conditions.

Both control and drought treatments consisted of maintaining soil water content constant by replenishing lost water. This allowed for the total amount of water given to each pot to be recorded. The mean water use per pot in well watered conditions was significantly higher for Arta (12.9 l) than for Keel (9.6 l) or the RILs (10.5 l) (**Table 2**). The water use under drought conditions was not different between Arta (7.2 l), Keel (6.0 l) and the RILs (6.3 l) and was significantly lower than the water used under control conditions. The water use data was combined with the yield data to calculate the water use efficiency

(WUE); the ratio of yield over the water lost from the pot. The WUE of Arta (1.8) was significantly higher than for the RILs (1.5) under control conditions with Keel (1.6) being intermediate between the two. No significant differences in the WUE were detected between conditions for Arta, Keel or the RILs (**Table 2**).

In summary, the significant differences that appeared between Arta, Keel and the RILs occurred under control conditions. Under control conditions, Arta had more biomass, had peduncles extruded further from the leaf sheath and used more water than Keel or the RIL population. Due to the drought treatment Arta, Keel, and RILs plants had less biomass, were shorter, matured faster, and used less water. Additionally, Pedex values were lower in drought treated Arta and RILs as compared to control treated plants.

Phenotypic variation of traits due to genotype and drought conditions

The variation in each trait due to effects of genotype, watering treatment and the interaction between the two factors was calculated for Arta, Keel, and RILs plants (Table 3) using a two factor AVOVA. Such an analysis allows the influence of the genotype alone and the treatment alone to be estimated on each trait. A list of the traits analyzed with the ANOVA and the abbreviations of the traits used in this test are found in **Table 1**. The factor condition explained a significant proportion of the variance for the highest number of traits, nine in total. The factor genotype and the interaction between genotype and condition explained a significant proportion of the variance for seven traits each. The treatment conditions had a significant effect on the expression of the following traits: water use (35%), Days to maturity (32%), RWC 2, (32%), biomass (31%), grain yield (30%), plant height (22%), Spike number (16%), Pedex (15%), RWC_1 (7%) and water use efficiency (3%). A significant effect of the genotype was detected for the traits: thousand kernel weight (10%), grains per spike (9%), PI 1 (8%), grain yield (6%), Pedex (5%), biomass (5%), water use (4%), and spike number (4%). The interaction between genotype and condition explained a significant amount of variation for the traits: RWC_2 (26%), Pedex (8%), water use efficiency (6%), grains per spike (5%), RWC_1 (3%), grain yield (2%), days to maturity (2%), and biomass (2%). The traits harvest index, Fv/Fm_1, Fv/Fm_3, and PI_3 did not have a significant proportion of the variation explained by the ANOVA model.

The factor condition explained a significant amount of variation for more traits than genotype. For traits explained both by genotype and condition: grain yield, biomass, Pedex, spike number, and water use efficiency; a larger proportion of the overall variation was explained by the factor condition than the factor genotype. The trait water use was the only trait where the interaction effect explained more of the variance (6%) than genotype (3%) or condition alone (3%).

Table 3. Results of two-way analysis of variance for the traits measured in Arta, Keel and the RIL population under control and drought conditions. For each trait, the F-value, coefficient of determination and significance probability is given for the two main effects (genotype and condition) and the interaction between the two. Morphological traits appear in the top table, physiological traits appear in the bottom table.

	GY	BM	Н	РН	Pedex	SN	GS	TKW	DM
Genotype	8.5 0.03 ***	7.8 0.05 ***	3.7 0.00 n/s	1.5 0.01 ^{n/s}	5.0 0.05 **	3.1 0.04 *	6.9 0.09 **	7.3 0.10 **	1.5 0.01 n/s
Condition	87.3 0.18 ***	93.7 0.31 ***	2.9 0.00 n/s	66.0 0.22 ***	28.1 0.15 ***	27.5 0.16 ***	1.2 0.01 n/s	0.3 0.00 n/s	82.8 0.32 ***
G*C	4.0 0.02 *	3.5 0.02 *	0.3 0.00 n/s	0.5 0.00 n/s	8.0 0.08 ***	2.8 0.03 n/s	4.2 0.05 *	1.6 0.02 n/s	3.1 0.02 *

	WU	WUE	RWC_1	RWC_3	Fv/Fm_1	Fv/Fm_3	PI_1	PI_3
Genotype	11.9 0.05 n/s	1.8 0.03 ***	0.2 0.00 n/s	1.7 0.02 ^{n/s}	2.9 0.00 n/s	0.9 0.00 n/s	4.8 0.08 **	2.6 0.04 n/s
Condition	170.1 0.35 ***	4.3 0.03 *	14.9 0.07 ***	68.2 0.32 ***	0.0 0.00 n/s	0.0 0.00 n/s	0.3 0.00 n/s	3.3 0.02 n/s
G*C	2.6 0.01 n/s	4.0 0.06 *	3.4 0.03 *	27.7 0.26 **	0.3 0.00 n/s	0.7 0.00 n/s	0.1 0.00 n/s	0.4 0.01 n/s

GY grain yield, BM biomass, HI harvest index, PH plant height, Pedex peduncle extrusion, SN spike number, GS grains per main spike, TKW 1000 kernel weight, DM days to maturity, WU water use, WUE water use efficiency, RWC 1/3 leaf relative water content at 1 or 3 days after treatment start, Fv/Fmc_1/3 at 1 or 3 days after treatment start, PI_1/3 performance index 1 or 3 days after treatment start. * p<0.05, ** p<0.01, *** p<0.001, n/s non-significant

Genetic correlations of traits to yield under control and drought conditions

By looking at significant correlation indices between traits in a segregating population, traits that are influenced by the same gene or the same set of genes can be detected. To find genetic correlations to yield in the RIL population, Pearson correlation coefficients were calculated for traits measured under control conditions separately from traits under drought conditions. The results showed that under both conditions grain yield was significantly correlated to plant height, biomass, Pedex, spike number, grains per spike, thousand kernel weight and days to maturity (**Table 4**). Under control conditions, all of the significant correlations to yield were positive with coefficients ranging from 0.95 for biomass to 0.26 for days to maturity. Under drought conditions, the correlations to yield were positive with the exception of Pedex and days to maturity which had coefficients of -0.28 and -0.31, respectively. No significant correlation was found between RWC_3 and grain yield or between PI_3 and grain yield under either condition.

Significant correlations between traits other than grain yield were also detected under each of the two conditions. Pedex was positively correlated with plant height (0.39), biomass (0.37) spike number (0.24) and thousand kernel weight (0.25) under control conditions but not under stress conditions. Thousand kernel weight was positively correlated with biomass (0.69) grains per spike (0.29), days to maturity (0.41), and RWC_3 (0.25) under control conditions and was negatively correlated with days to maturity (-0.25) under drought conditions. Under drought conditions, days to maturity was positively correlated to RWC_3 (0.28) but not under control conditions. Spike number was correlated with biomass (0.48) plant height (0.24) and grain per spike (0.39) under drought conditions while under

control conditions spike number was negatively correlated to PI_3 (-0.36). Additionally, under drought conditions, PI_3 was correlated to plant height (0.29), but this correlation was not found under control conditions.

Differences in the correlation coefficients between conditions were observed for some traits. The number of spikes had a higher correlation to grain yield under drought conditions (0.54) than under control conditions (0.21). The opposite was true for the correlation between thousand kernel weight and grain yield, the correlation was higher under control conditions (0.73) than under drought conditions (0.33). The difference in the correlation index between days to maturity and grain yield between conditions was the most pronounced; under control conditions the correlation was positive (0.26) while under drought conditions the correlation was negative (-0.31). Of the morphological traits considered all were significantly correlated to grain yield, however, neither of the analyzed physiological traits were correlated to grain yield.

While genetic correlations can indicate which traits are influenced by the same genes, the analysis cannot reveal where the influential genes are located. In an attempt to position genes underlying the traits measured under control and drought conditions a quantitative trait loci analysis was performed.

	GY	BM	PH	Pedex	SN	GS	ткw	DM	RWC_3	PI_3
GY		<u>0.95</u>	<u>0.34</u>	<u>0.37</u>	<u>0.21</u>	<u>0.44</u>	<u>0.73</u>	<u>0.26</u>	0.13	-0.01
BM	<u>0.80</u>		0.40	<u>0.37</u>	0.16	0.41	<u>0.69</u>	<u>0.23</u>	0.05	-0.06
РН	<u>0.37</u>	<u>0.46</u>		<u>0.39</u>	-0.01	0.09	0.24	0.09	-0.20	0.13
Pedex	<u>-0.28</u>	-0.19	0.17		0.24	-0.04	<u>0.25</u>	0.16	0.05	0.13
SN	<u>0.54</u>	<u>0.48</u>	0.24	-0.21		0.06	0.12	0.06	0.13	<u>-0.33</u>
GS	<u>0.39</u>	<u>0.25</u>	0.06	-0.03	<u>0.39</u>		<u>0.29</u>	0.00	-0.07	-0.16
ткw	<u>0.33</u>	0.21	-0.01	-0.18	0.16	0.19		<u>0.41</u>	<u>0.25</u>	-0.02
DM	<u>-0.31</u>	-0.17	-0.13	0.07	-0.18	<u>-0.23</u>	-0.25		0.20	-0.02
RWC_3	0.03	0.14	0.02	-0.09	0.09	-0.19	-0.03	<u>0.28</u>		0.12
PI_3	-0.08	-0.08	<u>0.29</u>	0.08	-0.10	-0.11	<u>-0.36</u>	0.01	-0.22	

Table 4. Pearson correlation coefficients for selected traits measured in the Arke RIL population under well watered and water limited conditions. Values above and below the diagonal are correlations between the traits under control or stressed conditions, respectively.

Significant correlations (P<0.05) are underlined. GY grain yield, BM biomass, PH plant height, Pedex peduncle extrusion, GS grains per main spike, SN spike number, TKW thousand kernel weight, DM days to maturity, RWC_3 leaf relative water content 3 days after treatment start, PI performance index 3 days after treatment start.

QTL for agronomic traits

QTL simple interval mapping was employed for each trait measured in the RIL population using a multienvironmental model for control and drought conditions. A total of 19 significant QTL were discovered for the traits grain yield , harvest index, plant height, grain per spike, thousand kernel weight, days to heading, water use, RWC_1 RWC_3, PI_1 and PI_3 (**Table 5**). The single QTL for grain yield located on chromosome 2H explained 15.9% of the variation under control conditions and 22.4% of the variation under drought conditions. Based on the calculated substitution effect, the Arta allele at this QTL increased grain yield by 1.28 g under control conditions and 3.20 g under drought conditions. On chromosome 2H, a QTL for harvest index was detected where the Arta allele had opposing effects on the harvest index between conditions; under control conditions the harvest index was decreased by 0.03 due to the Arta allele and increased by 0.04 under drought conditions. The mean harvest index under drought conditions of RILs carrying the Arta allele at this locus was significantly higher than RILs carrying the Keel allele, but under control conditions, the mean harvest index was similar between RILs carrying the two different alleles (**Figure 4**).

Table 5. Simple interval mapping of QTL detected for various traits using a multi-environmental model for control (50% SWC) and drought (15% SWC) conditions. For the peak LOD of each QTL the chromosome (Chr.) and position in centimorgans is given as well as the marker closest to the peak. The substitution effect (Sub.Eff.) expressed as the change in the value of each trait due to the contribution of an allele from Arta as compared to Keel under control or drought conditions. The percent variance (PEV) explained by each QTL under control or drought conditions is given.

					Control		Drou	ght
Trait	Chr.	Position	Locus	LOD	Sub.Eff.	PEV	Sub.Eff.	PEV
GY	2H	68.7	bPb_1569	2.97	1.28	15.90	3.20	22.40
н	2H	15.3	bPb_9220	2.65	-0.03	9.40	0.04	24.20
РН	2H	5.4	bPb_2880	2.76	-3.43	15.80	-3.80	16.60
РН	5H	164.9	bPb_6367	4.21	-3.80	20.00	-5.00	26.10
GS	1H	37.5	bPb_9423	2.97	-0.71	9.80	-1.94	35.50
TKW	1H	55.8	bPb_840	3.02	-2.79	15.60	-6.40	27.00
TKW	2H	22.8	bPb_1098	3.08	1.92	8.90	6.47	25.50
TKW	2H	81.5	bPb_7160	3.12	2.15	20.00	4.80	22.70
TKW	3H	104.6	Hvm60	3.21	-1.49	14.60	-1.11	22.40
TKW	5H	85.7	bPb_46127	4.36	-2.46	18.40	-5.69	26.10
WU	2H	22.9	bPb_4523	2.70	1.85	8.40	1.86	25.20
WU	2H	71.3	bPb_0994	3.63	0.69	19.90	1.43	23.10
RWC_1	2H	65.0	bPb_6313	4.41	-5.60	25.60	4.44	21.40
RWC_3	1H	49.2	Bmag718	3.82	-9.90	38.00	-0.67	4.00
RWC_3	4H	70.4	bPb_0561	4.24	7.66	29.50	3.41	7.80
PI_1	1H	5.6	bPb_9280	2.41	0.48	18.30	0.32	9.50
PI_1	4H	95.2	bPb_1329	2.87	-0.42	18.00	-0.17	15.70
PI_3	1H	8.4	bPb_0690	2.42	0.26	11.50	0.37	16.30
PI_3	4H	114.8	bPb_6627	3.49	-0.39	24.30	-0.27	12.90

GY grain yield, HI harvest index, PH plant height, GS grains per main spike, TKW thousand kernel weight ,WU water use,

RWC 1/3 relative water content 1 or 3 days after treatment start, PI performance Index 1 or 3 days after treatment start.

Two QTL for plant height were detected, one on chromosome 2H and the other on chromosome 5H. The Arta allele at the QTL on chromosomes 2H and 5H decreased the plant height under control conditions by 3.4 cm and 3.8 cm, respectively, and under drought conditions by 3.8 cm and 5.0 cm, respectively. A single QTL for grains per spike was detected on chromosome 1Ha where the Arta allele decreased the number of grains per spike by -0.71 under control conditions and by -1.94 under drought conditions. Five QTL for thousand kernel weight were detected on chromosomes 1H, 2H, 3H and 5H. At the QTL on 1H, 3H and 5H, the Arta allele caused a decrease in the kernel weight under control conditions by 2.79 g, 1.49 g, and 2.46 g and a decrease under drought conditions by 6.40 g, 1.11 g, and 5.69 g, respectively. The allele effect on kernel weight at the QTL on chromosome 1H was significant between RILs carrying the two alleles under both conditions tested (**Figure 5**). At the other two QTL for thousand kernel weight under control conditions tested (**Figure 5**). At the other two QTL for thousand kernel weight under control conditions tested (**Figure 5**). At the other two QTL for thousand kernel weight under control conditions of 1.92 g and 2.15 g, respectively, and an increase under drought conditions of 6.47 g and 4.80 g, respectively.



Figure 4. Allele effect of a QTL for harvest index on chromosome 2H where the Arta allele had opposing effects under control and drought conditions. Bars represent average harvest index of RILs that possess the Arta or Keel allele at the peak marker for the QTL. Average values for both control and drought conditions are shown. Error bars are standard deviation. *** p<0.001, n/s non-significant.

Two QTL for water use were found; one on chromosome 2H at 22 cM, where the Arta allele increased water use by 0.18 l under control conditions and by 1.85 l under drought conditions. At the other QTL on chromosome 2H at 71 cM the Arta allele increased water use by 0.68 l under control conditions and 1.43 l under drought conditions. A QTL for RWC_1 was found on chromosome 2H, where the Arta allele resulted in a decrease in the leaf water content under control conditions by 5.6% and an increase under drought conditions by 4.4%. Two other QTL for RWC 3 were found on chromosomes 1H and 4H; the Arta allele was responsible for a decrease in the water content by 9.9% under control conditions and a decrease under drought conditions by 0.67% at the QTL on 1H. At the QTL on 4H the Arta allele was responsible for an increase in the relative water content by 7.6% under control conditions and 3.4% under drought conditions. Two QTL were discovered for the trait PI_1, one on chromosome 1H and one on chromosome 4H. Two QTL for PI_3 were also discovered on chromosomes 1H and 4H which overlapped with the QTL found for PI_1. At the QTL on chromosome 1H for PI_1 and PI_3, the Arta allele resulted in an increase in the performance index by 0.48 and 0.26 under control conditions and an increase under drought conditions by 0.32 and 0.37, respectively. At the QTL on chromosome 4H for PI_1 and PI_3 the Arta allele resulted in an decrease in the performance index by 0.42 and 0.17 under control conditions and an increase under drought conditions by 0.39 and 0.27, respectively.





The percent of variance explained by each of the QTL ranged from 8.4% to 38% under control conditions and from 4% to 35.5% under drought conditions. For many of the QTL, the difference in percent explained variance between control and drought conditions was less than 10%. The QTL that differed by more than 10% between conditions were those for: harvest index (2H), grains per spike (1H), thousand kernel weight (on 1H and 2H), water use (on 2H), RWC_3 (on 1H and 4H) and PI_3 (on 4H). Of these QTL, the ones for morphological traits had more variation explained by the QTL under drought conditions while the QTL for physiological traits had more of the variation explained under control conditions.

In summary, QTL were detected for all of the classes of traits considered: physiological, yield morphological and agronomic. The majority of QTL resulted in the Arta allele affecting traits in the same direction under both conditions except for two QTL, for harvest index and RWC, resulted in the Arta allele having opposing effects between the two conditions. Based on the calculated substitution effect, both parent genotypes contributed beneficial alleles to the RIL population for agronomic traits. Several of the QTL were clustered on neighboring loci, for example, the QTL for harvest index, plant height, thousand kernel weight, and water use on chromosome 2Ha and the QTL for grain yield, thousand kernel weight, water use and RWC_1 on chromosome 2Hb.



Figure 6. A genetic linkage map of the Arke RIL population with approximate positions of multi-environmental QTL detected. The two environments considered were control (50% soil water content) and drought (15% soil water content) conditions. Positions of the QTL shown are based on the peak marker with the highest LOD score. A detailed list of the QTL is given in **Table 5.** GY grain yield, HI harvest index, PH plant height, GS grains per main spike, TKW thousand kernel weight ,WU water use, RWC_1/3 relative water content 1 or 3 days after treatment start, PI performance Index 1 or 3 days after treatment start. Different linkage groups belonging to the same chromosome are separated by white boxes.

Discussion

The genetic basis of morphological trait plasticity and physiological responses to drought was considered in a segregating population developed by crossing the barley genotypes Arta and Keel. Resilience to drought was exhibited by both genotypes in their ability to maintain leaf water status and to photosynthesize when challenged with drought that started at anthesis and lasted until maturity. However, the drought treatment had pronounced effects on the morphology of the plants as seen in the reduction of grain yield and spike number. Under control conditions, differences in performance were exhibited between genotypes, for example, Arta had ~30% more grain yield and biomass than Keel. As the genotypes Arta and Keel are adapted to two different drought prone ecogeographic areas it is hypothesized that they have evolved unique mechanisms in resisting drought. A multi-environmental QTL analysis revealed 19 loci for agronomic performance under control and drought conditions with beneficial alleles being contributed by both Arta and Keel. Several of the QTL in this study clustered together, suggesting that the traits are controlled by the same gene or closely linked genes. QTL discovered in this study also co-localize with QTL found in other segregating populations grown under water limited conditions thus strengthening the possibility of locating candidate genes that convey drought resistance at those locations.

Reduction of growth and yield in the absence of physiological stress

The leaf water status of the plants remained relatively unaffected by the drought treatment; the lowest mean relative water content recorded was 76% (**Table 2**). This suggests that the plants were able to prevent their water loss despite limitation of available water. Water loss is primarily prevented by stomata closure as mediated by abscisic acid [65] but is accompanied by a decrease in carbon dioxide uptake necessary for carbon fixation [66]. A lack of available carbon dioxide for carbon fixation can limit the light-independent steps of photosynthesis [67] and subsequent sugar accumulation necessary for optimal plant growth. However, photosynthesis was not detected to be perturbed by the drought treatment in the present study despite reductions in plant growth as observed in the morphological data. The inhibition of growth despite no detectable inhibition of photosynthesis suggests that growth was not down-regulated by a limitation of photosynthate availability.

Drought treated plants had reduced biomass, plant height, grain yield and spike number compared to control plants which could have been caused by limitations in photosynthate availability. However, the chlorophyll fluorescence data did not show significant signs of inhibition of photosynthesis in the maximum quantum efficiency or in the photosynthetic performance, which is sensitive to changes in light-independent reactions [68] expected under limited carbon dioxide levels. The reduction of leaf growth in *Arabidopsis thaliana* beyond the limitation of available photosynthate has been observed for osmotic stress [19] as well as drought stress [69]. The phenomenon of reducing growth above photosynthate limitations caused by drought stress can be an advantage during periods of extreme stress as it might prevent plant death. However, under mild stress, such as the treatment used here, the reduction in growth can be viewed as an unnecessary loss in yield [70].

In cereals, inhibition of growth can affect the number of tillers produced as well as the rate of leaf expansion [71]. In the present study, the inhibition of tillering under drought was observed in the reduction of the final spike number (**Table 2**). The importance of tillering was evident in this study as a significant positive correlation of spike number to grain yield was observed under both control and drought conditions (**Table 4**). Other barley studies have shown the reduction of tillering due to drought [72][57][73], but the molecular basis of drought induced inhibition of tillering is not fully understood at present. However, the inhibition of tillering during anthesis is well studied. The repression of tillering that occurs during anthesis is thought to be due to a combination of auxin signaling and resource competition between the apical buds, which form new tillers, and the stem apex [74]. It is possible that drought induced and anthesis induced inhibition of tillering share similar pathways and the mechanism is worthy of future investigation. Minimizing the yield loss by drought induced growth inhibition in future crop breeding programs will take an understanding of what traits are involved, which genotypes are able to maintain growth despite a perceived limitation, and which genes are taking part in this process.

Genotype specific environmental responses

As Arta and Keel have been selected to grow in different agricultural settings it was hypothesized that they would acclimate to the different environmental conditions by exhibiting different phenotypes. Significant differences in morphology were detected between Arta and Keel under control conditions. When well watered, Arta had significantly higher biomass, grain yield, and plant height than Keel. Additionally, Arta had a mean peduncle extrusion that was positive while Keel had a negative peduncle extrusion. Due to the drought treatment, all of the above traits were significantly reduced in both genotypes. As seen in the tolerance index (**Figure 3**) of the grain yield and biomass, these traits were reduced to a greater extent under drought in Arta than in Keel as compared to control conditions. Arta was thus more prone to drought induced growth inhibition than Keel. Genotype specific growth inhibition under drought has been observed before in barley and wheat [75]. Specifically, leaf expansion rates of Seeva, an elite Israeli cultivar, were reduced more under drought stress than in wild barley [76].

The peduncle, as the last internode to elongate [77], is a measure of late developmental stem elongation and plant growth. The peduncle extrusion in Arta decreased from a mean of 1.5 cm in control

conditions to a mean of -6.8 cm under drought conditions. This decrease in peduncle extrusion was larger than the changes in peduncle extrusion observed in Keel, which were -4.6 cm under control conditions and -5.7 cm under drought conditions. The significant reduction in peduncle extrusion due to the drought treatment in Arta but not is Keel is a further indication of increased growth inhibition due to drought in Arta.

The ANOVA of the traits measured in the parental lines and RIL population under control and drought conditions (**Table 3**) revealed interacting effects between the genotype and treatment on grain yield, biomass and peduncle extrusion. Interacting effects between genotype and treatment for the grain yield, biomass and peduncle extrusion suggests that these traits are reacting to the drought treatment in a genotype specific manner and that unique alleles between the two genotypes differentially regulate these traits under drought stress [78]. Interestingly, significant genetic correlations between grain yield, biomass, plant height and peduncle extrusion were revealed under control conditions as well as drought conditions (**Table 4**). The correlations between grain yield, biomass, plant height and peduncle extrusion between grain yield, biomass, plant height and peduncle extrusion set traits [79]. However, the correlation between peduncle extrusion and grain yield was negative under drought suggesting that genes participating in peduncle growth were responsible for decreased grain yield.

In summary, the genotypes exhibited morphological differences under control conditions and differences in growth inhibition under drought conditions which have a genetic basis. A possible influence of the same genes on different traits was seen in the clustering of the QTL discovered in this analysis.

Clustering of QTL

In the 19 QTL detected under control and drought treatments (**Table 5**), Arta provided the beneficial allele under drought for 10 QTL demonstrating that both parents had alleles to contribute to drought resistance. Contribution of beneficial alleles from both parents was also evident in the distribution of grain yield and photosynthetic performance index in the RIL population (**Figure 2** and **Figure 1**) where several RILs outperformed either parent under control or drought conditions. Such transgressive segregation of grain yield can be due to complementary action of additive alleles inherited from the parental lines [80]. Several QTL for different traits were found in genetic proximity to each other and were considered QTL clusters. Clusters of QTL detected in this study were observed on chromosomes 1H and 2H (**Table 5**) (**Figure 6**). QTL that are clustered together can be due to pleiotropy or linkage [81]. The cluster on chromosome 1H contained QTL for: thousand kernel weight, grains per spike, and for leaf relative water content. The Keel allele at this locus was responsible for increased kernel weight, more
grains per spike and higher leaf water content under control and drought conditions. Additionally, a significant positive genetic correlation between relative water content and thousand kernel weight was detected between these two traits, which further supports that these two traits are controlled by the same locus [79]. The cluster on 2H distal from the centromere contained a QTL for thousand kernel weight and a QTL for water use. At this locus, the Arta allele was responsible for increased kernel weight and increased water use under both conditions. The cluster on 2H proximal to the centromere contained four QTL for: grain yield, water use, relative water content, and thousand kernel weight. The Arta allele at this locus was responsible for increased kernel weight, water use, and thousand kernel weight under both control and drought conditions. However, the Arta allele at this same locus was also responsible for an increase in leaf relative water content under drought but a decrease in relative water content under control conditions. The opposing effect of the Arta allele on relative water content in the same cluster where the Arta allele had main coinciding effects makes it likely that the QTL for relative water content is caused by a different gene than the QTL for grain yield, water use and thousand kernel weight. In addition to QTL clustering between traits, QTL discovered in this study were seen to overlap with QTL for the same traits discovered in other segregating barley populations grown under water limited conditions.

The multi-environmental QTL analysis used in MultiQTL considers the phenotypes under control and drought conditions simultaneously to determine the significance of each locus [64]. While this approach increases the statistical power to detect significant loci, drought environment specific QTL cannot be identified based on the LOD alone. However, the effect of a QTL under each environment is indicated by percent of trait variance explained by the QTL in that environment. The QTL cluster on 2H for grain yield, water use, relative water content, and kernel weight all had high percent explained variances, ranging from ~15% to ~25%, in both control and drought environments which suggested that the QTL effect was present under both environments. However, for other QTL the majority of the QTL effect is limited to one environment. For example, the percent explained variance for thousand kernel weight at 22 cM on chromosome 2H was under drought conditions (25.5% was over twice that explained under control conditions (8.9%). Similar differences in the explained variance between the drought and control were also observed for grains per spike in chromosome 1H (35.5% and 9.8%, respectively) and water use on chromosome 2H at 22 cM (25.2% and 8.4%, respectively).

Confirmed and novel QTL

The QTL discovered here were compared to the QTL discovered in other studies concerned with drought resistance which used populations from the barley crosses: Tadmor x Er/Apm [50][47], Steptoe x Morex

26

[55] and Arta x Keel [82]. Tadmor is a black-seeded landrace common to Syria and Er/Apm is a cultivar bred for high yields under favorable conditions [47]. Steptoe is a cultivar used for animal feed considered sensitive to drought and Morex is a malting cultivar considered to be drought resistant [55]. In one QTL study, the Tadmor x Er/Apm population was grown in a growth chamber where physiological traits, like relative water content, were considered [50]. In the other study involving the cross Tadmor x Er/Apm, the population was grown in drought prone fields in Syria where agronomic traits like grain yield and kernel weight were considered [47]. The Steptoe x Morex population was grown in drought prone fields in Iran where agronomic traits were considered. The Arta x Keel (Arke) population was grown over four seasons in drought prone fields in two regions of Syria where agronomic traits were considered [82].

Comparison of QTL found in the present study to published QTL can be considered as a confirmation of the QTL method in general [83]. On chromosome 1H distal to the centromere, the QTL found in the present study for leaf relative water content, with Keel contributing the beneficial allele, was also discovered in the Tadmor x Er/Apm cross with Tadmor providing the allele for higher water content (Figure 6). On chromosome 1H proximal to the centromere, QTL were discovered in the population Steptoe x Morex for grains per spike and for thousand kernel weight, which coincided with QTL for the same traits in the present study, where Keel contributed the beneficial allele for both traits. At this locus on 1H, Steptoe provided the positive allele for increased seed number per spike and Morex provided the allele for increased kernel weight. On chromosome 2H, the QTL for harvest index at 15 cM in the present study with Arta providing the beneficial allele under drought treatment, was also found in the field grown Arke population. Additionally on chromosome 2H, the QTL in the present study for grain yield at 68 cM and for kernel weight at 81 cM, where Arta contributed the beneficial alleles, were also found in the Arke population grown in the field. The QTL on 3H for kernel weight, where Keel contributed the beneficial allele, was also discovered in the Tadmor x Er/Apm population with the beneficial allele being contributed from Tadmor. The QTL for kernel weight discovered on 5H with Keel providing the positive allele was also found in the cross Tadmor x Er/Apm where Er/Apm contributed the positive allele and in the population Stepoe x Morex where Morex contributed the positive allele.

In total, 8 of the 19 QTL revealed in this study were also found in other barley QTL analysis. The appearance of QTL for the same traits in different studies, despite differences in growing conditions, demonstrated that some loci for morphological and physiological traits are common between different mapping populations. QTL confirmed by the comparison of QTL studies using other mapping populations, highlights loci that should be given priority for identification of the causal genes in future studies [84]. The remaining, unconfirmed QTL in this study are considered novel. The ability to discover previously

27

undiscovered QTL exemplifies the utility of using original mapping populations, growing conditions, and applications of stress as performed in the present study.

As sequencing, assembly and annotation for the barley genome progresses, more tools are becoming available to assist in narrowing QTL intervals and pinpointing candidate genes [13]. One such tool, comparative genetics as used by Hazen et al. [85], will allow concordant QTL from barley, Brachypodium, rice and sorghum to be aligned and the region of overlap to be interrogated for candidate genes. The QTL presented here will facilitate this process by confirming loci previously found from other segregating populations and adding novel loci that are possibly unique to the Arta x Keel population. Until now, QTL for grain yield and growth related traits in barley grown under water limited conditions are based on only few segregating populations: The addition of Arta x Keel QTL into this dataset expands the possibly of applying a combined cross analysis to narrow QTL regions or dissect significant QTL under drought conditions [86].

Conclusion

The search for traits associated with yield performance under mild drought stress applied during anthesis revealed the importance of tillering regulation in drought resistance. Drought treatments applied early in developmental growth would have missed this association and this result highlights the importance of applying treatments at varying stages of barley development in future experiments. The robustness of barley physiology under drought is likely due to some the same molecular responses found to be active in Arabidopsis and rice like production of compatible solutes and ROS scavengers. However, the data here suggests that the maintained homeostasis of plant physiology under drought, as seen in the stability of the leaf water status and photosynthetic performance, can also be due to plasticity in morphological traits.

QTL for traits positively correlated to grain yield under drought such as plant height, grains per spike, and thousand kernel weight were discovered and potentially contain genes responsible for conveying drought resistance. Of particular interest were QTL which explained a greater percent of trait variance under drought than under control conditions, for example the QTL for grains per spike on chromosome 1H, as they may contain genes that act exclusively under stress. Of the 19 QTL discovered in the present study, 8 were confirmed to exist in other QTL studies that used different mapping populations or different applications of drought treatment. Such confirmed QTL exemplify the universality of some drought stress mechanisms which are present in multiple genotypes or during several stages of development. Conversely, the ability to detect previously undiscovered QTL exemplifies the uniqueness of the present study and alludes to the presence of numerous more genetic loci to be found.

Chapter Two - Leaf Proteome Analysis of Barley Subjected to Drought and Heat Stress

Introduction

High temperature negatively impacts crop production worldwide [87][88]. Models of climate change predict that the global mean temperature will rise by ~2°C by 2100 [89] suggest that heat stress will occur more frequently and more severely in the future. Preventing the reduction of crop yields due to heat stress will require the development of crops with enhanced heat resistance. However, continued development of heat resistant crops will require further investigation of the mechanisms that convey heat tolerance. Heat resistance, as defined by Wahid et al. [90], is the "ability of plants to grow and produce economic yield under high temperatures". The ability to maintain yield is achieved by plant responses to heat on the morphological, physiological and molecular level. Plant responses to heat are dependent on the severity, duration, and timing of the stress [91] as well as its coincidence with other abiotic stresses such as drought.

Heat and drought stress commonly occur simultaneously in agricultural settings [92]. Extensive studies have been performed to elucidate plant reactions to heat [90][93][94] and drought [95][96][97], but relatively few studies have been concerned with the combined effects of heat and drought stress on plants [98], especially during the reproductive stage of development [99]. The combined effects of heat and drought on yield are more detrimental than the effect of each stress alone, as seen in sorghum [100], maize [101] and barley [72]. Physiological responses to heat and drought can be antagonistic to each other when applied in combination [102]. For example, opening of stomata to increase transpirational cooling observed under heat stress was inhibited when a combination of heat and drought was applied to tobacco (*Nicotiana tabacum*), resulting in higher leaf temperatures than heat treatment alone [92]. Additionally, accumulation of the osmoprotectant proline which normally occurs in Arabidopsis under drought stress, was not detected in plants subjected to combined heat and drought stress [103]. The majority of work related to the molecular basis of drought and heat resistance in plants has been limited to the transcriptome.

Microarray analysis has allowed the identification of hundreds of stress inducible genes with putative roles in conveying abiotic stress tolerance [104]. Included in this identification are genes that encode regulatory proteins such as transcription factors and kinases as well as functional proteins such as proteases and enzymes for osomolyte biosynthesis [105]. Transcriptional analysis of responses to combined heat and drought stress in Arabidopsis revealed that several of the genes inducible by drought were also inducible by heat stress, which suggests that the molecular responses to the two stresses overlap [103]. However, the same study also showed that the combination of both stresses regulated transcripts by that were not detected to be altered by either stress independently. Changes in the barley transcriptome under drought [106][107] and combination drought and heat [108] have provided insight as to which gene networks, like osmolyte metabolism are altered under stress in barley. Despite the popularity and success of transcriptomic analysis the technique is limited in the information it can provide about molecular responses.

Microarrays are typically designed to quantify mRNA transcripts [109] which no not typically possess enzymatic or structural functions. Instead, the vast majority of mRNAs contain the sequence information necessary to synthesize a protein by ribosomes. The synthesized protein, once properly folded, transported and chemically modified can then fulfill its enzymatic or structural role. While protein abundance is at least partially dependent on mRNA transcript levels, the abundance of the two macromolecules are generally not well correlated to each other [110][111]. Therefore, inferring protein abundance from transcript abundance can be problematic. However, a proteomic approach to stress responses should more accurately reflect changes in the cellular state than profiling the expression of mRNAs [112].

Molecular responses to abiotic stress

Heat resistance mechanisms, like drought resistance mechanisms, can be divided into heat avoidance and heat tolerance. Heat avoidance is the ability of the plant to maintain low internal temperatures. Mechanisms of heat avoidance include stomata opening to increase leaf cooling via transpiration, changes in leaf orientation, and reflection of solar radiation [113]. Heat tolerance is the ability of the plant to maintain cellular activity despite high internal temperatures. Heat tolerance mechanisms share similarities to drought tolerance mechanisms. For example, heat tolerance mechanisms include increased production of free radical scavengers, protein protecting molecular chaperones, and proteases. For an overview of the molecular responses to drought, the reader is referred to the introduction in chapter one.

Regulation of stomatal conductance by plant water status and carbon dioxide availability is well characterized in the literature but the regulation by temperature is not [114]. In brief, stomata close under water limited conditions in an abscisic acid dependant pathway. While the molecular pathway for heat induced stomata opening has not been elucidated, the pathway is known to be independent of the carbon dioxide status of the plant but dependant on the water status of the plant [115]. Changes in leaf orientation can reduce the amount of incident solar radiation that the leaf experiences and helps to keep the leaf cooler. The presence of epicuticular wax can also reduce incident solar radiation that the leaf experiences by reflecting the light before it is absorbed by the leaf [116].

Disruption of photosynthesis is a symptom of both heat and drought stress. At the onset of drought stress, disruption of photosynthesis occurs in part due to the limitation of carbon dioxide as the final electron acceptor[28][29]. In contrast, the disruption of photosynthesis during heat stress is due to the decreased stability of Rubisco activase which results in decreased Rubisco activity [117]. In addition, photosynthesis can be disrupted by the heat induced dissociation of the oxygen evolving complex from the photosystem II reaction center [118]. While the cause of the disruption of photosynthesis between the two abiotic stresses is different the outcome is the same; increased production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and oxidative stress. An overview of ROS scavenging mechanisms can be found in the introduction of chapter one.

High temperatures, like oxidative damage, can cause proteins to unfold and lose their enzymatic or structural properties. Heat denaturation occurs when the thermal energy exceeds the binding energy of the hydrogen bonds that hold the secondary structure of the protein together [119]. Prevention of denaturation is achieved by molecular chaperones which can assist proteins to fold into a functional state, provide stability to properly folded proteins, and prevent aggregation of denatured proteins [34]. Molecular chaperone functions are provided by members of the heat shock proteins [120] family which contains member that are readily induced upon heat stress [94].

Quantitative proteomics

Quantification of protein abundance is possible using modern proteomic approaches which incorporate two-dimensional sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) separation of proteins with mass spectrometric identification. A typical proteomic workflow begins with a protein extract that is electrophoretically separated by isoelectric point in one dimension followed by separation in another dimension according to the molecular weight. The proteins resolved in two dimensions can then be visualized and the spot intensities compared between genotypes or treatments using image analysis software. Protein spots of interest can be excised from the gel, enzymatically digested with trypsin and analyzed by mass spectrometry. Identification of proteins with mass spectrometry can be achieved using peptide mass fingerprinting, which compares the acquired peptide masses to theoretical digests of proteins annotated in public databases. Additionally, proteins can be identified using tandem mass spectrometry, which determines the amino acid sequence of digested peptides to be used in homology-based database query.

An extension of conventional 2D gel electrophoresis (2D-PAGE) is 2D difference gel electrophoresis (DIGE) which allows the concurrent separation and quantification of a mixture of protein samples in the same gel [121]. This is achieved by labeling each protein extract with a different fluorescent dye (Cy5, Cy3, or Cy2) prior to mixing and running the extracts together on the same 2D gel. Fluorescence imaging at wavelengths specific for each dye is then used to visualize the protein spot pattern of each sample separately and allows quantification of similar protein spots between the two samples. Advantages of DIGE include reduced gel to gel variation, sensitivity of ~0.1 ng, and a dynamic range higher than 3.5 orders of magnitude [122]. In comparison, coomassie blue based stains used for protein visualization in 2D gels only offer a sensitivity of approximately 15 ng and dynamic range of 1 [123]. Additionally, DIGE allows for the use of an internal standard, consisting of a pool of all samples to be compared in an experiment, to be included in each gel analyzed. Normalization of each sample to the internal standard can then be performed and each protein spot can be measured as a ratio to its corresponding spot present in the internal standard [124]. By incorporating an internal standard, experimental variation can be separated from the more interesting biological variation [124].

Conventional 2D-PAGE has proved useful in barley research to quantify changes in protein abundance in seeds [125–129], roots [130] and shoots [131] in response to salt stress, heat stress, or during development. Barley proteomic research using DIGE has not, to date, been published but the technique has been successfully applied in Arabidopsis [132], grape [133], and wheat [134]. These studies were able to quantity the regulation and identify proteins responsive to salt stress in Arabidopsis and wheat as well as proteins active in the withering process in grape. By quantifying changes in protein abundance one can gain insight into the biochemical processes that underlie the morphological and physiological acclimations that occur when a plant is challenged with abiotic stress.

The objectives of this study were to i) characterize the physiological and morphological responses to drought and heat stress and ii) identify barley leaf proteins differentially regulated in response to drought stress and heat stress using a proteomics approach based on DIGE and mass spectrometry. The changes in protein abundance were placed into context of the physiological and morphological trait plasticity that also occurred due to the abiotic stresses. The barley genotypes Arta and Keel were included in the analysis to allow stress specific and genotypic specific responses to be considered.

Materials and Methods

Experimental overview

This chapter is primarily concerned with the changes in the barley leaf proteome in response to the effects of drought treatment and heat treatment applied separately as well as simultaneously. Control plants were well watered by maintaining a soil water content (SWC) of 50% and were kept at a control temperature of 21°C. Drought treated plants were given reduced water starting at anthesis by maintaining a SWC of 15% and were grown at 21°C. Heat treated plants were well watered like controls, but were grown at a high temperature of 36°C for seven days starting at anthesis. Combination treated plants were subjected to both drought and heat treatments simultaneously. The aim of this study is to discover genetic differences in response to drought and heat as revealed by two genetically distinct barley genotypes, Arta and Keel. Physiological traits were measured one, three and seven days after the application of the heat treatments started. Morphological measurements were made either during grain filling or after plant maturity. A list of all traits considered and the abbreviations used in this text can be found in

. The variance in each trait was attributed to effects of genotype, soil water content (SWC), temperature or the interaction of all three, by use of an ANOVA. Phenotypic correlations between grain yield and the other traits were calculated for heat treated and non-heat treated plants separately. A barley leaf proteome map was generated using 2D-PAGE and by identifying coomassie-stained protein spots with a combination of peptide mass fingerprinting and tandem mass spectrometry. Individual spots in the barley leaf proteome were quantified utilizing difference in gel electrophoresis for each genotype under each treatment using samples taken three days after the application of the heat treatments began. The eight proteomes were compared and significant effects on protein spot intensity by the genotype and each treatment were calculated using ANOVA.

Plant material

See chapter 1 materials and methods for description of the genotypes Arta and Keel.

Drought and heat treatments

The response of Arta and Keel to the single or combined effects of drought and heat treatments at the generative stage under controlled conditions in growth chambers was tested. The chamber experiment was conducted independently in duplicate. Plants were sown in 96 well trays, stratified at 4°C for 4 d, transferred to 8 h light /16 h dark short day (SD) for 24 d and then grown in 16 h/8 h long day (LD)

conditions for 2 d to acclimate before being potted in four liter pots containing 1.8 kg of soil with three plants in each pot. The chamber was set to 21°C lights on/17°C lights off with a humidity of 50%. The plants remained in LD for the remainder of the experiment. The field capacity of 1.8 kg soil was calculated as the difference in weight between fully hydrated soil and dried soil [135]. The soil was allowed to fully hydrate by flooding the pot with water and allowing any excess water to drain over 24 h while the pot was covered. Soil was dried by heating at 70°C for 7 d. The SWC of potted plants was adjusted to 50% of the field capacity (FC). The relative humidity of the chambers were set to 50%, the light intensity was 350 μ mol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ and the temperature was set to 21°C when the light was on and 17°C when lights were off. The drought treatment was applied at anthesis as described in the section drought stress in chapter 1. The heat treatment was applied to a subset of the well watered and drought treated plants when the SWC reached 15% in the drought treated plants by moving the plants to an identical chamber set to 21°C and then gradually raising the temperature to 36°C over 4 h. During the heat treatment, the temperature was set to 32°C when the lights were off. Heat treated plants remained at 36°C lights on/32°C lights off for one week at which point the temperature was decreased to 21°C over 4 h. Photographs of Arta and Keel plants from under each treatment were taken with a EOS 450D digital camera (Cannon) once the heat treatment had ended.

Physiological measurements

The second leaf down from the top of the spike was used for all physiological measurements and was harvested for later protein extraction. Samples were taken one, three and seven days after the target FC of 15% had been reached in drought treated pots. Sampling on each day began at ZT 3 and was completed ZT 6 to minimize possible effects from the circadian clock on the measurements. For each pot, one leaf was harvested from each of the three plants and the three leaves were immediately flash frozen together in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80 °C for subsequent protein extraction. Each pool of three leaves was considered as one biological replicate. Fast chlorophyll fluorescence induction kinetics was measured on every plant per pot using the Handy PEA chlorophyll fluorimeter (Hansatech Instruments). Fluorescence was induced using a 3000 µmol photons m⁻² s⁻¹ flash of actinic light persisting for 1 s on leaves dark adapted with leaf clips for a minimum of 20 min. The induction curves were analyzed using the PEA plus software version 1.02 (Hansatech Instruments) and the maximum quantum efficiency (Fv/Fm) and the Performance Index (PI) were calculated. The relative water content of the leaf (RWC) was calculated from one ~3 cm leaf cutting per plant and calculated according to the equation: $\frac{fresh weight-dry weight}{turgid weight-dry weight} \times 100$ [136]. Freshly cut leaves were immediately weighed to determine the fresh weight. The turgid weight was determined after submerging the leaf cuttings in

distilled water and storing them for overnight at 4 °C in the dark. Dry weight of the leaf cuttings was determined after drying the cuttings at 70 °C for 48 hours. Leaf temperature was measured using an Optris LS LT portable infrared thermometer (Optris) set to close focus mode and with the emissivity set 0.99. Temperature measurements were taken prior to sampling and done on the middle portion of blade on the leaf below the flag leaf.

Table 6. Summary of traits measured in the genotypes Arta and Keel grown under control, drought, heat and combination treatments. The abbreviation used, the unit used and the procedure by which each measurement was made is given.

Abbr.	Trait	Units	Procedure
GY	Grain yield	g	Total weight of kernels
BM	Total biomass	g	Weight of all above ground plant biomass
н	Harvest index	g/g	Ratio of grain yield over total biomass
РН	Plant height	cm	Distance from top of soil to top of primary spike
Pedex	Peduncle extrusion	cm	Distance from peduncle to bottom of primary spike
SN	Spike number		Number of spikes over half of grains filled
AS	Number of aborted spikes		Number of pikes with over half of all grains unfilled
GS	Grains per spike		Number of grains divided by number of spikes
TKW	Thousand kernal weight	g	Extrapolated weight of 1000 kernals
DM	Days to maturity	days	Days in LD until kernels were mature
WU	Total water used per pot	L	Water given to plant from LD to maturity
WUE	Water use efficency of grain yield	g/L	Ratio of grain yield over water used
LT_1	Leaf temperature at day 1	°C	Temperature of the leaf before the flag leaf
LT_3	Leaftemperature at day 3	°C	Temperature of the leaf before the flag leaf
LT_7	Leaftemperature at day 7	°C	Temperature of the leaf before the flag leaf
RWC_1	Relative water content at day 1	%	Ratio of leaf fresh weight over fully turgid weight
RWC_3	Relative water content at at day 3	%	Ratio of leaf fresh weight over fully turgid weight
RWC_7	Relative water content at at day 7	%	Ratio of leaf fresh weight over fully turgid weight
Fv/Fm_1	Maximum PSII quantum yield at day 1	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf
Fv/Fm_3	Maximum PSII quantum yield at day 3	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf
Fv/Fm_7	Maximum PSII quantum yield at day 7	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf
PI_1	PSII performance indexat day 1	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf
PI_3	PSII performance indexat day 3	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf
PI_7	PSII performance indexat day 7	arb. unit	Chl flouresence of dark adapted leaf before the flag leaf

Morphological and agronomic measurements

Heading was considered to have initiated when the awns had visibly emerged from the ear in over half of the main tillers present in each pot. Heading had initiated in both genotypes within two days of each other. Peduncle extrusion (Pedex) and plant height (PH) were recorded post-anthesis on the primary spike by measuring the distance from the flag leaf collar to the bottom of the spike and the distance from the soil surface to the top of the spike, respectively. The days until maturity (DM) were counted from the time of transfer to LD until the majority of the grains on all spikes could no longer be dented by fingernail. After maturity, each plant was harvested separately. First, all above ground biomass was cut from the soil and then weighed for the biomass (BM) measurement. Then spikes were separated into non-aborted spikes and aborted spikes. A spike was considered aborted if more than 50% of the florets on the spike were empty and had not produced a seed. Spikes of the three plants from a single pot were threshed together. The kernels were counted and weighed using a Marvin-universal seed analyzer (GTA Sensorik GmbH) connected to a digital scale. The included software was used to extrapolate the thousand kernel weight (TKW). The number of grains per spike was calculated as $\frac{spike number}{grain number}$. Harvest index (HI) was calculated per pot as $\frac{grain yield}{biomass}$. The water used by the plants in each pot (WU) was recorded starting after the plants were potted in four liter pots. Water use efficiency (WUE) was calculated for each pot with the ratio $\frac{grain yield}{water use}$.

Protein extraction

All chemical reagents were purchased from Carl Roth GmbH unless stated otherwise. Frozen leaf samples in tubes containing two ball bearings were set in a liquid nitrogen cooled metal block and powdered using the GenoGrinder 2000 (SPEX Sample Prep) set at 1250 strokes per min for 1 min. Approximately 100 mg of powdered sample was placed in 1.5 ml of 10% trichloric acetic acid (TCA) in acetone containing 20 mM dithiothreitol (DTT) and sonicated in a Biorupter UCD-200 (Diagenode) set on medium intensity for seven cycles (30 s on/1 min off). Samples were then incubated at -20 °C for at least 1 h, centrifuged 5 min at 12,000 x g at 4 °C and the resulting supernatant was removed. The pellet was washed with 1.5 ml of acetone containing 20 mM DTT and then incubated at -20 °C for 30 min. The washing step was repeated for a total of three times. After washing, the dried pellet was suspended overnight at RT in rehydration buffer containing 7 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 2% CHAPS, 20 mM DTT and 0.5% biolyte 3-10 ampholytes (Bio-Rad). Protein concentration was determined using the Bio-Rad protein assay (Bio-Rad).

Fluorescent labeling of proteins

Protein samples from the first replication of the chamber experiment were used for the proteomic analysis. Protein extracts were minimally labeled with fluorescent Cy2, Cy3, or Cy5 N-hydroxysuccinimide (NHS) esters (Lumiprobe,LLC). Protein solutions were diluted to 5 μ g/ μ l with labeling buffer (30 mM Tris, 7 M urea, 2 M thiourea, 4% CHAPS, pH of 8.5) and 1 μ l of working solution containing 400 picomoles of fluorescent ester was added to 50 µg of protein. The protein and dye solution was briefly vortexed and centrifuged before keeping on ice in the dark for 30 min. To quench any remaining unreacted esters 1 µl of 10 mM lysine was added to the reaction and the tube was vortexed and centrifuged before keeping on ice in the dark for 10 min. The labeled protein solution was then subsequently used for 2D- difference gel electrophoresis (2D-DIGE). Cy2 was exclusively used for labeling of pooled internal standards consisting of an equal mixture of all protein samples used in a given experiment; dyes Cy3 and Cy5 were used on individual samples as seen in **Table 7**; sample names in the two right columns represent biological replicates.

Table 7. Dye swap setup of the Differential Gel Electrophoresis (DIGE) experiment using Cy2, Cy3 and Cy5. The experiment consisted of two genotypes and four treatments for a total of eight groups. Three biological replicates were used for each group for a total of 24 protein samples in the experiment. The internal standard contained an equal amount of each biological replicate.

Gel	Cy2	СуЗ	Cy5
1	Internal standard	Drought 36°C Keel	Control 36°C Keel
2	Internal standard	Control 21°C Keel	Drought 21°C Keel
3	Internal standard	Control 36°C Arta	Drought 36°C Arta
4	Internal standard	Drought 21°C Arta	Control 21°C Arta
5	Internal standard	Drought 21°C Keel	Drought 36°C Keel
6	Internal standard	Control 36°C Keel	Control 21°C Keel
7	Internal standard	Drought 36°C Arta	Drought 21°C Arta
8	Internal standard	Control 21°C Arta	Control 36°C Arta
9	Internal standard	Drought 36°C Keel	Drought 36°C Arta
10	Internal standard	Control 36°C Arta	Control 36°C Keel
11	Internal standard	Drought 21°C Arta	Drought 21°C Keel
12	Internal standard	Control 21°C Keel	Control 21°C Arta

Two dimensional gel electrophoresis

Protein sample diluted in rehydration buffer to a total volume of 340 µl was applied to 18 cm immobiline strips pH 3-10 NL (GE Healthcare Life Sciences) and allowed to rehydrate at room temperature for 16 hr. Strips for 2D-DIGE gels contained a total of 150 µg protein while strips for gels to be post stained with PageBlue (Fermentas life sciences) contained 500 µg of protein. Focusing was accomplished at 20°C using a Protean isoelectric focusing cell (Bio-Rad) with the following conditions: 14 h passive rehydration, 250 V for 15 min, ramping to 2000 V for 1hr 45 min, ramping to 10000 V for 3 hr before maintaining the voltage at 10000 V for a total of 30000 volt/hours. The resulting strips were equilibrated in 2D equilibrium buffer (0.1 M Tris, 6 M urea, 30% glycerol, 2% SDS) containing 2% DTT for 15 min and then with 2D equilibrium buffer containing 2.5% iodoacetamide (Sigma) for 15 min. Equilibrated strips were placed on 1 mm thick 12% SDS-PAGE gels sized 26 × 20 cm and covered with 0.5% agarose (Bio-budget).

The second dimension was separated using 12 mA/gel for 12 h with the Ettan DaltSix electrophoresis system (GE Healthcare life sciences).

Colloidal Coomassie Brilliant Blue staining

Prior to staining, gels were fixed in an aqueous solution containing 25% isopropyl alcohol and 10% acetic acid for 1 h at RT with shaking. Gels were then rinsed twice with distilled water over a period of 1 h and then stained over night with PageBlue solution (Fermentas Life Sciences). Destaining was performed using a minimum of eight rinses with warm (40°C) distilled water over a 4 h period.

Gel image analysis

Two dimensional gels stained with PageBlue solution were digitally imaged at a resolution of 100 μm using a daylight scanner integrated within the Proteineer spll spotting robot (Bruker Daltronics). Two dimensional gels containing protein labeled with Cy2, Cy3 and Cy5 NHS esters were imaged at a 100 µm resolution with the Typhoon FLA 9000 (GE Healthcare Life Science) using long pass filters for either 520 nm 580 nm or 670 nm. Photomultiplier tube gain voltage was adjusted for each Cy dye for each experiment so that pixel saturation only occurred in the largest spot on the gel, known to contain Rubisco. Typical gain settings were 700 V, 950 V, and 850 V for Cy2, Cy3, and Cy5, respectively. Images were imported into Delta 2D version 3.2 (Decodon) and were assigned the appropriate gel, channel and sample name. The option 'Use Internal Standard' was enabled in the project properties. Imported images were grouped according to genotype and condition, and analyzed following the standard workflow of the program. Gel images were warped using in-gel standard warping strategy included in the program. All direct gel warping were manually checked for proper alignment of gels and spots incorrectly matched were re-matched. A master fusion image was created from the union of all gel images with the options to remove background and to rescale the amplitude of each gel before fusing. Spot detection was done on the resulting fusion image with the following setting: local background region set to 50 pixels, spot size set to 20 pixels, and the sensitivity set to 50%. Manual curation was used to remove background incorrectly designated as spots and to add spots missed by the detection algorithm. Spots were assigned an arbitrary identification number by the software. The normalized spot volume of all spots in each gel image was automatically calculated by the software and exported for further analysis in SAS (Statistical Analysis System, SAS Institute Inc.).

Protein identification

Spots from 2D gels were excised using the Proteineer sp II (Bruker Daltonics) and tryptically digested with DP Chemical 96 kits (Bruker Daltonics) using the Proteineer dp (Bruker Daltonics). Aliquots of the

digests were automatically prepared on MTP 600/384 AnchorChip plates (Bruker Daltonics) using the Proteineer dp digest and sample preparation robot (all from Bruker Daltonics). Peptide mass fingerprints (PMFs) were obtained using the Ultraflex III MALDI ToF/ToF mass spectrometer (Bruker Daltonics). The resulting spectra were processed into peak files with the FlexAnalysis ver 2.4 software (Bruker Daltonics) by means of the sophisticated numerical annotation procedure (SNAP) algorithm. Peak data were imported into the ProteinScape database system version 3.0 (Protagen/Bruker), which initiated Mascot version 2.3 (Matrix Science) searches against the UniProt Knowledgebase for *Hordeum vulgare* (release 2011_06) [137] and the DFCI Barley Gene Index (HvGI) version 12 genome database [138]. Mascot PMF search parameters were: mass tolerance of 50 ppm, one allowed missed cleavage, and oxidation (of Met) and carbamidomethylation (of Cys) were allowed as variable modifications. In the event that post calibration using trypsin failed, the search was repeated with a mass tolerance of 100 ppm. MS/MS spectra were collected based on peak intensity and isolation from other peaks observed in the PMF. The resulting peptide fragmentation fingerprints (PFFs) was used in Mascot searches of the above two databases with a mass tolerance of 0.4 Da for both parent and fragment masses.

Annotation of identified proteins with gene ontology terms

Gene ontology (GO) terms were retrieved for identified proteins based on their Uniprot IDs. Three datasets were submitted for comparison with all *Hordeum vulgare* UniProt entries, namely all proteins identified in the proteome map, the subsets that were differentially regulated by the temperature treatment, and another subset that was differentially regulated between genotypes. Uniprot IDs were submitted to the online tool GORetriever, which is part of the public resource AgBase [139]. The resulting GO Summary file, containing all annotated GO terms for each of the submitted protein IDs, was then downloaded and submitted to another AgBase online tool, GOSlim viewer. GoSlim viewer was used to summarize GO terms from the database from using the plant GO slim set which contains a high level subset of GO terms pertinent to plants. Manual annotation of differentially regulated proteins in **Table 11** with biological functions was based on the results from the GOSlim view. Proteins with two or more biological functions were assigned one function based on the following hierarchy where specific functions were given higher priority than broad functions: response to stress, response to abiotic stimulus, protein metabolic process, lipid metabolic process, nucleobase-containing compound metabolic process, cellular homeostasis, carbohydrate metabolic process, translation, transport, photosynthesis, metabolic process.

Singular Enrichment Analysis

To find GO terms present significantly more often in the leaf proteome map as compared to the background of all *Hordeum vulgare* UniProt entries , the Singular Enrichment Analysis (SEA) tool in the agriGO toolkit [140] was used. Go terms exported from GORetreiver for proteins that were indentified in the proteome map and for all *Hordeum vulgare* UniProt entries were submitted to the SEA tool as the customized annotation and the customized reference, respectively. Under advanced options the statistical test method chosen was Fisher, the multi-test method was Hochberg False Discovery Rate (FDR), the significance level was 0.05, and the gene ontology type chosen was Plant GO slim.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were conducted using SAS software version 9.1.3 for Windows (SAS Institute Inc, copyright 2003) using trait measurements of Arta and Keel plants. The command PROC MEANS was used to determine the mean, standard error, minimum and maximum values of traits. A four way analysis of variation (ANOVA) of morphological and physiological traits was calculated with a general linear model using the PROC GLM command with the model: $Y_{ijkl} = G_i + S_j + T_k + R_l + G_i^* S_k + G_i^* T_k + T_k^* S_k + G_i^* T_k^* S_k + <u>eijklm</u>, where G_i is the fixed effect of the genotype, S_i is the fixed effect of the soil water content, T_k is the fixed effect of the temperature treatment and R_i is the random effect of the experimental replication. The interaction of effects are denoted with a *, i.e. the interaction of genotype and temperature is written as G_i^* T_k. Significant (p < 0.05) differences between genotypes under each of the effects G_i^*T_k^*S_k . Within the LSMEANS statement the option PDIFF was used with the Tukey adjustment for multiple comparisons enabled. Spearman correlation coefficients between all traits recorded in Arta and Keel plants under control temperatures of 21°C and heat stress temperatures of 36°C were generated separately using the PROC CORR command.$

To determine significant (p <0.05) single and interacting effects of the genotype, soil water content, and temperature on each of the spot intensities from the DIGE experiment a three way ANOVA was used using the PROC GLM command with the model: $Y_{ijkl} = G_i + S_j + T_k + G_i^* S_k + G_i^* T_k + T_k^* S_k +$ $G_i^* T_k^* S_k + \underline{eijklm}$. To correct for the multiple testing that occurred due to the high number of protein spots considered in the ANOVA, p-values generated for each effect and interacting effects were adjusted using the PROC MULTTEST command with the FDR option [141].

41

Results

Single and combined effects of drought and heat treatments on physiological traits over time

In order to assess the level of stress experienced by the plants due to each of the treatments, physiological measurements for leaf relative water content (RWC), leaf temperature (LT), maximum quantum efficiency (Fv/Fm) and performance index (PI) were taken one, three, and seven days after treatment start.

Relative water content

The leaf RWC is relevant for both heat and drought stress as it is an indicator of how well the plant maintained its water status despite high temperatures or limitations in available water. After one day of treatment, the mean relative water content of Arta plants under combination treatment (74.2%) was significantly lower than that under control conditions (90.3%) or drought treatment (87.1%) (**Figure 7A**, **Figure 7B** and (**Table 9**). Arta plants treated with either heat or drought were not significantly different from controls. No significant differences in the mean relative water content were detected between Keel plants under control (83.2%), high temperature (78.3%), drought (85.1%) or combination treatment (79.2%) conditions after one day of treatment. There was no significant difference in the RWC between Arta and Keel due to any of the four treatments after one day of treatment.

After three days of treatment, the RWC of heat treated (76.2%) and combination treated (67.3%) Arta plants were significantly lower than those of control plants (88.5%). However, no difference in the RWC was detected between drought treated Arta plants (79.8%) and Arta controls (88.5%). Keel plants under combination treatment (72.9%) had a significantly lower RWC than drought treated (78.3%) and control (87.5%) Keel plants. At this time point, no differences between Keel control plants (87.5%), heat treated (76.2%), or drought treated (78.3%) were detected. There was no significant difference in the RWC between Arta and Keel due to any of the four treatments after three days of treatment.

After seven days of treatment, the RWC of heat treated (70.4%) and combination treated (60.8%) Arta plants remained significantly lower than controls (82.9%). The RWC of Arta drought treated plants (76.7%) were not different from controls. At this time point, the mean RWC of combination treated Keel plants (59.4%) was significantly lower than controls (79.4%). No differences in the RWC were detected between drought treated (75.6%), heat treated (74.4%) and control Keel plants (79.4%). No differences between drought treated Arta plants and control plants were detected at this time point.

In summary, the leaf RWC was affected most by the combination treatments. At all three time points, Arta plants had significantly lower RWC due to the combination treatment when compared to controls. The combination treatment was also responsible for a significant decrease in the leaf RWC of Keel plants three and seven days after treatment. The heat treatment affected the leaf RWC but to a lesser extent than the combination treatment. Significant decreases in the RWC due to the heat treatment, as compared to control plants, were detected only in Arta plants three and seven days after treatment start. Despite the observation that Arta and Keel plants sometimes reacted differently to the stress treatments compared to their respective controls, no significant differences in the RWC between the two genotypes were detected due to any of the treatments.



Figure 7. The single and combined effects of drought and heat on plant leaf water status and photosynthesis over seven days of treatment. After three days of treatment, differences in the leaf RWC in Arta (A) and in Keel (B) due treatments became evident. As early as one day after treatment start, differences in the Performance Index in Arta (C) and Keel (D) became evident. Error bars are SEM, n=10

Leaf temperature

Leaf temperature is an indicator of how well the plant can cool itself (e.g. via transpiration) and gives an accurate measurement of the temperature being experienced by the plant as opposed to the ambient temperature. After one day of treatment, the mean leaf temperature of Arta plants under drought (22.8°C) was significantly higher than control Arta plants (20.3°C) (Table 9). The mean leaf temperature of heat treated (35.0°C) and combination treated (36.5°C) Arta plants were not different from each other but both were higher than the leaf temperature of control (20.3°C) or drought treated (22.8°C) Arta plants. The leaf temperature of combination treated Keel plants (37.2°C) was significantly higher than heat treated (33.2°C) Keel plants. No difference in leaf temperature was found between Keel control plants (21.1°C) and Keel drought treated plants (22.0°C) but both temperatures were significantly lower than heat and combination treated Keel plants. Leaf temperatures were not different between Arta and Keel plants under control conditions, drought treatment, or combination treatment but Keel plants subjected to heat treatment (33.2°C) were significantly cooler than Arta plants (35.0°C) subjected to the heat treatment. However, at the other two time points no differences were detected between Arta and Keel plants due to control, drought, heat or combination treatments

After three days of treatment, there was neither a difference in the leaf temperature between Arta heat treated (37.0°C) and Arta combination treated (37.1°C) plants nor between Arta control (21.7°C) and Arta drought treated (22.5°C) plants (**Table 9**). However, heat treated and combination treated plants showed significantly higher leaf temperature than control or drought treated plants. The same was true for the leaf temperature of Keel plants after three days of treatment; Keel heat treated (35.9 °C) and combination treated (37.0 °C) plants were not different from each other but both were higher than control (21.9°C) or drought treated (22.6°C) Keel plants. There were no differences in the leaf temperature between drought treated and control Keel plants.

After seven days of treatment, there were significant differences in the leaf temperature between heat treated plants and combination treated plants for both Arta plants and Keel plants. Arta and Keel heat treated plants had mean leaf temperatures (33.2°C and 34.6°C, respectively) significantly lower than combination treated Arta and Keel plants (36.4°C and 37.2°C, respectively) (**Table 9**). In turn, the heat treated Arta and Keel plants had a leaf temperature higher than either Arta and Keel control plants (23.0°C and 21.4°C, respectively) or drought treated plants (22.3°C and 21.8°C, respectively). There were neither differences in the leaf temperature between control and drought treated Arta plants nor between control and drought treated Keel plants. In summary, significant differences in the leaf temperature were detected at all three time points between plants grown at 21°C and plants grown at 36°C with mean values ranging from 20.3°C to 20.0°C and from 33.2°C to 37.2°C, respectively. At high ambient temperature, the drought treatment resulted in higher leaf temperatures than the control treatment; these differences were significant for Keel plants one day after the treatment was started and for Arta and Keel plants seven days after the treatment was started. At control temperatures, the drought treatment did not result in a significant increase in the leaf temperature with the exception of Arta plants at the first time point.

Maximum quantum efficiency of photosystem II

The maximum quantum efficiency (Fv/Fm) of photosystem II is a measure of how well the photosystem can trap the energy of absorbed light into the electron transport chain. Fv/Fm values for unstressed leaf samples typically range from 0.800 to 0.840. One day after treatment start, no differences in the Fv/Fm were detected between Arta control plants (0.836) and Arta drought treated plants (0.835) but both values were higher than the Fv/Fm of heat treated (0.795) and combination treated (0.785) Arta plants (**Table 9**). The Fv/Fm of heat treated and combination treated Arta plants were not different from each other. The Fv/Fm of Keel plants followed the trend of Arta plants. In Keel plants there was no difference between control (0.835) and drought treated (0.826) plants and both values were higher than heat treated (0.784) and combination treated (0.775) plants. There was no difference in the Fv/Fm of heat treated and combination treated and combination treated and Keel plants were not different from each different from each other threated Keel plants at this time point. The Fv/Fm of Arta and Keel plants were not different from each other from each other due to any of the treatments.

Three days after start of the treatment, the Fv/Fm of control Arta plants (0.820) were not different from drought treated Arta plants (0.829) but both were higher than heat treated (0.789) and combination treated (0.791) Arta plants. The Fv/Fm was not different between heat treated and combination treated Arta plants. In Keel plants, the Fv/Fm of control plants (0.816) were not different from drought treated plants (0.811) but both values were significantly higher than heat treated (0.770) Keel plants which were in turn higher than combination treated (0.732) plants. The mean Fv/Fm of combination treated Arta plants (0.791) was higher than combination treated Keel plants (0.732) but was not different between the two genotypes due to any of the other treatments.

Seven days after the treatment start, the Fv/Fm of control Arta plants (0.829) were neither different from drought treated (0.834), heat treated (0.782), nor combination treated (0.761) plants. However, the mean Fv/Fm of drought treated plants was significantly higher than combination treated plants. In Keel plants, the mean Fv/Fm of control plants (0.803) was not different from drought treated plants (0.815) but both values were significantly higher than heated treat plants (0.728) which was in turn significantly higher than the Fv/Fm of combination treated plants (0.564). Due to the combination treatment, the Fv/Fm of Arta plants (0.761) was significantly higher than Keel plants (0.564) but Fv/Fm ratios were not different between Arta and Keel due to any of the other treatments.

In summary, the drought treatment did not result in a decrease in Fv/Fm compared to controls in either genotype at any of the three time points. However, the heat treatment resulted in significantly lower Fv/Fm compared to controls in Keel plants at all three time points and in Arta at the first two time points. Significant differences in the Fv/Fm between Arta and Keel combination treated plants were present three and seven days after treatment start but there were no differences between the two genotypes due to the other treatments.

Performance Index of photosystem II

The overall functionality of photosystem II was estimated using the integrated chlorophyll fluorescence measurement performance index (PI). Differences in the PI between control and high temperature treatments were apparent after one day of treatment. In Arta plants, the mean PI of control plants (3.3) was not different than drought treated plants (3.0) but both PIs were significantly higher than the PI of heat treated (1.9) or combination treated (2.0) Arta plants (**Figure 7C** and **Table 9**). The same trend was true for Keel plants at this time point, the PI of control plants (3.5) were not different from drought treated plants (3.4) but both were significantly higher than heat treated (2.3) or combination treated (2.1) Keel plants. No differences in the PI were detected between Arta and Keel plants due to any of the treatments.

After three days of treatment, the PI of control Arta plants (2.5) were still not different than drought treated Arta plants (2.9) but both values remained significantly higher than heat treated (1.8) and combination treated (1.8) Arta plants. At this time point, the PI of heat treated and combination treated Arta and combination treated plants were not different. In Keel plants, there were again no differences in the PI of control (3.1) and drought treated (3.0) plants but both values were significantly higher than the PI of heat treated (1.8) and combination treated Keel plants (1.0). The difference in PI between heat treated plants and combination treated Keel plants was significant. Due to the combination stress the PI of Keel plants (1.0) was significantly lower than Arta plants (1.8) but there were no differences in the PI due to the other treatments at this time point.

On the seventh day after the start of treatment the PI of drought treated Arta plants (3.6) were significantly higher than controls (3.0). The PI of control Arta plants at this time point were significantly higher than heat treated (1.6) and combination treated (1.1) Arta plants. The PI of heat treated and combination treated Arta plants were not different from each other. In Keel plants, however, the PI of

control plants (2.8) were not different from drought treated plants (3.2) but both values were higher than the PI of heat treated (1.4) Keel plants which were, in turn, higher than the PI of combination treated Keel plants (0.3). At this time point, the PI of Arta plants were higher than the PI of Keel plants due to the combination stress, but not due to any of the other treatments.

At each of the three time points, the PI was significantly reduced in both genotypes due to the heat treatment but not due to the drought treatment. In Keel plants, the PI was significantly lower due to the combination stress than due to the heat stress at the last two time points. At the same time points, the PI of Keel plants was lower than Arta plants due to the combination stress. However, the PI of Arta and Keel plants were not significantly different from each other due to control conditions, drought stress, or heat stress.

Of the four physiological traits considered, RWC, LT, Fv/Fm and PI, all were significantly affected by the combination stress treatment in both genotypes within seven days of treatment. The heat treatment also caused changes in all four traits in at least one genotype within the seven days of treatment. Conversely, the drought treatment did not have a significant effect on any physiological traits in either genotype at any of the three time points. Arta and Keel plants often had similar physiological responses to the stress treatments; no differences in the RWC or LT between Arta and Keel due to any of the treatments were detected. However, significant differences in Fv/Fm and PI between Arta and Keel due to the combination stress were detected three and seven days after treatment start.

Single and combined effects of drought and heat stress on morphological traits

Grain yield and yield components

The effects of drought, heat and combination stress on yield and the yield component traits: spike number, grains per spike and thousand kernel weight were analyzed. Mean grain yield harvested from control conditions in Arta (11.8 g) was significantly higher than the yield harvested from Arta plants subjected to drought (6.0 g), heat (5.6 g), or combination stress (3.2 g) (Figure 8 and Table 9). There was no detected difference in grain yield between Arta plants under drought, heat or combination treatments. For Keel plants, the mean grain yield harvested from control conditions (11.7 g) was also significantly higher than the yield harvested from plants subjected to drought (7.7 g), heat (6.4 g), or combination treatments (2.9 g). The grain yield achieved by Keel under drought (7.7 g) was not different than the yield from heat treatment (6.4 g) but both yields were significantly higher than that from combination treated (2.9 g) plants. The grain yield was not significantly different between Arta and Keel under each of the four conditions.

The first yield component trait to be considered was the number of spikes per plant. Plant spikes were divided into spikes that had developed normally and those that had more than half of the florets aborted. The vast majority of aborted spikes were fully aborted i.e. no grains were present on the spike. Counting the number of aborted spikes was done to assess the amount of yield lost to floret infertility. The total number of non-aborted, fertile spikes present in Arta control plants (19.1) was not significantly different from the number of non-aborted spikes present in heat treated Arta plants (14.8) but it was higher than the number in drought treated (11.6) and combination treated (9.7) Arta plants. The number of spikes in Arta drought, heat, and combination treated plants were not significantly different from each other. In Keel plants, the number of spikes from control treated plants (21.8) was not different than the number of spikes from control treated plants. The number of spikes from drought (15.6) and combination (11.6) treated Keel plants. The number of spikes between heat, drought and combination treated Keel plants were not different. No significant differences in the number of spikes between Arta and Keel plants were present due to the control, drought, heat or combination treatments.



Figure 8. Grain yield of Arta and Keel under control or drought conditions at either 21°C or 36°C. Letters designate statistically similar groups (p<0.05). The two genotypes had similar yields to each other under low temperature, control conditions. The effect of the heat treatment was similar to the effect of the drought treatment in terms of grain yield in both genotypes. The combined effect of the heat and drought treatment reduced yield in Keel more than either treatment alone. Bars are SEM, n=10.

Arta spikes were aborted significantly more due to heat treatment (11.1) and combination treatment (8.8) treatment than due to control (3.5) or drought (3.2) treatments. No difference in the number of aborted spikes was detected between heat and combination treatments or between control and drought treated Arta plants. In Keel plants, significantly more spikes were lost due to the heat (6.1) treatment than were lost due to the control (0.4) or drought treatments (2.1). No difference in the number of aborted spikes was detected between heat and combination (3.3) treatments or between control and drought treated Keel plants. The number of aborted spikes between Arta and Keel under control conditions and under drought conditions was not different from each other. However, heat treated Arta plants (11.1) had significantly more spikes aborted than Keel heat treated plants (6.1). More spikes were also aborted in combination treated Arta plants (8.8) than were aborted in combination treated Keel plants (8.3).

Together, the number of spikes per plant and the number of grains per spike dictates the number of grains produced in a plant. No differences in the mean number of grains per spike were detected in Arta plants between control (12.2), heat (10.7), drought (11.2), and combination (10.8) treatments. Additionally, no differences in the grains per spike were detected in Keel plants between control (12.1), heat (10.4), drought (11.3), and combination (10.0) treatments. The number of grains per spikes was not different between Arta and Keel due to any of the treatments.

The thousand kernel weight is a measurement of kernel size and is the third yield component trait considered here. The number of grains per plant and the mean weight of individual kernels together dictate grain yield. The mean thousand kernel weight of Arta control plants (50.2 g) was not different from the kernel weight of drought treated Arta plants (46.0 g) but both weights were significantly higher than the thousand kernel weight of heat treated (35.5 g) and combination treated (29.9 g) Arta plants (**Table 9**). No difference in thousand kernel weight was detected between heat treated Arta plants and combination treated Arta plants. In Keel plants, the thousand kernel weight of control plants (44.1 g) were also similar to drought treated plants (44.5 g) and both weights were significantly higher than heat treated (30.4 g) and combination treated (26.3 g) Keel plants. The thousand kernel weight of heat treated and combination treated Keel plants were not different from each other. Under control conditions, the thousand kernel weight of Arta plants (50.2 g) was significantly higher than Keel plants (44.1) but the thousand kernel weight between Arta and Keel plants were not different due to any of the other treatments.

In summary, the drought, heat and combination treatments all resulted in significant losses in grain yield compared to control conditions in both genotypes. The losses due to the drought treatment were not significantly different from the losses due to heat treatment. The loss in grain yield due to combination treatment was significantly higher than the losses due to the drought and heats treatments in Keel plants but not in Arta plants. The number of spikes per plant affected by the drought treatment and combination treatment but not by the heat treatment as compared to controls in both genotypes. A significant number of spikes were aborted in both genotypes due to the heat treatment but not due to

the drought treatment as compared to control conditions. Neither drought, heat, nor combination treatment had an effect on the number of grains per spike in either genotype as compared to control conditions. The thousand kernel weight in heat and combination treated plants was significantly decreased in both genotypes compared to their respective controls. Comparing values between genotypes revealed significantly more aborted spikes in Arta plants than Keel plants due to the heat and combination treatments. Additionally, under control conditions only, Arta plant had a significantly higher thousand kernel weight than Keel plants.

Agronomic traits

Morphological changes caused by drought and heat treatments are depicted in the representative photographs of Arta and Keel plants taken after seven days of heat treatment of control and drought treated plants (**Figure 9**). Under control conditions, Arta plants had more and broader leaves than Keel plants. Under control temperatures, drought treated Arta plants were noticeably smaller than the control Arta plants and showed signs of chlorosis while drought treated Keel plants did not show obvious phenotypic differences to Keel plants grown under control conditions. At high temperatures, both control Arta plants and drought treated Arta plants exhibited considerable wilting and chlorosis. In comparison, Keel plants at high temperatures also showed signs of wilting and leaves were lighter green than under control temperatures. Additionally, heat treated Keel plants were more prone to lodging than Keel plants grown at control temperatures.

The above ground biomass is the total amount of plant material that can be recovered from the field and has value as fodder for livestock. The mean above ground biomass of control Arta plants (20.7 g) was not different from the biomass of heat treated (18.7 g) plants but both weights were significantly higher than drought treated Arta plants (13.6 g) and combination treated Arta plants (12.3 g) (**Table 9**). No significant difference between drought treated Arta plants and combination treated Arta plants was detected. In Keel plants, there was no difference between the mean biomass of control plants (20.2 g) and heat treated plants (18.6 g) but the biomass of drought treated plants (15.1 g) and combination treated (9.8 g) were both significantly lower than control plants. Additionally, the biomass of combination treated Keel plants was significantly lower than drought treated Keel plants. No differences in the biomass due to any of the treatments were detected between Arta and Keel plants.

The biomass measurements and grain yield measurements were used to calculate the harvest index; the proportion of the above ground biomass invested into grains. The harvest index of control Arta plants (0.56) was significantly higher than drought treated (0.44), heat treated (0.29), and combination treated (0.25) Arta plants (**Table 9**). No differences in the harvest index were detected

between heat treated and combination treated Arta plants but both values were significantly lower than the harvest index of drought treated plants. In Keel, the mean harvest index of control plants (0.57) was not different from drought plants (0.51) but both values were significantly higher than the harvest index of heat treated (0.35) and combination treated plants (0.30). No significant differences in the harvest index were detected between heat treated and combination treated Keel plants. No differences in the harvest index due to any of the treatments were detected between Arta and Keel plants.

The time taken for a barley plant to mature is important because it dictates how long the plant must remain in the field before harvest. There were neither differences in the days to maturity between treatments for either genotype nor differences between Arta and Keel due to any of the treatments. The mean number of days to maturity ranged from 88 to 97 days after transfer of the plants to LD conditions (**Table 9**).

The plant height of control Arta plants (49.6 cm) were not different from heat treated Arta plants (44.9 cm). However, control Arta plants were significantly taller than drought treated (38.9 cm) and combination treated (42.8 cm) Arta plants (**Table 9**). Combination treated Arta plants were not different from drought or heat treated Arta plants in terms of plant height. The mean plant height of Keel control plants (52.5 cm) was neither different from drought treated (49.9 cm) nor heat treated (50.8 cm) Keel plants but control plants were significantly taller than combination treated Keel plants (45.3 cm). Heat treated Keel plants (50.8 cm) were significantly taller than heat treated Arta plants (44.9 cm) and drought treated Keel plants (49.9 cm) were also significantly taller than drought treated Arta plants (38.9 cm).

The peduncle extrusion, or Pedex, is a measurement of the distance between the flag leaf collar and the spike bottom and can be negative when the spike remains booted in the leaf sheath. The amount of Pedex is partially dependent on the development of the peduncle, the last node to elongate. There were neither significant differences in the mean Pedex between treatments for either genotype nor differences between Arta and Keel due to any of the treatments. Mean Pedex values ranged from -6.8 cm to -3.7 cm.



Figure 9. Representative Arta and Keel plants after seven days of control (21°C) or high (36°C) temperature and with the soil water content at control (50% SWC) or drought (15% SWC) levels. Each four liter pot contains three plants.

The water used by the potted plants was recorded starting when the plants were moved into LD conditions and stopped when the plants were mature. The water used by Arta was significantly lower in drought and combination treated plants (3.45 I and 3.61 I, respectively) than in control and heat treated plants (7.54 I and 7.65 I, respectively). This difference was also exhibited in Keel plants where drought and combination treated plants (3.42 I and 3.21 I, respectively) used less water than control and heat

treated plants (6.70 l and 6.65 l). No difference in the water use due to any of the treatments was detected between Arta and Keel plants.

Water use efficiency, the amount of yield per water used, was not different between Arta control plants (1.6 g/l) and Arta drought treated plants (1.8 g/l) but both values were significantly higher than the mean water use efficiency of heat treated (0.7 g/l) and combination treated (0.9 g/l) Arta plants. The water use efficiency between heat treated and combination treated Arta plants were not different from each other. For Keel plants, the water use efficiency of control plants (1.7 g/l) was not different than drought treated plants (2.3 g/l) but both were significantly higher than the water use efficiency of heat treated (0.9 g/l) plants. The water use efficiency between heat treated (0.9 g/l) plants. The water use efficiency between heat treated plants (2.3 g/l) but both were significantly higher than the water use efficiency of heat treated (1.0 g/l) and combination treated (0.9 g/l) plants. The water use efficiency between heat treated and combination treated treated treated and combination treated treated (0.9 g/l) plants. The water use efficiency between heat treated and combination treated Keel plants were not different from each other. No differences in the water use efficiency due to any of the treatments were detected between Arta and Keel plants.

In summary, the agronomic traits had different responses to the control, drought, heat and combination treatments. Compared to controls, plant height, biomass and water use were all significantly decreased due to drought and combination treatment but not due to heat treatments. Conversely, harvest index and water use efficiency were both significantly lowered due to the heat and combination treatments but not due to the drought treatment. Pedex and days to maturity were not different from controls due to drought, heat, or combination treatments.

Phenotypic variation of traits due to main and interacting effects of the genotype and treatments

The variation of traits due to the fixed effect of genotype, soil water content (SWC), ambient temperature, the interaction between the three fixed effects, all possible pair wise combinations of the fixed effects and the random effect of the experimental replication, were considered for Arta and Keel plants by use of ANOVA. The effect of temperature (heat treatment) explained a significant proportion of the variation for 21 traits, soil water content (drought treatment) explained 17 traits, and genotype had a significant effect on 13 traits (**Table 10**). A list of traits considered in the analysis and the abbreviations used in this text are found in (**Table 6**). The random effect of the experimental replication explained a significant proportion of the variance for 14 traits. Each of the pair wise interactions of the fixed effects explained a significant proportion of variation for several traits; eight traits were affected by the interaction of SWC and temperature, five traits by the interaction of genotype and temperature and four traits by interaction of genotype and SWC. The interaction of all three main effects explained a significant proportion of the variation for three traits. The effect of the temperature explained a significant amount of the variation for more traits than genotype or SWC. Traits affected by temperature included: grain yield, biomass, harvest index, plant height, spike number, aborted spikes, thousand kernel weight, days to maturity, water use efficiency, leaf temperature at all three time points, RWC at all three time points, Fv/Fm at all three time points and PI at all three time points. Of the temperature responsive traits, the greatest amount of variance explained was for leaf temperature at the three time points with percent explained variances ranging from 85.6% to 95.6%. The least amount of significant variance was explained for plant height (3.8%).

The effect of the soil water content explained a significant amount of the variation for the traits: grain yield, biomass, harvest index, plant height, Pedex, spike number, grains per spike, thousand kernel weight, water use, water use efficiency, leaf temperature at all three time points, RWC_3, RWC_7, Fv/Fm_1 and Fv/Fm_7. Of these traits, the greatest amount of variance explained by the soil water content was for water use (76.9%) and biomass (56.7%); the least amount of significant variance was explained for leaf temperature three days after the onset of the heat stress (LT_3) (0.2%).

The effect of the genotype explained a significant amount of the variation for the traits: harvest index, plant height, Pedex, spike number, aborted spikes, thousand kernel, water use, water use efficiency, days to maturity, water use, water use efficiency, Fv/Fm at all three time points, and PI_7. Of these traits, the greatest amount of variance explained by the genotype was for plant height (23.5%) and the least amount for the traits water use (1.8%) and Fv/Fm_7.

The random effect of the experimental replication explained a significant proportion of the variance for the traits: days to maturity (63.4%), RWC_1 (35.6%), harvest index (15.5%), aborted spikes (6.5%), number of spikes (10.3%), grain yield (8.1%), RWC_7 (8.0%), water use (7.6%), LT_7 (7.1%), Fv/Fm_7 (3.0%), Fv/Fm_7 (3.0%), LT_1 (2.5%) and LT_3 (1.2%).

By looking at the interaction between effects, synergistic changes in traits can be identified. Of the four interaction effects tested, the interaction effect between soil water content and temperature explained a significant proportion of variation for the highest number of traits: PI_7 (7.2%), Fv/Fm_7 (6.7%), PI_3 (3.7%), RWC_7 (2.9%), aborted spikes (3.3%), Fv/Fm_3 (1.7%), grain yield (1.5%), LT_7 (1.1%) and LT_1 (0.1%). The interaction effect between genotype and temperature explained a significant proportion of variation for the traits: Fv/Fm_7 (6.9%), PI_3 (5.3%), Fv/Fm_3 (3.7%) aborted spikes (3.1%) and LT_7 (0.5%). The interaction effect between genotype and soil water content explained a significant proportion of variation for the traits: PI_3 (4.5%), Fv/Fm_3 (3.3%), Fv/Fm_7 (3.1%), and PI_7 (0.7%). The interaction effect of genotype, soil water content, and temperature explained a significant amount of variation in the traits plant height (6.3%), Fv/Fm_7 (3.7%) and LT_1 (0.5%).

Overall, the temperature treatment had a significant effect on more traits than the drought treatment. The temperature treatment had the strongest effect on physiological traits, followed by the drought treatment and then the genotype. Of the fourteen traits that temperature and the soil water content both had significant effects on, more variation was explained by the effect of the temperature for ten of the traits. Of the eleven traits that the temperature and genotype both had significant effects on, more variation was explained by the traits. Of the eight traits that the soil water content both had significant effects of the temperature for nine of the traits. Of the eight traits that the soil water content both had significant effects on, more variation was explained by the effect of the temperature for nine of the traits. Of the eight traits that the genotype and the soil water content both had significant effects on, more variation was explained by genotype for four of the traits.

Phenotypic correlation of traits to grain yield under control and high temperature treatments

Spearman's rank correlations for traits measured in Arta and Keel were calculated separately for plants grown at a control temperature of 21°C and a high temperature of 36°C (**Table 8**). Heat and control temperature treated plants were chosen for the correlation analysis because the heat treatment explained more of the variance in the traits than the drought treatment (**Table 10**). For simplicity, not all traits were included in the analysis; traits that are measured based on grain yield (e.g. harvest index) were omitted and physiological traits measured three days after the start of the treatment were chosen as representatives for all three time points.

The traits biomass, total spike number, thousand kernel weight, water use, and RWC_3 were significantly and positively correlated to grain yield under both temperature treatments. Plant height, Pedex, and grains per spike were positively correlated to grain yield only when grown at 21°C. Under control temperatures, biomass was positively correlated to: plant height, Pedex, spike number, thousand kernel weight, water use and RWC_3. Under high temperature treatment, biomass was also positively correlated to Pedex, spike number, thousand kernel weight, water use and RWC_3.

Plant height positively correlated to Pedex, spike number, and water use under control temperatures but not the heat treatment. However, plant height was negatively correlated to LT_3 under the heat treatments. Pedex was positively correlated to water use and thousand kernel weight but negatively correlated to PI_3 under control temperatures. The spike number was positively correlated to water use under control and high temperatures and to RWC_3 under control temperature. The number of grains per spike was correlated to thousand kernel weight under control temperature but not under high temperature. Thousand kernel weight was positively correlated to water use under control and high temperature treatments. Under the heat treatment, thousand kernel weight was positively correlated to PI_3 and positively correlated to RWC_3 under control temperature. In the presence of control and high

55

temperature water use was correlated to RWC_3. Leaf temperature was negatively correlated to RWC_3 and PI_3 under high temperature.

In summary, more positive correlations were found between traits in plants grown at 21°C than in plants grown at 36°C. Additionally, when correlations were found between the same traits under both temperature treatments the coefficients were often higher under control temperature. However, some traits were correlated exclusively in heat treated plants, these correlations were between: thousand kernel weight and Pedex, biomass and PI_3, PI_3 and thousand kernel weight, LT_3 and RWC_3, and LT_3 and PI_3.

Table 8. Spearman's rank correlation coefficients for phenotypic traits measured in both genotypes under control (21°C) or high(36°C) temperatures. Values above the diagonal are from control temperature conditions while values below the diagonal arefrom high temperature conditions. Significant (p<0.05) coefficients are underlined.</td>

	GY	BM	PH	Pedex	SN	GS	TKW	WU	LT_3	RWC_3	PI_3
GY		<u>0.88</u>	<u>0.46</u>	<u>0.33</u>	<u>0.86</u>	<u>0.35</u>	<u>0.45</u>	<u>0.68</u>	-0.02	<u>0.53</u>	-0.23
BM	<u>0.76</u>		<u>0.43</u>	<u>0.32</u>	<u>0.79</u>	0.31	<u>0.38</u>	<u>0.65</u>	-0.26	<u>0.56</u>	-0.23
PH	0.10	0.27		<u>0.43</u>	<u>0.40</u>	0.16	-0.06	<u>0.35</u>	-0.15	0.10	-0.08
Pedex	0.18	<u>0.32</u>	0.28		0.17	0.23	0.15	<u>0.43</u>	0.02	0.07	<u>-0.45</u>
SN	<u>0.88</u>	<u>0.65</u>	0.13	-0.02		-0.10	0.12	<u>0.58</u>	-0.01	<u>0.50</u>	-0.14
GS	0.20	-0.05	-0.01	0.21	-0.16		<u>0.51</u>	0.27	-0.12	0.12	-0.06
TKW	<u>0.38</u>	<u>0.61</u>	-0.02	<u>0.37</u>	0.10	-0.01		<u>0.35</u>	0.14	<u>0.35</u>	-0.14
WU	<u>0.67</u>	<u>0.78</u>	0.07	0.25	<u>0.53</u>	0.12	<u>0.44</u>		0.15	<u>0.52</u>	-0.31
LT_3	-0.04	-0.16	<u>-0.33</u>	-0.04	-0.02	0.13	-0.12	-0.17		-0.25	-0.21
RWC_3	<u>0.33</u>	<u>0.37</u>	0.19	0.24	0.29	-0.03	0.27	<u>0.37</u>	<u>-0.35</u>		0.11
PI 3	0.20	0.48	0.17	0.22	0.09	-0.09	0.54	0.31	-0.37	0.30	

GY grain yield, BM biomass, PH plant height, Pedex peduncle extrusion, SN spike number, GS grains per main spike, TKW thousand kernel weight, WU water use, LT_3 leaf temperature 3 days after treatment start, RWC_3 leaf relative water content 3 days after treatment start, PI_3 performance index 3 days after treatment start.

Mapping and characterization of the barley leaf proteome

For the creation of a barley leaf proteome map, protein spots were picked from 2D-gels, tryptically digested, and subsequently identified via peptide mass fingerprinting and tandem mass spectrometry. Automated protein spot picking was limited to spots detectable by Coomassie staining as silver staining was not compatible with the trypsin digestion. Spot detection on stained gels (**Figure 10**) revealed a total of 525 distinct spots that were submitted for identification by peptide mass finger printing and subsequent peptide fragmentation analysis. Mascot searches against the Uniprot database for *Hordeum vulgare* or the DFCI Barley Gene Index database allowed a total of 296 proteins from the 525 spots detected to be identified. The 296 identified spots were matched to a total of 145 databases accessions.

Spots identified with the same protein accession were considered to be isoforms of each other. Sixty-two of the proteins identified in the barley leaf proteome had isoforms present.

To better understand the bias of the barley leaf proteins identified in this manner, the cell component gene ontology terms for all proteins were compared to a background consisting of all terms present for barley proteins in the UniProt database using a singular enrichment analysis (SEA). Based on the gene ontology terms, over half of the identified proteins were present in intracellular compartments (59%), the cytoplasm (52%), as well as in organelles (51%) and were significantly enriched compared to the background (22%, 9% and 15% respectively) (**Figure 11**). The largest enrichment was for the term plastid, which was present in 45% of leaf proteins and in less than 2% of background proteins. Additional cellular component terms enriched in the barley leaf proteome as compared to the background were: membrane (31% vs. 14%), envelope (16% vs. 1%), macromolecular complex (15% vs. 7%), extracellular region (12% vs. 2%) and mitochondrion (5% vs. 1%).

In summary, the majority of protein spots were able to be identified via mass spectrometry and Mascot searches using two barley databases containing transcript and protein data. Based on the presence of spots being matched to the same protein accession, isoforms were detected for several of the proteins. A comparison of the peptides identified in the barley leaf proteome to all proteins in the barley Uniprot database revealed an enrichment of intracellular, cytoplasmic and organellular proteins as well as proteins in other cellular compartments.

Quantification of differentially expressed proteins

In order to quantify differences in protein accumulation due to heat and drought treatments, the barley leaf proteome was visualized using difference gel electrophoresis (DIGE). Leaf samples harvested three days after treatment start were used for DIGE. Samples from this time point were chosen based on the RWC and PI measurements (**Figure 7**); three days after treatment start was the first time point where the combination treatment resulted in significant drops in RWC in both genotypes compared to controls as well as the first time point where significant differences in the PI were detected between Arta and Keel due to the combination treatment. Separation of proteins fluorescently labeled with CyDyes was achieved in the first dimension using immobilized pH gradient gels with a pH range of 3-10 followed by a separation in the second dimension using 12% SDS-PAGE. Spot detection on a composite fluorescent image consisting out of all gel images allowed 1005 distinct spots to be resolved. A representative fluorescent image of a gel used in the analysis is seen in **Figure 12**.



Figure 10. Representative coomassie stained 12% SDS-PAGE containing 400 µg total leaf protein. Numbered arrows represent spots that were identified by MS and significantly regulated between conditions or between genotypes as listed in Table 11.



Figure 11. Singular enrichment analysis of cellular component gene ontology terms present in the barley leaf proteome as identified by MS compared to all terms present in Uniprot entries for *Hordeum vulgare*.

Based on the results from the three way ANOVA and subsequent correction for the false discovery rate, 305 spots were found to be significantly differentially regulated by the heat treatment, 473 spots were significantly different between genotypes and 35 spots were significantly different due to the interaction between temperature and genotype. However, no spots were found to be significantly regulated by the drought treatment after correction for the false discovery rate. Of the 473 spots differentially regulated between Arta and Keel, 196 of these were among the 305 temperature responsive spots.

Of the 305 spots found to be differentially regulated by temperature 99 were identified via mass spectrometry, 32 of which were down-regulated and 67 of which were up-regulated. Of the 473 spots found to be differentially regulated between genotypes 125 were identified, 90 of which were down regulated in Keel and 35 of which were down regulated in Arta. Of the proteins controlled by a significant interaction effect of the genotype and heat treatment, fourteen were identified, thirteen of which were down regulated under heat treatment in Keel and ten of which were also down regulated under control temperature in Keel. All differentially regulated proteins were placed into categories based on their gene ontology (GO) biological function.



Figure 12. Representative fluorescent image of a 12% SDS-PAGE DIGE gel containing 50 µg leaf total protein labeled with Cy3. First dimension separation was achieved using pH 3-10 IPG strips

Differential regulation of proteins in response to heat treatments

Both Arta and Keel plants were affected by heat treatments on the physiological and morphological level as seen in the phenotyping results. To gain an overview of which processes were affected by the heat treatment on the protein level, the differentially regulated proteins were assigned, when possible, to groups based on their biological functions. The biological functions of heat responsive proteins, as described by plant GO slim terms, were diverse. The functions included roles in metabolic processes, photosynthesis, transport, response to abiotic stimulus, and response to stress (**Table 11**). The percent of proteins in each functional group can be seen in **Figure 13A**; groups smaller than 3% were placed together into the category 'other'. The most frequent protein function was in the broad category of metabolism; 17% of heat responsive proteins were assigned to this function. Other heat responsive proteins were assigned to more specific metabolic functions; 7% in carbohydrate metabolism, 6% in protein metabolism, 5% in nucleobase-containing compound metabolism and 3% in lipid metabolism. The total percentage of proteins assigned to any metabolic function was 38%.

The regulation factor (RF), the log2-transformed fold change in the normalized spot intensity, was calculated for plants grown at 36°C over plants grown at 21°C, regardless of the drought treatment or genotype. Of the 17% of heat-responsive proteins with functions in general metabolism the majority (12 out of 16) were up-regulated due to the heat treatment with RFs ranging from 1.15 to 1.65; the down-regulated proteins had RFs from -1.22 to -1.37.

Carbohydrates play integral roles in energy storage and structural components. Carbohydrate metabolism proteins represented 7% of the heat-responsive proteins and were almost equally up or down-regulated due to the heat treatment; four were up-regulated with RFs ranging from 1.22 to 1.68 and three were down-regulated with RFs ranging from -1.17 to -1.47. Protein metabolism includes processes involving specific proteins and protein modification. The protein metabolic proteins that responded to the heat treatment were primarily up-regulated with five spots with RFs ranging from 1.99 to 3.14 and one spot with a RF of -1.43. Nucleobase-containing compound metabolic processes are those that involve nucleosides or nucleic acids such as DNA or RNA. Of the five nucleobase-containing compound metabolic protein spots, three were up-regulated due to the heat treatment with RFs ranging from 1.22 to 1.68 and two were down-regulated with RFs of -1.15 and -1.34. The protein spots with functions in lipid metabolism were all down-regulated due to the heat treatment with RFs ranging from -2.21 to -2.72.

The sixteen heat responsive proteins with roles in photosynthesis were all up-regulated with RFs of 1.21 to 1.82 except one, which was down-regulated by a factor of -1.37. A total of fifteen proteins with functions in transport were differentially regulated due to the heat treatment. Twelve of the fifteen transport proteins were up-regulated due to the heat treatments with RFs ranging from 1.09 to 1.81, while the other three were down-regulated with RFs ranging from -1.19 to -1.30.

The functional group 'response to abiotic stimulus' included any protein known to change plant activity due to abiotic signals. Therefore, it should be noted that this group could contain proteins that also match other GO biological function categories. This group represented 13% of the heat responsive proteins. In contrast to the other groups, the majority of proteins in this group were down-regulated due to the heat treatment. The eight down-regulated proteins had RFs ranging from -1.21 to -1.88 while the RFs of the five up-regulated proteins ranged from 1.68 to 6.65. The intensity of spot 773 in each of the
24 images used for the analysis can be seen in **Figure 14**. Spot 773 had an RF of 4.62 one of the highest of all heat-responsive proteins. Under control temperature spot 773 was virtually undetectable by the human eye regardless of the drought treatment but the spot intensity significantly increased due to heat treatment and intensified due to combined treatment as compared to heat treatment alone.



Figure 13. Distribution of biological functions of identified proteins that were differentially regulated due to A, the heat treatment or due to B, the genotype. Functional annotation was based on plant gene ontology slim terms.

Eight proteins with annotated biological functions in stress response were significantly induced by the heat treatment, the majority of which were up-regulated. The six up-regulated proteins had RFs ranging from 1.44 to 2.90 and the two down-regulated proteins had RFs of -1.28 and -2.07. Three proteins with annotated functions in translation were found to be heat responsive with RFs of -1.39, 1.73 and 2.41. The heat responsive proteins placed into the group 'other' contained one up-regulated catabolic protein (RF of 1.33) and a down regulated protein with functions in carbon utilization.

In summary, the general trend of heat responsive proteins was to be up-regulated due to the heat treatment. The heat responsive proteins were placed into ten categories based on their biological GO functions: general metabolism, carbohydrate metabolism, protein metabolism, nucleobase metabolism, lipid metabolism, photosynthesis, transport, response to stimulus, response to stress and translation. Proteins in the categories carbohydrate metabolism and nucleobase-containing compound metabolism did not follow the general trend as proteins in these groups were near equally up and down-regulated due to the heat treatment. The groups lipid metabolism and response to abiotic stimulus did not follow the general trend either; proteins in the two groups were predominantly down regulated due to the heat stress.



Figure 14. Intensity of spot 773, identified as Rubisco activase B, in each of the DIGE fluorescent images. Outlines represent the area considered by the quantification software for calculating the normalized spot intensity.

Differential protein expression due to genotype

Protein spots that had a significant proportion of their normalized intensity explained by the genotype were considered to be genotype dependent proteins. Of the 125 identified genotype dependent proteins, 24% had a GO biological function relating to general metabolic processes. Additional genotype dependent proteins had more specific metabolic functions in carbohydrate metabolism (11%) and protein metabolism (4%) (**Figure 13B**). In total, 39% of the genotype dependent proteins had functions pertaining to metabolism. The other biological function groups represented in the genotype dependent

data set were photosynthesis (18%), transport (13%), response to stimulus (11%), and response to stress (10%).

The regulation factor (RF) was calculated for Keel plants over Arta plants, regardless of the treatment. The majority (19 out of 27) of the proteins with broad functions in metabolism were down-regulated in Keel as compared to Arta with RFs ranging from -1.23 to -2.39. The eight down-regulated proteins had RFs ranging from 1.26 to 2.04.

Similar to proteins assigned to general metabolism, the majority (11 out of 13) of proteins with functions in carbohydrate metabolism were down-regulated in Keel. The down-regulated proteins had RFs ranging from -1.15 to -2.45 and the two up-regulated proteins had RFs of 1.37 and 1.50. The five proteins with functions in protein metabolic processes were all down-regulated in Keel and had RFs ranging from -1.35 to -3.10.

The majority of the proteins differentially expressed between genotypes with functions in photosynthesis were up-regulated in Keel; 14 were up-regulated and 6 were down-regulated. The down regulated proteins had RFs ranging from -1.11 to -1.57. The up-regulated proteins had RFs ranging from 1.22 to 2.53.

Most proteins with functions in transport were down-regulated in Keel (11 out of 15). The downregulated proteins had RFs ranging from -1.19 to -3.88. The up-regulated proteins in Keel had RFs ranging from 1.35 to 1.51.

Ten out of twelve proteins with functions in abiotic stress response were down-regulated in Keel. The down-regulated proteins had RFs ranging from -1.12 to -3.23 and the two up-regulated proteins had RFs of 1.41 and 1.56.

All but one of the eleven differently regulated proteins with functions in stress response were down-regulated in Keel. The down regulated proteins had RFs ranging from -1.17 to -1.76 and the one up-regulated protein had an RF of 1.85. The remainder of proteins differentially regulated between genotypes had biological functions in translation, cellular homeostasis, carbon utilization or had no known biological function assigned to them and were primarily down-regulated in Keel.

The overall trend in the genotype dependent proteins was that they were down-regulated in Keel plants as opposed to Arta plants. This trend was seen for proteins with biological roles in general metabolism, carbohydrate metabolism, protein metabolism, transport, abiotic stimulus response, and stress response. However, for proteins with roles in photosynthesis the trend was reversed and the majority of proteins were up-regulated in Keel.

Interacting effects of genotype and heat on protein abundance

The distribution of biological functions of proteins differentially regulated due to the heat treatment and due to genotype was similar to one another. In both datasets, the three groups represented the most were metabolism, photosynthesis and transport. This similarity is partially due to the fact that 65 of the identified protein spots detected as being differentially regulated between heat treatments were also detected as being differentially regulated betweer, only some of these spots were regulated due to interaction effects between the heat treatment and the genotype.

Fourteen spots with a significant proportion of the variance in their intensity explained by the interaction between genotype and temperature were identified (**Table 13**). Of the fourteen spots with genotype by temperature interacting effects, three had biological functions in general metabolism, two in carbohydrate metabolism, one in protein metabolism, one in nucleobase-containing metabolism, one in responding to abiotic stimulus, two in translation, and three in transport. The remaining spot did not have a known biological function. These proteins were placed into two groups based on their expression profiles under control conditions. The first group contained proteins that were not differentially regulated between genotypes under control conditions (**Figure 15**). The second group contained proteins that were differentially regulated between genotypes under control conditions (**Figure 16**).



Figure 15. Spot intensities of proteins with genotype by temperature interacting effects where the spot intensity is not significantly different between genotypes under control conditions. The corresponding protein spot number is written in bold. Letter subscripts delineate significantly (p < 0.05) different mean spot intensities. n=6, error bars are SEM.

The first group contained six protein spots with interaction effects: 533, 592, 594, 703, 809 and 859 which were not differentially regulated between genotypes under control conditions (**Figure 15**). The protein spots 533, 592 and 594 were up-regulated by the heat treatment in both genotypes but significantly more in Arta than in Keel. The spots 703 and 859 were only up-regulated under heat treatment in Arta. The remaining protein spot, 809 was differentially regulated in both genotypes under the heat treatment as compared to controls but in different directions; the intensity at 36°C was lower in Arta and higher in Keel.



Figure 16. Spot intensities of proteins with genotype by temperature interacting effects where the spot intensity is significantly different between genotypes under control conditions. The corresponding protein spot number is written in bold. Letter subscripts delineate significantly (p < 0.05) different mean spot intensities. n=6, error bars are SEM.

The second group contained eight protein spots with interaction effects: 83, 330, 576, 622, 711, 713, 780, and 799 which were significantly different between genotypes under control temperatures (**Figure 16**). The protein spots 576 and 713 were in higher abundance in Arta than in Keel but were not responsive to the heat treatment in Arta. However, the proteins spots 576 and 713 were down-regulated

in Keel due to the heat treatment. In spots 83, 330, 780 and 799, Arta control samples were significantly higher than Keel control samples and were detected to be significantly up-regulated under the heat treatment in Arta only. The protein spot 662 was up-regulated by the heat treatment in both genotypes but significantly more in Arta than in Keel and the spot 703 was up-regulated under heat treatment in Arta only.

In summary, 14 proteins were identified which reacted differently to the temperature treatments in Arta and Keel. Such interactions included proteins that were responsive to the heat treatment in only one genotype or were responsive in both genotypes but to different extents or in different directions. Additionally, seven heat responsive proteins were seen to be differentially regulated between genotypes at control temperatures.

Discussion

The changes of physiological, morphological and molecular traits due to drought and heat treatments in two barley genotypes were considered in this study. This study showed that the morphological traits were more plastic in their response to the drought treatment than the heat treatment. In contrast, the physiological traits were affected more by the heat treatment than the drought treatment. Some of the detected physiological and morphological responses were unique to one genotype such as the higher abortion rate of spikes in Arta due to the heat treatment. On the molecular level, changes in protein abundance in the leaf proteome were detected due to the heat treatment but not due to the drought treatment. Differential expression of proteins between genotypes was also detected. The majority of heat responsive proteins had functions in metabolism and photosynthesis. The same was found to be true for the proteins differentially regulated between genotypes. In addition, proteins were differentially regulated due to interacting effects had functions in metabolism. Characterizing multiple levels of plant performance under heat and drought stress will advance our understanding of how different physiological, morphological and molecular responses interact to maintain cellular homeostasis and continue plant growth.

Morphological traits were more plastic under drought than under high temperature

The drought treatment had a stronger effect on the majority of morphological traits as compared to the heat treatment. The morphology of barley was therefore more plastic when challenged with limited water conditions than with high temperature. The morphological traits that exhibited more plasticity

under drought than high temperature were: spike number, grains per spike, biomass, and plant height (**Table 10**). For example, the spike number in Arta was reduced by 39% under drought and by 22% under high temperature as compared to plants under control conditions. Similarly, the biomass was reduced by 34% under drought and by 10% under high temperature in Arta. Not all morphological traits were affected more by the drought treatment than the heat treatment. The traits thousand kernel weight, harvest index and aborted spikes exhibited more plasticity in response to high temperature than to drought. For example, the harvest index ranged from 0.29 to 0.35 under the heat treatment and ranged from 0.44 to 0.51 under the drought treatment (**Table 9**).

In contrast to the present study where grain number was significantly reduced by drought, a study in barley by Savin and Nicolas [72] reported that grain number was not significantly reduced by heat or drought in a simultaneous comparison of the two stresses. In the study by Savin and Nicolas [72], grain weight was reduced by ~5% due to the heat treatment and by ~20% due to the drought treatment which is not in agreement with the present study where the kernel weight was decreased by ~30% due to the heat treatment and up to 8% by the drought treatment. The different effects of heat and drought on grain number and weight between the two studies may be caused by differences in when and how the stress treatments were applied. Thus far, the combined effects of heat and drought on the number of grains per spike, biomass, and plant height have not been reported in barley.

In the study by Savin and Nicolas [72], the stress treatments began 15 days after anthesis as opposed to at anthesis as in the present study. As tillering is suppressed later in barley development [142], the application of drought 15 days after anthesis could have been too late to have an effect on tillering and thus grain number as seen in the present study. The drought treatment by Savin and Nicolas was applied by withholding all water to the plants for 10 days as opposed to maintaining lower soil water content as in the present study. The water withholding used by Savin and Nicolas resulted in a minimum leaf relative water content of 40% as opposed to 75% in the present study which implies that their drought treatment was more severe and could explain the stronger impact of the drought treatment on the kernel weight than in the present study. Savin and Nicolas treated the plants at 40°C for 6 h and 15°C for 18 h a day for 10 days while the present study heat stressed plants at 36°C for 16 h and 32°C for 8 h a day for 7 days. Despite the heat treatment of Savin and Nicolas being more intense by 4°C and lasting 3 days longer, the plants in the current study experienced higher daily mean temperatures of 34.6°C as opposed to 21.5°C in the other study. As shown in a later study by Savin et al. [143], grain weight due to the average heat treatment between the two studies. From the comparison of these two studies, it is

apparent that the timing, intensity and duration of heat and drought treatments can dictate what morphological changes occur, especially in yield component traits.

The heat and drought treatments both resulted in equal reductions in the grain yield. However, yield component traits were affected by the two treatments differently i.e. the drought and heat treatments caused differences in how grain yield was achieved. Significantly fewer spikes were recorded in plants treated with drought but not with high temperature as compared to their respective controls. Conversely, neither the grains per spike nor the fertile spike number were significantly reduced by the heat treatment. Instead, the number of aborted spikes was increased and the thousand kernel weight decreased in heat treated plants.

Reduction in spike number due to the inhibition of tillering is a known reaction to drought [73] [74] but the molecular basis of the inhibition is not established. However, drought induced inhibition of tillering may share similar pathways to the inflorescence induced inhibition of tillering. The repression of tillering that occurs during anthesis is thought to be due to a combination of auxin signaling and resource competition between the apical buds, which form new tillers, and the stem apex [74].

The reduction of kernel weight due to pre-anthesis heat stress was observed in barley, wheat, and triticale [93] and due to post-anthesis heat stress in wheat [143]. The effect of heat on the thousand kernel weight is particularly interesting because the heat treatment had ended before grain filling had started, suggesting that the treatment had persisting effects on the plant. A higher kernel weight confers greater fitness to progeny by increasing seedling early growth vigor [144] and growth potential [145]. Grain filling is primarily dependant on two factors, the capacity to produce photosynthate during the grain filling stage of development [146] and the accumulation of reserves before the grain filling begins [147] [148]. In the present study, grain filling was likely reduced due to damage of the photosynthetic apparatus and due to decreased stem reserves. Senescence of the lower leaves (**Figure 9**) indicated that the ability to photosynthesize was permanently decreased [149]. Additionally, the ability of the higher leaves to photosynthesize, as based on the chlorophyll fluorescence measurements, was likely permanently damaged, as discussed in the next section.

The stem reserves can contribute as much as 70% of the carbon content to the seed during grain filling [150] in barley. Under favorable conditions in wheat, stem reserves are mobilized after anthesis when grain filling is at the maximum rate [151], but mobilization can take place during anthesis if photosynthesis is limited [152]. The reduced photosynthetic capacity caused by the heat treatment, in the present study, could have resulted in premature mobilization of stem reserves leaving less energy stored to mobilize later for grain filling. Evidence of the lowered carbohydrate status of the heat treated

plants was observed in the proteomic data by the up regulation of glycolysis enzymes, which is discussed in more detail in a following section.

The number of fertile spikes and spikes with more than half of the florets aborted (hereafter called aborted spikes) were counted separately. Spikes aborted due to the heat treatment were more numerous than the spikes aborted due to the drought treatment; for example, an average of 11.1 spikes was aborted under the heat treatment but an average of 3.2 was aborted under the drought treatment in Arta plants. Floret fertility and grain setting, as measured by the number of aborted spikes, was reduced under the heat treatment. Reproductive growth is known to be more sensitive to heat stress than vegetative growth in barley. In particular, anthers are prone to growth inhibition and lose the ability to produce pollen when heat stressed [153]. Floret sterility directly affects fitness by reducing the number of grains that a plant is able to produce.

The duration of heat and drought stress and the rate that they are applied can determine the effect stress has on the plant. The drought treatment was applied gradually over two days as compared to the heat treatment which was applied over a span of four hours. Additionally, the drought treatment was maintained from heading until maturity while the heat treatment lasted for a week. Barley plants thus had more time to acclimate to the drought treatment than the heat treatment. Furthermore, the drought treatment persisted through several developmental stages of the plants life (e.g. anthesis, grain filling and maturity) while the heat treatment was applied only during anthesis. The dependence of the response to drought on the abruptness of its application is best exemplified in the work by Talamè et al. [107] which compared the effects of "shock" and gradually increasing drought stress on transcript profiles in barley. The comparison of the two treatments revealed a greater number of differentially regulated transcripts, especially transcripts related to photosynthesis and metabolism, due to the shock treatment as compared to the gradually stressed plants. Talamè et al. also reported that the "shock" treatment caused a lower relative water content (~40%) as compared to gradually increasing drought stress (~ 80%) which suggested that gradually stressed plants were better able to maintain their water status than drought shocked plants. Law and Crafts-Brandner [154] demonstrated in wheat and cotton that the plant's response depends on the severity and rate of application of the stress. They reported that photosynthesis was inhibited more when the temperature was rapidly increased and that photosynthetic acclimation was possible when the temperature was gradually increased. The rate of application of the heat treatment in the present study is perhaps best seen in the number of spikes aborted, the plants had not the time to acclimate to the temperature difference on the physiological level and thus the consequences were drastic, loss of spike fertility that is otherwise crucial to

reproduction [155]. In comparison, the gradual application of the drought treatment used in this study resulted in significantly less spikes being aborted compared the heat treatment.

The duration of the stress treatments can be as important as the rate at which they are applied. The finding that biomass and plant height were not significantly reduced due to the heat treatment indicated that the plants resumed growth rates similar to control plants after the treatment ended. In comparison, the significant decreases in biomass and plant height due to the drought treatment indicated that growth was continuously inhibited. The sustained reduction of leaf growth has been previously reported in Arabidopsis treated with long term mild drought stress [19]. The continuation of growth but the loss of yield during the heat treatment was seen in the reduction of the harvest index which ranged from 0.56 to 0.57 under control conditions and ranged from 0.29 to 0.35 under the heat treatment in Arta and Keel; approximately 45% less grain yield was generated per biomass produced. Additional evidence that growth continued after the heat treatment is the differential effect of heat and drought treatments on the peduncle extrusion. The peduncle extrusion was seen to be significantly affected by the drought treatment but not the heat treatment. As the last node to elongate during development [77], the peduncle length is linked to late developmental growth. Since peduncle extrusion was not affected by the heat treatment, growth continued in those plants while the drought treated plants had a reduction in the peduncle extrusion which signified a reduction in overall growth. The importance of the peduncle extrusion in the present study was seen in its positive correlation to yield, biomass and height under control temperature (Table 8).

In summary, barley morphology is plastic in response to both drought stress and heat stress. Some trait plasticity was exclusive to one treatment, such as the abortion of spikes due to heat stress or the reduction of peduncle extrusion under drought stress. In general, barley morphology was more plastic in its response to drought than to heat. Plasticity can be considered to be adaptive, i.e. to confer fitness to the plant, or to be non-adaptive i.e. to be due to limitations in resources [156]. Characterizing phenotypic plasticity as adaptive or non-adaptive can aid in understanding the value of the trait in environmental acclimation and the evolutionary origin of the plasticity [157].

In this experimental setup, the most accurate indicator of fitness is the grain yield, which is a product of the number and weight of the seeds produced. The reduction in biomass, plant height, and spike number due to drought can be considered adaptive plasticity as the decrease in plant growth is minimizing water use to ensure seed maturation [5]. If reduction in biomass, plant height, and spike number under drought were due solely to limitations in photoassimilate availability then similar reductions in the kernel weight would be expected [158], which was not detected in the present study. Additionally, the adaptive plasticity of plant height and spike number was supported by their significant

positive correlation to grain yield under drought in the RIL population as described in chapter 1. Plasticity in floret fertility is a non-adaptive trait as is appears to be due to the inability to maintain anther growth [153] and results in a loss of fitness though the reduction of seed number. The reduction in thousand kernel weight due to heat can be considered non-adaptive as the reduction was likely due to limitations in photosynthate due to the reduced photosynthetic capacity of senesced lower leaves and impaired photosystem of higher leaves. The traits that had the greatest plasticity under drought: spike number, biomass, and plant height were considered to exhibit adaptive plasticity. The traits with the greatest plasticity under the heat treatment, thousand kernel weight and number of aborted spikes were both considered here to exhibit non-adaptive plasticity.

The application of drought and heat treatments were chosen to simulate how crops experience the two stresses in the field. Gradual drought starting late in the growing season and persisting until harvest are common in marginal environments where barley is cultivated under low input conditions. Additionally, heat waves often cause a rapid rise in temperature that persists for several days [159]. In the present study, the separate application of heat and drought stress as they frequently occur in the field resulted in similar reductions of grain yield. When the two stresses occurred in combination they had an interacting effect on grain yield which resulted in further losses in yield. Considering the shorter duration of the heat treatment, high temperature stress was more detrimental per unit time to the plant than the drought stress. Detrimental effects caused by the heat treatment were in part due to the rate at which it was applied; presumably too fast for the plant to acclimate. Conversely, the gradually applied drought treatment was more amenable to acclimation and detrimental effects from drought were attributed to the duration it persisted.

Physiological traits were negatively impacted by heat stress but not drought stress

The heat treatment explained a larger proportion of the phenotypic variance for each physiological trait than the drought treatment did (**Table 10**). Under the heat treatment, both genotypes had higher leaf temperatures, lower relative leaf water content, reduced maximum quantum efficiency, and reduced overall photosynthetic performance. In contrast, the drought treatment only significantly affected the leaf temperature one day after the start of the treatment and the maximum quantum efficiency three days after the start of the treatment (**Table 9**). Such changes in physiology suggest that the heat treated plants experienced a higher level of stress than the drought treated plants, at least for the duration of the heat treatment. While the effects of heat and drought treatments on plant physiology depend heavily on their duration and rate of application, it is also well established that photosynthesis is the major physiological process impacted by high temperatures [160].

As ambient temperature increases, plants attempt to cool themselves by opening stomata and increasing transpiration [161]. Even if soil water is not limited, the cooling effect of transpiration is dependent on the surrounding humidity as well as the maximal stomatal conductance [162]. In this study, drought treated plants but not heat treated plants maintained leaf temperatures close to those measured under control temperatures. However, the heat treated plants maintained average leaf temperatures below the ambient temperature of 36°C. Under the heat treatment, the leaf temperature was negatively correlated with the leaf relative water content (**Table 8**) which suggested that the increase in transpiration had an effect on the water status of the plant.

The leaf relative water content of heat treated plants was lower than that of drought treated plants. For example, in Arta plants seven days after the start of the treatment, the leaf relative water content was 70.4% at 37°C and was 74.4% at 21°C. This suggests that leaf cooling and avoidance of extreme temperatures had a higher priority than maintaining the water status. This priority is best explained by the previous observation that the optimum temperature for photosynthesis in barley is 20°C and photosynthesis rates are decreased by more than 50% at 35°C [163]. In contrast, the photosynthetic metabolism of drought treated plants is typically not compromised until the relative water content decreases below 75% [164]. The results showed that under the heat treatment, increased transpiration was important to lower the leaf temperature, even at the expense of reduced water status. However, if a plant is subjected to high temperatures and limited water, the balance between leaf temperature and water status shifts; as was seen here in plants subjected to the combination treatment. Combination treated plants, in this study, often had leaf temperatures ~2°C higher and leaf relative water content ~8% lower than heat treated plants. Work by Rizhsky et al. 2002 [92] demonstrated that tobacco plants subjected to a combination of drought stress and heat shock had stomata that remained closed and that the prevention of transpiration resulted in leaf temperatures 2°C to 3°C warmer than plants treated with heat shock alone. Thus, it appeared that as the water status drops to levels that could inhibit photosynthesis, cooling via transpiration occurs less and leaf temperatures rise to ambient temperatures. The leaf temperature of heat stressed plants was negatively correlated to the performance index which suggested (Table 8) that the inability of the plants to sufficiently dissipate heat had noticeable effects on the ability of the plants to photosynthesize.

The maximal quantum efficiency of photosystem II was significantly reduced in heat treated plants but not in drought treated plants, as compared to controls. A reduction in the maximal quantum efficiency suggests permanent damage to the light harvesting complex, oxygen evolving complex, or the

reaction center of photosystem II that results in less energy from absorbed photons being trapped by the reaction center under light saturating conditions [165]. Based on the results here, the light harvesting complex was damaged due to the heat treatment but was unaffected due to the drought treatment. However, trapping of light energy under saturating light conditions as measured by the maximum quantum efficiency represents only one aspect of photosynthesis. The photosynthetic performance index integrates three independent aspects of the photosystem: the proportion of active reaction centers, the probability of trapping the energy of absorbed photons in the reaction center, and the efficiency of transferring trapped energy beyond the primary electron acceptor Qa. Therefore, the performance index is sensitive to changes in the light-independent reactions in addition to changes in the light-dependant reactions. As one of the primary responses to drought is the closure of stomata and the subsequent reduction of carbon dioxide available for light-independent reactions, the performance index is generally considered more suitable for detecting changes in photosynthesis due to drought treatment than the maximal quantum efficiency [166]. While there was an overall trend of the performance index being decreased under the drought treatment as compared to controls, it was not significantly lower. Thus, the drought treatment did not have a detectable effect of photoinhibition and the availability of carbon dioxide was not limited by stomata closure during the time points tested. In contrast, the heat treatment resulted in a significant decrease in the performance index in both genotypes at all three time points which suggests that both the light-dependant and light-independent mechanisms, e.g. carbon fixation, were damaged or inhibited due to high temperature.

The sensitivity of the photosystem to heat stress as compared to drought stress has been previously reported. Three of the physiological traits considered here: performance index, maximum quantum efficiency and relative water content were also measured in a growth chamber drought experiment by Oukarroum et al. [167] where barley plants were withheld water for one week (considered moderate stress) or for two weeks (considered severe stress) starting two weeks after sowing. Based on the reported relative water content (ranging from 67% to 84% in the ten genotypes considered), the moderate stress treatment was most comparable to the drought treatment used here. In their work, neither the performance index nor the maximum quantum efficiency was significantly affected by the moderate drought treatment, which is in agreement with our results. The effect of one and seven days of high temperature stress (40°C) on the performance index of barley seedlings was studied by Kalaji et al. [168]. Despite differences in the barley genotypes and the developmental stage of the plants used in the two experiments, Kalaji et al. 2011 also reported reductions of 40% in the performance index under high temperature conditions as in the present study.

In summary, the heat treatment resulted in leaf temperatures higher than in plants under control conditions. Cooling of the plant to temperatures 1°C to 3°C below the ambient temperature of 36°C was partially achieved, presumably through an increase in transpiration which resulted in a decreased water content of the plant compared to controls or drought treated plants. However, the capacity of the leaves to cool themselves and maintain water status was diminished by the combination treatment. Based on the chlorophyll fluorescence, both light dependant and light-independent reactions of PSII were adversely affected by the heat treatment which implied inhibition or damage of the light harvesting complex and molecular machinery further down the electron transport chain from the primary electron acceptor Qa. In comparison to the heat treatment, the drought treatment did not cause significant changes of physiological traits. The absence of physiological changes due to drought suggests that the plants acclimated to the drought stress primarily through morphological plasticity. The morphological plasticity and physiological responses were sometimes divergent between the two genotypes and potentially represent unique stress adaption mechanisms.

Barley genotypes Arta and Keel respond uniquely to heat and drought treatments

Differences in morphological and physiological traits and how these traits changed under stress between Arta and Keel suggest that the two genotypes have unique mechanisms for coping with environmental stresses. Arta and Keel are each adapted to different environments that experience abiotic stresses at varying times and to varying degrees. Environmental pressures on populations such as barley landraces and cultivars have not only shaped which traits the different populations can exhibit under optimal growth conditions [169] but also the range of trait plasticity that they can exhibit in suboptimal conditions [170]. Morphological traits with the most variance explained by the effect of the genotype were: number of spikes aborted, peduncle extrusion, and plant height (**Table 10**). The physiological trait with the most variance explained by the effect of the genotype was the maximum quantum efficiency.

The major morphological difference between Arta and Keel was the number of spikes aborted due to the heat treatment. The difference in the two genotypes to maintain spike fertility could be due to genotypic differences in the sex organs where Keel plants are hardier under higher temperatures. Difference in floret mortality and grain setting between different barley genotypes has been previously reported between two-row and six-row barley [73] but not between winter and spring barley. Another explanation is that the florets have the same temperature hardiness but Keel was able to better protect the florets from stress. A possible adaptation to protect spikes is keeping them booted within the leaf sheath. Under all conditions Keel plants had a more negative peduncle extrusion than Arta which means that more of the spike was covered by the leaf sheath. A spike covered in this manner receives less solar irradiance which means the floral organs receive less infrared radiation as well as less photosynthetically active radiation. This is especially important during periods of high temperature as the photosystem is more susceptible to light damage [171]. Despite the popularity of measuring peduncle extrusion in agronomic studies [172][47][173][174], it has yet to be tested if the leaf sheath has a protective effect on the florets under heat stress by shielding them from light damage.

Plant height was the trait influenced the most by genotypic effects; over 23% of trait variance was explained by the effect of the genotype in the ANOVA. Under all treatments the trend was for Keel plants to be taller than Arta plants. Under drought conditions, Arta was significantly shorter than under control conditions while Keel was not. This suggested that Arta is more plastic in its stem elongation than Keel. Plasticity in plant height has been documented before in Arta plants grown in drought prone field conditions by Baum et al. [53]. A reduction in plant height can mean less biomass is generated, as seen in the positive correlation between plant height and biomass under control temperatures in this study (**Table 8**). Biomass reduction is a possible drought avoidance mechanism to water limited conditions by generating less of a transpirational surface to lose water from [175] and by minimizing resource use. A negative correlation between plant height and grain yield in barley grown under water limited field conditions has been established in another barley study [47] which implies that inhibition of growth can be advantageous in periods of drought. However, in the present study no significant correlation between plant height and grain yield in barley no significant correlation between plant height treatment was detected (data not shown). In addition to the morphological traits, a difference in photosynthetic performance between the two genotypes was detected.

Genetic variation in maximum quantum efficiency of photosystem II (PSII) was identified across all treatments. The maximum quantum efficiency as measured by chlorophyll fluorescence measures how often the energy from an absorbed photon of light is transferred from the light harvesting complex to the primary electron carrier of PSII, plastoquinone Qa. Under all conditions and at all time points Arta consistently had higher mean maximum quantum efficiency than Keel. Differences in the maximum quantum efficiency between genotypes were significant three and seven days after the start of the treatment under combination stress. Genetic variation in the maximum quantum efficiency has been detected between wheat genotypes [54] and other barley genotypes [176] which supports the suggestion that there is a genetic component to maintaining the efficiency of photosynthesis. On the molecular level, changes in the maximum quantum efficiency can be due to dissociation of the light harvesting complex from the reaction center, damage to the reaction center, changes in the state of the

oxygen evolving complex or to changes in the size of the plastoquinone pool. Changes in several of the proteins involved in the above processes were detected in this study using a proteomic analysis and will be discussed in the next section.

In summary, Arta exhibited more morphological plasticity due to the drought treatment than Keel, while Keel responded more on the physiological level than Arta to the heat treatment. Arta exhibited non-adaptive plasticity in floret fertility, in response to the heat treatment used here, as seen in the increased number of spikes with the majority of florets aborted. The peduncle extrusion of Keel was consistently shorter than Arta and the resulting booted spikes were a possible explanation for the increased floret fertility under the heat stress in Keel as compared to Arta. Plant height was seen to be an adaptive plastic trait in Arta which suggested that growth is more affected by drought in Arta than in Keel. The maximum quantum efficiency of Keel was more sensitive to the heat, drought and especially the combination treatment than Arta. The identification of natural genetic variation in traits relevant for agronomic performance under stress can be utilized in breeding programs. In an attempt to understand the molecular basis of the morphological plasticity and physiological responses observed above, differences in protein abundance between treatments and were quantified in the leaf proteome of Arta and Keel.

Proteomic basis of morphological plasticity and physiological responses to heat stress

The proteomic analysis revealed differences in the barley leaf proteome dependant on the genotype and on the heat treatment but not due to the drought treatment. The heat treatment resulted in the differential expression of 99 proteins (**Table 11**), the majority of which were up-regulated due to the heat treatment. Difference in the genotypes resulted in 123 proteins being differentially regulated with the majority of proteins being down-regulated in Keel as compared to Arta (**Table 12**). The majority of the proteins differentially regulated due to effects of the heat treatment or the genotype had functions in metabolism, photosynthesis and transport (**Figure 13**). However, it should be noted that the distribution of proteins with functions in photosynthesis in the analysis can be due to the tendency for the leaf proteome to be enriched in plastid proteins (**Figure 11**). Following is a discussion of the differently regulated proteins which have potential roles in the morphological plasticity and physiological responses to heat stress observed in this study. Additionally, 14 proteins were detected to be responsive to the heat treatment in a genotype dependant manner (**Table 13**). Proteins regulated by interacting effects between the temperature and genotype are candidates for further study as they are potentially under unique genetic regulation between Arta and Keel in response to stress.

No significant differences in protein abundance were detected under the drought treatment. This suggested that the plants had acclimated to the drought stress before sampling. A model of drought response in Arabidopsis was proposed by Harb et al. [97] in which responses were divided into an early, intermediate, and late stages. The early responses were characterized by perception of the perturbation of homeostasis and subsequent stress signaling. The following intermediate stage was seen as the preparatory stage for acclimation to drought and was characterized by changes in cell well consistency. The late stage of drought acclimation proposed by Harb et al. was characterized by the establishment of a new cellular homeostasis and reduced growth to save energy. Acclimation on the physiological level in the present study was evident in the maintenance of the photosynthesis performance and water status under drought. It appears that the growth of the plants was inhibited in response to the drought until a new homeostatic balance between water uptake and water loss could be maintained. Evidence in the inhibition of growth in response to drought was seen in the plant morphology where plant height, biomass, and spike number were all significantly reduced. The molecular changes responsible for the growth inhibition probably occurred in the days preceding the time point used for the proteome analysis. Future proteome analyses of drought should consider time points earlier than three days after the soil water content of the pots had reached the target of 15%, the so-called early or intermediate stages [97] of drought acclimation. The heat treatment, unlike the drought treatment, resulted in perturbations in plant physiology and significant changes in protein accumulation in the leaf proteome.

One of the most prominent effects of the heat treatment on morphology was the reduction of thousand kernel weight. One proposed reason for the reduction in the kernel weight was the reduction of stem reserves due to early remobilization during the heat stress to compensate for the reduced photosynthetic ability. The proteomic data supports this hypothesis in that several glycolytic proteins: fructose-bisphosphate aldolase (spot 788), [177] glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (spots 327and 330) [178] and triosephosphate isomerase (spot 912) [178] were up regulated under the heat treatment. An increase in glycolysis and a reduction in photosynthetic efficiency as seen in the chlorophyll fluorescence measurements signify a reduction in the pool of carbohydrates available for the storage as reserves in the stem [179].

The chlorophyll fluorescence data showed the reduction of the maximum quantum efficiency due to the heat treatment. The reduction in the maximum quantum efficiency can be due to damage in the light harvesting complex or in the oxygen evolving complex of PSII [180]. The proteomic analysis revealed one structural component of the light harvesting complex, the chlorophyll a-b binding protein of LHCII type III (Lhcb3) in spot 870 as being significantly up-regulated under heat treatment with a regulation factor of 1.75, as compared to controls. A structural component of the oxygen evolving complex, chloroplast oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 1 (PsbO) was identified as being up-regulated in spots 846, 847 and 851. An additional structural component of the oxygen evolving complex, oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 2 (PsbP) was detected to be up-regulated under the heat treatment in spots 97 and 221. These proteins are known sites for damage under stress [181][182]. The apparent up-regulation of Lhcb3, PsbO and PsbP in this study is proposed to be due to the *de novo* synthesis of peptides that are en route to replace them and the lag in degradation of damaged proteins removed from the photosystem. An example of a repair cycle in photosystem II is the maintenance of the D1 subunit [183][184]. The proposed repair cycle of the D1 subunit involves disassembly of the photosystem complex followed by a synchronized replacement and removal of the D1 subunit before the complex is reassembled. Because the subunit is not removed and subsequently degraded until the replacement peptide is poised to be inserted into the complex the amount of protein in the cell is increased for the duration of the repair cycle. Subunits that are repaired more often should therefore appear in higher abundance in the proteome than subunit repaired less often. The up-regulation of Lhcb3, PsbO and PsbP proteins, which are known components of complexes indicated by the chlorophyll fluorescence parameters be damaged by the heat treatment, is therefore likely due to their increased repair.

The chlorophyll fluorescence data revealed the reduction of the performance index due to the heat treatment which is indicative of inhibition of the light-independent reactions of photosynthesis. The protein Rubisco activase B was identified in two spots, 773 and 774, which were both up-regulated under the heat treatment with regulation factors (RFs) of 4.62 and 6.65, respectively. Additionally, Rubisco activase A was indentified in five spots, 721, 724, 763, 765, and 768 that were down-regulated under the heat treatment with RFs ranging from -1.21 to -1.88. The rate limiting step of carbon fixation in the lightindependent reactions is Rubisco. Photorespiration, the oxygenation of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate by Rubisco, occurs more frequently than photosynthesis at elevated temperatures [185]. Rubisco is inhibited by side-products of photorespiration which stabilize the active site in a closed conformation [186]. Rubisco activase frees the catalytic site of Rusbisco from inhibitory sugar phosphates by forcing the active site into a open conformation [187]. Rubisco activases have been characterized on the genomic level in barley [188], wheat [189], rice [190], cotton [191], maize [192] and A. thaliana [193]. In these species, three activase polypeptides are known to exist. Two of the activase polypeptides are present in all of the above species and are alternate splice variants of the gene RcaA. The two RcaA splice variants encode the α -isoform and β -isoform of Rubisco activase A. The two isoforms of activase A are known to be heat inactivated starting at 35°C and have different thermostabilities [194]. The other polypeptide, Rubisco activase B, is encoded by the gene RbaB present in barley, wheat, maize and cotton

but is not known to exist in rice and *A. thaliana*. The thermostability of Rubisco activase B is currently untested or unpublished.

The up-regulation of Rubisco activase B and down-regulation of Rubisco activase A under heat treatment suggests a specific role for Rubisco activase B in maintaining the activity of Rubisco under high temperature conditions, possibly by being more thermostable than Rubisco activase A. In previous studies, the isoforms of Rubisco activase A were neither seen to be differentially regulated by heat on the transcript level in *A. thaliana* [195] nor on the protein level in cotton [196]. Such results are in conflict with the present study in which both isoforms of activase A were down regulated under heat stress. However, Rubisco activase B is known to be induced by heat on the transcript level in wheat [197] and on the protein level cotton [196] which was in agreement with the present study.

The protein spots identified as Rubisco activase B, 773 and 774, resolved differently based on the first dimension, the isoelectric point, but not based on the second dimension, the molecular weight (**Figure 10**). This suggested that two isoforms of Rubisco activase B are present in the barley leaf proteome which differ in a post translational modification that noticeably alters the isoelectric point of the protein but not the mass. One such modification known to shift the isoelectric point of modified proteins with a minimal change in mass is phosphorylation [198]. Such modifications, if confirmed, would be a novel finding for Rubisco activase B. Multiple sub-isoforms of the alternative spliced isoforms of activase A were detected in the present study. Three isoforms of each of the two splice variants of activase A were previously detected in cotton by Law et al. [196]. While the study in cotton also showed the presence of sub-isoforms of activase A, they were not detected to be down-regulated under high temperature treatment. However, the experimental setup used by Law et al. [196] was not designed to be quantitative as in the present study. Altogether, the differential accumulations of the several isoforms of Rubisco activase are candidates to explain the decrease in the performance index and represent an alternative mode of maintaining the activity of Rubisco under high temperatures than what is known to exist in *A. thaliana*.

The differential regulation of 125 proteins between genotypes suggested that Arta and Keel achieve homeostasis through different molecular mechanisms. A comparison of proteins regulated between genotypes and proteins regulated between temperature treatments revealed an overlap of 65 proteins in both datasets which suggested that constitutive differences in Arta and Keel protein levels determine how they respond to heat. For example, a member of the heat shock protein family indentified in spot 939 was down-regulated in Keel compared to Arta with an RF of -1.54 and was up-regulated under high temperature compared to control temperature with a RF of 2.90. As heat shock proteins have known roles as molecular chaperones and assisting protein re-folding (reviewed by Hurang

and Xu [199]), higher constitutive levels of this protein could prime tolerance against heat stress in Arta. Of the 65 protein spots that were detected to have constitutive differences between genotypes and to be heat responsive, some were also detected as having interacting effects between genotype and environment i.e. the proteins responded to the heat treatment in a genotype specific manner.

The 14 protein spots regulated by interacting effects between genotype and environment are of particular interest as they are potential outputs of unique adaptations to heat stress that have evolved between Arta and Keel. To better understand how the heat responsive proteins were regulated between the two genotypes, the 14 proteins were grouped based on their abundance under control temperatures. The first group, represented in **Figure 15**, consists of proteins that had similar expression between genotypes under control temperatures and the second group, represented in **Figure 16**, consists of proteins that had significantly different expression between genotypes under control conditions. If the proteins in the second group indeed convey heat tolerance, their constitutive expression may prime the plant to respond to heat by maintaining high expression even under control temperatures. However, constitutive expression of tolerance genes is known to reduce fitness under non-stress conditions [200]. Therefore, proteins from the first group, which appear to be induced in both genotypes only when needed, are considered for discussion below.

One example of a protein in the first group that may convey an advantageous adaptation to heat stress is elongation factor G. Elongation factor G (spot 533) was significantly up-regulated in response to the heat treatment in Arta compared to Keel. Elongation factor G has been the subject of intense study due to its role in translation where it is known to catalyze the translocation tRNA within the ribosome. However, more recent studies have proposed an additional role for elongation factor G as a molecular chaperone. Caldas et al. [201] demonstrated that bacterial elongation factor G could increase the refolding of proteins *in vitro* and protect them from thermal denaturation. If such chaperone abilities exist for elongation factor G *in vivo* in plants then this protein would have a dual role in protein synthesis and protecting proteins from heat induced inactivation. Therefore, increased expression of elongation factor G in Arta could convey additional heat tolerance compared to Keel.

Another protein in the first group, a putative aldo-keto reductase, showed a cross-over effect between environments in Arta and Keel i.e. the protein was up-regulated in Keel but down-regulated in Arta under heat stress. The putative aldo-keto reductase family-like protein was identified in the spot 809. Aldo-keto reductases are NADPH dependant oxidoreductases that typically reduce carbonyl compounds [202]. Members of the aldo-keto reductase family are known to play roles in desiccation tolerance in barley embryo [203], and protection against lipid peroxidation in alfalfa [204] and rice [205]. Thus, evidence from literature and up-regulation of aldo-keto reductases by high temperature in Keel suggest that this uncharacterized protein has potential in conveying tolerance to abiotic stress and warrants further investigation.

While several studies have quantified changes in the proteome of barley seeds [125–129] roots [130] and shoots [131], a review of the current literature did not reveal any studies concerned with proteomic changes in barley leaf samples due to abiotic stress, as in the present study. However, a comparison can be made with the study by Süle et al. [131] that studied the proteomic responses to heat stress in barley shoots since a large portion of shoots contain leaf material. The shoots of two barley genotypes were heat stressed and six proteins were identified as being up-regulated and six proteins as being down-regulated due to the heat treatment. The identified heat responsive proteins up-regulated in the shoots were all of small heat shock protein family with masses ranging from 15-20 kDa with functions as molecular chaperones [206]. In the present study, heat shock proteins indentified in spots 564 and 939 were also up-regulated due to the heat treatment. However, these heat shock proteins were of high molecular weights and are likely to be members of the HSP90 and HSP70 families based on their predicted molecular weights [199]. The small heat shock protein identified by Süle et al. [131] not being discovered in the present study can be explained by differences in experimental setup between the two studies; proteins with molecular weights smaller than 20 kDa were electrophoresed out of the gel bottom in the present study as seen in the molecular weight standard in Figure 10. The exclusion of low molecular weight proteins from the gel was a side effect of longer electrophoresis runs which allowed for greater separation of large molecular weight proteins. The focus on higher molecular weight proteins was chosen to maximize the overall number of proteins resolvable on the gel based on preliminary work (data not shown) which indicated that higher molecular weight proteins were present in high numbers on the gel than low molecular weight proteins. Of the proteins reported to be down-regulated by the heat treatment in shoots, the glycolytic enzyme triosephosphate isomerase [178] was also detected to be up-regulated (spot 912) in the present study. In the work by Süle et al. [131], triosephosphate isomerase was identified in one spot that was a mixture of proteins that co-migrated in the gel. The authors then incorrectly concluded that all proteins in this spot were down regulated. The conclusion is incorrect because each protein in the mixture can be up or down-regulated independently of the combined spot intensity [207]. Süle et al. [131] also compared the regulation of proteins between the two genotypes and discovered one protein, S-adenosylmethionine synthetase, to be up-regulated in one genotype under both control and high temperature conditions. S-adenosylmethionine synthetase was identified (spot 711) in the present study to be up-regulated in Keel compared to Arta under control temperatures but not under the high temperature treatment. S-adenosylmethionine synthetase is responsible for the enzymatic conversion of L-methionine into S-adenosyl-L-methionine [208], which is a

precursor for molecules with known roles in heat stress response such as the osmolyte betaine [209] and the plant hormone ethylene [210][211]. The results from Süle et al. only partially confirm ours here; it is evident that S-adenosylmethionine synthetase, an enzyme with roles in responding to heat, can be regulated in a genotype dependant manner.

Altogether, the proteomic data analysis allowed the detection of heat responsive proteins as well as proteins differentially regulated between the genotypes Arta and Keel. Connections between the proteomic changes and the phenotypic changes were drawn as a way to further our understanding of the molecular basis of responses to heat stress. Specifically, an increase in glycolytic proteins was linked to the reduction in the thousand kernel weight. Additionally, the damage of structural components of photosystem II as well as an alteration in the maintenance of Rubisco activity was attributed to the reduction of photosynthetic performance. Proteins that responded to the heat treatment in a genotype dependant manner, such as a putative aldo-keto reductase and elongation factor G, were considered as unique adaptations in heat tolerance between Arta and Keel and warrant further research to understand their transcriptional and post-transcriptional control.

Conclusion

The simulation of heat and drought stress under controlled conditions as they often occur in agronomic settings allowed responses to the two abiotic stresses to be compared in barley on the morphological, physiological and molecular level. The heat and drought treatments applied separately resulted in equal and significant decreases in grain yield compared to control plants. Applied in combination, the stress treatments resulted in greater reductions in yield. Inspection of yield component traits revealed that the reduction in yield under drought stress was due to the development of fewer tillers while the reduction under heat stress was primarily due to reduced kernel weight. In general, more pronounced morphological responses were exhibited by drought treated plants than heat treated plants which was attributed in part to the slower rate and longer duration in which the drought treatment was applied. In contrast, heat treated plants were perturbed more on the physiological level than drought treated plants. Perturbation of physiology was exacerbated in combination treated plants by interacting effects of heat and drought stress. It appeared that morphological plasticity allowed avoidance of physiological stress by acclimation to the drought treatment which was not observed in the heat treatment. Instead, heat treated plants attempted to tolerate the stress by changes on the molecular level. The proteomic analysis revealed 99 protein spots differentially regulated in response to the heat treatment with functions primarily in metabolism and photosynthesis. Differentially regulated proteins with potential roles in the observed morphological and physiological changes under heat stress included

photosynthetic proteins Rusbisco activase B and chlorophyll a-b binding proteins in addition to the glycolytic enzymes fructose-bisphosphate aldolase and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase.

By studying two barley genotypes adapted to different drought prone agronomic settings genotype dependant abiotic stress resistances and possible resistance mechanisms were able to be detected. Arta plants were more prone to inhibition of growth under drought. Keel plants proved to be more resistant to heat induced floret abortion than Arta but was more susceptible heat induced inhibition of photosynthesis. Inclusion of the Arta and Keel in the proteomic analysis allowed fourteen proteins which respond to heat stress in a genotype specific manner, like aldo-keto reductase and elongation factor G, to be identified. Such proteins are potential outputs of heat resistance mechanisms that allow Arta and Keel to thrive in different marginal environments prone to stress. Altogether, the detection of genetic variation in traits important for maintaining yield under abiotic stress will allow these characteristics to be exploited in future crop breeding efforts.

Tables

Table 9. Trait means, minimums (Min) and maximums (Max) measured for Arta and Keel under control or drought conditions at either 21°C or 36°C. Means that are not significantly (p<0.05) different share the same letter subscript.

	Control	21°C	Arta	Contro	l 21°C	Keel	Control	36°C A	\rta	Control	36°C	Keel	Drought	t 21°C	Arta	Drought	21°C	Keel	Drought	36°C	Arta	Drought	: 36°C	Keel
Trait	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max	Mean	Min	Max
GY	11.8 a	6.5	15.1	11.7 a	4.2	18.2	5.6 bcd	2.6	11.3	6.4 b	4.3	8.2	6.0 bd	3.1	8.5	7.7 b	6.0	9.0	3.2 cd	0.8	6.0	2.9 c	1.5	4.8
BM	20.7 a	16.2	24.3	20.2 a	9.5	26.1	18.7 ab	15.3	23.3	18.6 ab	13.3	23.3	13.6 c	11.0	17.3	15.1 bc	12.8	18.3	12.3 cd	9.6	16.0	9.8 d	5.1	13.2
н	0.56 a	0.40	0.73	0.57 a	0.44	0.79	0.29 b	0.14	0.52	0.35 bd	0.27	0.45	0.44 cd	0.23	0.62	0.51 ac	0.45	0.58	0.25 b	0.08	0.47	0.30 b	0.22	0.43
РН	49.6 ab	44.0	53.8	52.5 a	46.5	56.4	44.9 bd	36.9	54.2	50.8 a	43.4	59.8	38.9 c	35.2	42.2	49.9 ab	45.7	54.0	42.8 cd	37.7	48.7	45.3 bd	39.7	51.7
Pedex	-3.7 a	-4.6	-2.6	-5.1 ab	-9.7	-1.9	-3.7 a	-8.8	2.9	-5.9 ab	-9.0	-2.9	-6.1 ab	-9.1	-2.5	-5.8 ab	-11.3	-3.4	-5.5 ab	-7.8	-1.2	-6.8 b	-8.7	-4.5
SN	19.1 ab	12.7	26.0	21.8 b	10.3	32.0	14.8 ac	8.0	26.0	20.7 ab	14.3	29.7	11.6 c	9.3	14.0	15.6 ac	10.7	22.7	9.7 c	3.3	15.3	11.6 c	4.7	19.3
AS	3.5 ac	0.3	10.7	0.4 a	0.0	2.7	11.1 b	4.0	22.0	6.1 cd	0.3	16.0	3.2 ac	1.7	5.3	2.1 a	0.0	8.0	8.8 bd	4.7	13.7	3.3 ac	0.7	7.7
GS	12.2 a	10.9	14.2	12.1 a	9.3	17.2	10.7 a	6.8	15.1	10.4 a	8.2	14.7	11.2 a	5.7	13.6	11.3 a	9.6	13.0	10.8 a	6.2	14.4	10.0 a	7.8	12.6
TKW	50.2 a	40.6	63.8	44.1 b	33.1	55.0	35.5 c	32.1	41.2	30.4 cd	27.0	33.9	46.0 ab	36.7	51.3	44.5 ab	41.2	48.4	29.9 cd	24.3	37.1	26.3 d	23.4	29.6
DM	90 a	68	107	88 a	63	109	97 a	82	105	93 a	68	107	90 a	74	105	88 a	68	98	96 a	88	102	90 a	63	100
WU	7.54 a	5.89	9.27	6.70 a	4.71	7.96	7.65 a	6.27	9.94	6.65 a	4.81	8.06	3.45 b	1.63	4.26	3.42 b	2.91	3.95	3.61 b	1.66	5.60	3.21 b	2.62	3.98
WUE	1.6 ad	0.9	2.1	1.7 ab	0.8	2.7	0.7 c	0.4	1.4	1.0 cd	0.6	1.3	1.8 ab	1.3	2.8	2.3 b	1.8	3.1	0.9 c	0.2	1.8	0.9 c	0.4	1.7
LT_1	20.3 a	17.1	24.5	21.1 ab	18.7	25.0	35.0 c	32.8	36.2	33.2 d	31.8	35.3	22.8 e	19.5	25.4	22.0 be	19.5	25.1	36.5 cf	33.8	39.0	37.2 f	35.7	38.4
LT_3	21.7 a	18.1	24.4	21.9 a	20.0	24.3	37.0 b	35.7	39.3	35.9 b	32.9	37.9	22.5 a	19.1	25.8	22.6 a	19.7	25.3	37.1 b	35.5	38.6	37.0 b	35.5	38.9
LT_7	23.0 a	17.6	24.4	21.4 a	18.3	23.4	33.2 b	27.6	38.9	34.6 bc	32.2	37.5	22.3 a	18.8	25.1	21.8 a	18.4	24.8	36.4 cd	32.9	39.7	37.2 d	33.5	39.4
RWC_1	90.3 a	87.2	93.3	83.2 ab	65.8	96.4	81.6 abc	55.3	91.2	78.3 bc	67.4	100.0	87.1 ab	75.7	93.6	85.1 ab	70.2	96.2	74.2 c	55.4	92.2	79.2 bc	53.8	94.7
RWC_3	88.5 a	76.1	93.6	87.5 ab	75.1	97.3	76.2 bcd	49.9	88.4	80.5 ab	70.5	87.3	79.8 abc	63.1	90.8	78.3 abc	65.5	93.9	67.3 d	54.8	83.1	72.9 cd	61.0	82.2
RWC_7	82.9 a	77.7	90.2	79.4 ab	69.9	90.4	70.4 bd	63.2	77.4	74.4 ab	63.8	80.2	76.7 ab	58.7	85.2	75.6 ab	58.0	87.7	60.8 cd	43.1	70.5	59.4 c	50.8	69.3
Fv/Fm_1	0.836 a	0.813	0.863	0.835 a	0.814	0.866	0.795 b	0.788	0.801	0.784 bc	0.771	0.792	0.835 a	0.812	0.862	0.826 a	0.806	0.845	0.785 bc	0.751	0.804	0.775 c	0.767	0.785
Fv/Fm_3	0.820 a	0.760	0.838	0.816 ab	0.799	0.821	0.789 bc	0.720	0.829	0.770 c	0.747	0.785	0.829 a	0.806	0.839	0.811 ab	0.795	0.822	0.791 bc	0.724	0.834	0.732 d	0.676	0.765
Fv/Fm_7	0.829 bc	0.818	0.846	0.803 bc	0.765	0.820	0.782 abc	0.716	0.809	0.728 a	0.566	0.782	0.834 c	0.823	0.863	0.815 bc	0.806	0.832	0.761 ab	0.617	0.810	0.564 d	0.322	0.722
PI_1	3.3 a	2.1	5.2	3.5 a	2.7	4.8	1.9 b	1.5	2.3	2.3 bc	1.9	2.7	3.0 ac	1.0	4.4	3.4 a	2.6	4.2	2.0 b	1.5	2.9	2.1 b	1.7	2.6
PI_3	2.5 a	1.9	2.9	3.1 a	2.6	3.5	1.8 b	0.6	3.3	1.8 b	1.2	2.3	2.9 a	2.1	3.7	3.0 a	2.2	3.8	1.8 b	0.7	3.5	1.0 c	0.5	1.4
PI_7	3.0 a	2.2	3.7	2.8 a	2.2	3.4	1.6 b	0.6	2.4	1.4 b	0.3	1.9	3.6 c	2.8	4.8	3.2 ac	2.9	3.8	1.1 b	0.1	1.8	0.3 d	0.0	0.8

Table 10. Summary of the four-way analysis of variance for the traits measured in Arta and Keel genotypes under the two soil water content (SWC) treatments at temperatures (Temp.) of 21°C or 36°C. For each trait, the F-value, coefficient of determination and significance probability is given for each of the three fixed effects (genotype, SWC, and temperature), the random effect of the experimental replication, the interaction between every possible pairing of the fixed effects and the interaction of all three. * p<0.05,** p<0.01, *** p<0.001, n/s non-significant.

	GY	BM	ні	РН	Pedex	SN	AS	GS
Genotype (G)	1.39 0.005	0.38 0.002	5.72 0.019 *	40.98 0.235 ***	6.03 0.067 *	14.12 0.084 ***	33.85 0.173 ***	1.57 0.018
SWC (S)	73.11 0.257 ***	125.88 0.567 ***	14.63 0.047 ***	36.05 0.207 ***	8.87 0.098 **	53.49 0.320 ***	2.05 0.010	7.82 0.092 **
Temp. (T)	108.30 0.381 ***	17.59 0.079 ***	165.19 0.536 ***	4.15 0.024 *	0.34 0.004	8.73 0.052 **	62.73 0.320 ***	0.40 0.005
Replication	23.29 0.082 ***	0.21 0.001	47.98 0.156 ***	3.91 0.022	0.39 0.004	17.29 0.103 ***	12.67 0.065 ***	2.88 0.034
G*S	0.19 0.001	0.05 0.000	0.67 0.002	1.82 0.010	1.66 0.018	0.47 0.003	0.32 0.002	0.79 0.009
G*T	0.28 0.001	2.23 0.010	0.17 0.001	2.42 0.014	1.52 0.017	0.10 0.001	6.16 0.031 *	0.40 0.005
S*T	4.44 0.016 *	1.57 0.007	1.78 0.006	2.75 0.016	0.04 0.000	0.02 0.000	6.56 0.033 *	0.01 0.000
G*S*T	2.45 0.009	3.21 0.014	1.15 0.004	11.03 0.063 **	0.21 0.002	1.87 0.011	0.87 0.004	0.16 0.002

	Т	κw		DM	١	NU	V	VUE	I	LT_1	l	.T_3		LT_7	R۱	NC_1
Genotype (G)	18.26	0.048 ***	4.65	0.020 *	9.95	0.018 **	6.67	0.034 *	0.98	0.000	0.81	0.000	0.00	0.000	1.22	0.008
SWC (S)	12.53	0.033 ***	0.42	0.002	425.98	0.769 ***	6.12	0.031 *	74.42	0.023 ***	5.29	0.002 *	14.23	0.009 ***	1.34	0.008
Temp. (T)	271.44	0.716 ***	7.70	0.033 **	0.00	0.000	106.07	0.542 ***	2921.3	0.922 ***	2436.8	0.956 ***	1329.7	0.856 ***	22.83	0.142 ***
Replication	0.32	0.001	148.01	0.634 ***	42.48	0.077 ***	0.08	0.000	81.26	0.026 ***	31.81	0.012 ***	111.79	0.072 ***	57.56	0.357 ***
G*S	2.40	0.006	0.03	0.000	3.75	0.007	0.05	0.000	0.57	0.000	0.55	0.000	0.10	0.000	3.97	0.025
G*T	0.07	0.000	1.13	0.005	0.54	0.001	0.78	0.004	1.18	0.000	1.60	0.001	8.380	0.005 **	2.52	0.016
S*T	2.33	0.006	0.25	0.001	0.02	0.000	3.09	0.016	4.49	0.001 *	0.04	0.000	17.56	0.011 ***	0.62	0.004
G*S*T	0.67	0.002	0.11	0.000	0.08	0.000	1.87	0.010	14.93	0.005 ***	0.80	0.000	1.33	0.001	0.23	0.001

	RWC_3	RWC_7	Fv_Fm_1	Fv_Fm_3	Fv_Fm_7	PI_1	PI_3	PI_7
Genotype (G)	1.00 0.008	0.09 0.000	8.19 0.018 **	29.77 0.118 ***	43.23 0.146 ***	3.28 0.020	0.04 0.000	16.11 0.031 ***
SWC (S)	21.35 0.176 ***	31.05 0.163 ***	7.70 0.017 **	3.39 0.013	13.84 0.047 ***	0.97 0.006	0.58 0.003	1.46 0.003
Temp. (T)	25.11 0.207 ***	64.2 0.337 ***	326.2 0.732 ***	111.4 0.443 ***	97.87 0.331 ***	84.42 0.513 ***	114.59 0.520 ***	381.84 0.741 ***
Replication	0.01 0.000	15.37 0.081 ***	29.87 0.067 ***	11.57 0.046 **	8.93 0.030 **	3.22 0.020	3.45 0.016	2.05 0.004
G*S	0.01 0.000	0.24 0.001	0.46 0.001	8.38 0.033 **	9.23 0.031 **	0.11 0.001	10.07 0.046 **	4.09 0.008 *
G*T	2.79 0.023	1.37 0.007	0.81 0.002	9.51 0.038 **	20.680 0.070 ***	0.160 0.001	11.80 0.054 **	1.07 0.002
S*T	0.03 0.000	5.56 0.029 *	0.66 0.001	4.51 0.018 *	20.04 0.068 ***	0.65 0.004	8.33 0.038 **	37.13 0.072 ***
G*S*T	0.05 0.000	1.52 0.008	0.62 0.001	1.99 0.008	11.09 0.037 **	0.85 0.005	0.350 0.002	0.390 0.001

Table 11. Temperature responsive proteins quantified by DIGE and identified via mass spectrometry. For each identified protein, the corresponding spot number (No.) is given in addition to the Uniprot protein name and accession number. Proteins are grouped according to their biological function. Based on the Mascot searches, the predicted molecular weights (MW), isoelectric points (pl), scores, and percent sequence coverage (SC%) are reported. Regulation factor, the log2 fold change in protein expression are given for plants grown in 36°C over plants grown in 21° (36/21). Spots also found to be differentially regulated between genotypes are in dark grey.

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	36/21
	Metabolic process						
349	Glycolate oxidase	Q3L1H0	111.4	7.0	227.2	2.8	1.35
365	Predicted protein	F2D4I5	43.8	9.0	363.1	19.7	1.65
402	Serine-glyoxylate aminotransferase	Q3S2I1	135.3	7.0	210.6	2.4	1.27
487	Glycine decarboxylase P subunit	022575	202.3	6.9	117.2	1.1	1.19
491	Glycine decarboxylase P subunit	022575	202.3	6.9	115.0	7.0	1.49
575	Predicted protein (Fragment)	F2DEY7	73.5	5.4	181.9	4.9	-1.34
578	Methionine synthase 1 enzyme	Q4LB13	215.8	6.9	190.0	10.6	-1.22
780	MRNA-binding protein	Q7X998	162.3	7.0	95.6	1.3	1.37
804	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	F4HNZ6	88.9	7.0	205.2	3.3	1.54
816	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	F4HNZ6	88.9	7.0	86.6	1.5	1.46
820	Predicted protein	F2DT74	39.6	9.1	108.5	5.3	1.15
828	Predicted protein	F2DT74	39.6	9.1	77.2	5.3	-1.37
877	2-Cys peroxiredoxin BAS1, chloroplastic	Q96468	23.3	5.4	122.4	6.7	1.52
878	2-Cys peroxiredoxin BAS1, chloroplastic	Q96468	23.3	5.4	106.5	6.7	1.23
912	Triosephosphate isomerase	F2DTB2	32.3	7.9	113.4	5.0	1.32
977	Serine hydroxymethyltransferase	F2D3S8	56.1	8.8	135.1	4.9	-1.37
	Carbohydrate metabolic process						
327	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, cytosolic	P26517	122.3	7.0	154.6	2.4	1.29
330	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, cytosolic	P26517	48.3	7.0	49.0	2.6	1.68
713	Predicted protein	F2CTY2	44.2	4.9	131.4	3.7	-1.17
758	Phosphoribulokinase, chloroplastic	P26302	104.4	6.9	140.0	18.3	-1.22
766	Phosphoglycerate kinase, chloroplastic	P12782	99.4	7.0	152.3	1.5	-1.47
788	Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase	F2ELD1	41.9	7.5	304.6	10.8	1.22
791	Malate dehydrogenase	A3KLL4	69.5	6.9	181.0	20.6	-1.34
	Protein metabolic process						
623	Putative zinc dependent protease	Q2PEV7	191.4	7.0	92.0	1.4	-1.43
641	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit beta	Q43831	100.6	7.0	119.2	1.4	3.14
644	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit beta	Q43831	118.3	7.0	178.9	2.2	2.63
647	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit beta	Q43831	100.6	7.0	117.7	1.4	1.99
662	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit alpha	P08823	113.6	7.0	91.5	1.5	2.20
668	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit alpha	P08823	113.6	7.0	204.1	2.7	2.01

Table 11 continued.

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	36/21
	Nucleobase-containing compound metabolic process						
181	Germin-like protein 2a	Q0GR10	21.8	5.7	132.8	10.8	1.48
184	Germin-like protein 2a	Q0GR10	21.8	5.7	152.1	10.8	1.68
711	S-adenosylmethionine synthase	F2CRM1	42.7	5.4	64.1	3.8	-1.34
752	Os03g0315800 protein	Q0DSD6	132.6	7.0	73.1	5.6	-1.15
844	Predicted protein	F2DLP9	107.1	5.8	32.3	2.0	1.22
	Lipid metabolic process						
511	Lipoxygenase	A1XCI1	92.1	7.0	44.2	1.2	-2.72
515	Lipoxygenase	A1XCI1	92.1	7.0	52.9	1.2	-2.21
519	Lipoxygenase	F2E2Z8	96.7	6.2	106.0	12.8	-2.72
	Catabolic process						
315	Aminomethyltransferase	Q01KC0	137.0	6.9	208.5	2.1	1.33
	Carbon utilization						
162	Carbonic anhydrase, chloroplastic	P40880	85.1	6.9	219.3	2.8	-1.37
	Photosynthesis						
97	Oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 2, chloroplastic	Q00434	96.0	6.9	44.9	0.9	1.46
182	Chlorophyll a-b binding protein 1B-21, chloroplastic	Q9SDM1	26.4	5.8	59.6	4.1	1.21
221	Oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 2, chloroplastic	Q00434	96.0	6.9	91.5	7.0	1.29
323	Peroxisomal (S)-2-hydroxy-acid oxidase GLO1	Q10CE4	72.9	7.0	153.0	15.1	1.30
324	Peroxisomal (S)-2-hydroxy-acid oxidase GLO1	Q10CE4	72.9	7.0	131.8	2.2	1.45
325	Peroxisomal (S)-2-hydroxy-acid oxidase GLO1	Q10CE4	72.9	7.0	141.0	19.5	1.54
846	Predicted protein	F2CRK1	34.4	5.6	306.6	11.6	1.29
847	Chloroplast oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 1	A5JV93	68.7	7.0	198.6	3.7	1.55
851	Predicted protein	F2CRK1	34.4	5.6	199.0	11.6	1.63
853	Chloroplast oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 1	A5JV93	68.7	7.0	48.1	2.5	-1.37
866	Chlorophyll a/b-binding protein WCAB	024401	78.9	6.9	106.0	10.3	1.48
867	Chlorophyll a/b-binding protein WCAB	O24401	66.8	7.0	54.2	6.0	1.66
870	Chlorophyll a-b binding protein of LHCII type III, chloroplastic	P27523	91.6	7.0	108.6	1.2	1.75
873	Predicted protein	F2D9M7	29.3	9.4	64.0	4.1	1.82
900	Predicted protein	F2D9M7	29.3	9.4	89.2	4.1	1.47
911	Chlorophyll a-b binding protein 1B-21, chloroplastic	Q9SDM1	26.4	5.8	38.4	4.1	1.63

Table 11 continued.

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	36/21
	Response to abiotic stimulus						
566	Transketolase, chloroplastic	Q7SIC9	155.2	7.0	146.0	14.4	1.68
570	Transketolase, chloroplastic	Q7SIC9	155.2	7.0	217.0	18.1	-1.26
586	ATP-dependent zinc metalloprotease FTSH 1, chloroplastic	Q5Z974	80.0	6.9	74.2	9.2	2.69
622	'putative 2,3-bisphosphoglycerate-independent phosphoglycerate mutase'	Q5KQH5	165.5	7.0	69.5	5.1	-1.26
721	RuBisCo activase A, chloroplastic	Q40073	133.8	6.9	239.4	2.2	-1.25
724	RuBisCo activase A, chloroplastic	Q40073	133.8	6.9	189.9	2.2	-1.29
750	Isocitrate dehydrogenase	Q9XHX4	63.7	7.0	38.3	1.9	-1.21
763	RuBisCo activase A, chloroplastic	Q40073	133.8	6.9	277.8	2.2	-1.54
765	RuBisCo activase small isoform	E3WDK8	47.1	8.6	167.0	36.5	-1.80
768	RuBisCo activase A, chloroplastic	Q40073	133.8	6.9	213.4	2.2	-1.88
773	RuBisCo activase B, chloroplastic	Q42450	47.2	8.6	90.2	4.5	4.62
774	RuBisCo activase B, chloroplastic	Q42450	47.2	8.6	375.5	15.5	6.65
799	Putative oxidoreductase, zinc-binding	Q7EYM8	121.9	7.0	277.8	3.6	1.52
	Response to stress						
468	Predicted protein	F2D8I0	47.4	6.2	42.0	2.5	-1.28
527	ATP-dependent Clp protease ATP-binding subunit clpA homolog CD4B, chloroplastic	P31542	173.3	6.9	124.0	7.9	-2.07
564	Chloroplast heat shock protein 70	A4ZYQ0	134.0	7.0	170.2	1.8	1.85
585	Predicted protein	F2D884	71.1	4.9	92.4	4.2	2.44
672	ATP synthase subunit alpha, mitochondrial	P0C520	47.0	7.0	75.9	3.5	1.24
680	ATP synthase subunit alpha, mitochondrial	P0C520	47.0	7.0	79.9	3.5	1.84
921	Ascorbate peroxidase	Q945R5	27.6	5.0	133.2	7.0	1.44
939	Heat-shock protein	Q43638	103.9	7.0	122.8	2.2	2.90
	<u>Translation</u>						
363	Predicted protein	F2D6W5	37.4	9.1	57.6	15.0	-1.39
533	Elongation factor EF-G	Q9SI75	61.3	6.9	64.2	16.0	2.41
703	Eukaryotic initiation factor 4A	P41378	143.9	6.9	121.0	4.8	1.73

Table 11 continued.

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	36/21
	Transport						
59	YLP	Q9ZR97	87.1	7.0	91.5	2.1	1.28
473	Chloroplast inner envelope protein, putative, expressed	Q7XD45	112.4	7.0	35.8	0.9	-1.30
592	Vacuolar proton-ATPase	Q9FS11	197.2	7.0	77.0	0.6	2.54
594	Vacuolar proton-ATPase	Q9FS11	197.2	7.0	89.2	0.6	1.52
659	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	173.0	8.3	1.33
669	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	595.5	17.5	1.28
671	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	175.8	10.5	1.68
677	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	159.9	8.1	1.36
678	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	322.7	10.7	1.81
679	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	238.1	5.2	1.42
747	Protein TIC110, chloroplastic	024293	97.2	6.9	77.4	0.9	-1.19
769	ATP synthase subunit gamma, chloroplastic	P0C1M0	108.6	7.0	129.2	1.8	-1.22
790	ATP synthase subunit gamma, chloroplastic	P0C1M0	108.6	7.0	161.2	1.8	1.09
83	Predicted protein	F2CQ27	25.1	6.8	97.8	33.9	1.43
891	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	181.6	6.9	119.3	1.1	1.42
	Unknown						
357	Predicted protein (Fragment)	F2ECE5	40.8	9.4	99.1	5.7	-1.13
359	Predicted protein (Fragment)	F2ECE5	40.8	9.4	195.8	8.1	-1.38
859	Cp31BHv	O81988	102.8	7.0	243.8	2.8	1.42
862	Harpin binding protein 1	Q5QJB5	100.3	7.0	76.9	1.2	1.35
988	Probable plastid-lipid-associated protein 3, chloroplastic	Q7XBW5	111.5	7.0	132.6	2.1	1.43

Table 12. Genotype dependent proteins quantified by DIGE and identified via mass spectrometry. For each identified protein, the corresponding spot number (No.) in Figure 10 is given in addition to the Uniprot protein name and accession number. Proteins are grouped according to their biological function. Based on the Mascot searches, the predicted molecular weights (MW), isoelectric points (pl), Mascot scores, and percent sequence coverage (SC%) are reported. Regulation factor, the log2 fold changes in protein expression are given for Keel plants over Arta plants (K/A). Spots also found to be temperature responsive are in dark grey.

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	K/A
	Metabolic process						
37	Alanine aminotransferase	Q84UX4	148.5	7.0	205.3	2.7	-1.79
165	Glutathione transferase	Q8VWW3	24.9	5.8	41.3	9.1	-1.35
311	Serine-glyoxylate aminotransferase	Q3S2I1	135.3	7.0	219.4	2.4	-1.83
318	Predicted protein	F2D8L5	42.0	6.5	223.0	38.1	-1.88
347	Glycolate oxidase	Q3L1H0	111.4	7.0	170.0	8.5	-1.59
349	Glycolate oxidase	Q3L1H0	111.4	7.0	227.2	2.8	-1.71
352	Glycolate oxidase	Q3L1H0	111.4	7.0	121.2	1.3	-2.08
355	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	F4HNZ6	88.9	7.0	241.2	2.7	-1.46
356	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	F4HNZ6	88.9	7.0	261.1	4.7	1.33
401	Serine-glyoxylate aminotransferase	Q3S2I1	135.3	7.0	213.1	2.3	-1.74
497	Glycine decarboxylase P subunit	022575	202.3	6.9	124.2	1.1	-1.60
572	Methionine synthase 1 enzyme	Q4LB13	219.5	6.9	244.5	1.6	-1.24
575	Predicted protein (Fragment)	F2DEY7	73.5	5.4	181.9	4.9	-2.10
576	Methionine synthase 1 enzyme	Q4LB13	215.8	6.9	207.0	11.7	-1.65
578	Methionine synthase 1 enzyme	Q4LB13	215.8	6.9	190.0	10.6	-2.39
708	Alanine aminotransferase 2	P52894	52.8	5.9	69.2	2.9	-1.37
736	Glutamine synthetase leaf isozyme, chloroplastic	P13564	152.1	6.9	189.4	2.4	1.43
740	Isocitrate dehydrogenase	F2CQL5	45.8	6.0	54.9	2.2	1.40
743	Glutamate-1-semialdehyde 2,1-aminomutase, chloroplastic	P18492	49.5	6.4	94.1	19.6	-1.23
780	MRNA-binding protein	Q7X998	162.3	7.0	95.6	1.3	-1.61
804	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase	F4HNZ6	88.9	7.0	205.2	3.3	2.04
809	Aldo/keto reductase family-like protein	Q8H4J8	68.3	6.9	103.6	1.9	1.37
820	Predicted protein	F2DT74	39.6	9.1	108.5	5.3	1.36
828	Predicted protein	F2DT74	39.6	9.1	77.2	5.3	-1.40
877	2-Cys peroxiredoxin BAS1, chloroplastic	Q96468	23.3	5.4	122.4	6.7	1.85
912	Triosephosphate isomerase	F2DTB2	32.3	7.9	113.4	5.0	1.26
977	Serine hydroxymethyltransferase	F2D3S8	56.1	8.8	135.1	4.9	-1.42

Table 🛛	12 con	tinued.
---------	---------------	---------

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	K/A
	Carbohydrate metabolic process						
330	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, cytosolic	P26517	48.3	7.0	49.0	2.6	-1.97
336	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, cytosolic	P26517	122.3	7.0	185.8	2.4	-2.06
346	Predicted protein	F2CUW2	46.9	5.9	72.2	3.6	-1.40
351	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, cytosolic	P08477	74.7	7.0	133.0	2.2	-1.50
393	Predicted protein	F2EBQ8	58.5	6.3	32.8	2.8	-1.64
610	Ribulose bisphosphate carboxylase large chain	P05698	53.0	6.2	29.5	2.7	-1.44
713	Predicted protein	F2CTY2	44.2	4.9	131.4	3.7	-1.41
758	Phosphoribulokinase, chloroplastic	P26302	104.4	6.9	140.0	18.3	-1.15
760	Phosphoribulokinase, chloroplastic	P26302	104.4	6.9	77.5	1.0	1.37
766	Phosphoglycerate kinase, chloroplastic	P12782	99.4	7.0	152.3	1.5	-1.79
786	Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase	Q9LLD7	124.9	7.0	431.2	4.3	-1.78
791	Malate dehydrogenase	A3KLL4	69.5	6.9	181.0	20.6	-2.45
795	Fructose-bisphosphate aldolase	A5BDH7	62.1	7.0	52.5	1.3	1.50
	Protein metabolic process						
623	Putative zinc dependent protease	Q2PEV7	191.4	7.0	92.0	1.4	-1.35
644	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit beta	Q43831	118.3	7.0	178.9	2.2	-1.72
647	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit beta	Q43831	100.6	7.0	117.7	1.4	-2.63
662	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit alpha	P08823	113.6	7.0	91.5	1.5	-2.39
668	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit alpha	P08823	113.6	7.0	204.1	2.7	-2.60
	Nucleobase-containing compound metabolic process						
711	S-adenosylmethionine synthase	F2CRM1	42.7	5.4	64.1	3.8	1.26
752	Os03g0315800 protein	Q0DSD6	132.6	7.0	73.1	5.6	-1.44
	Lipid metabolic process						
519	Lipoxygenase	F2E2Z8	96.7	6.2	106.0	12.8	-1.30
890	Hydroxymethylbutenyl 4-diphosphate synthase	Q672R6	160.1	7.0	77.0	4.0	-2.04
	Catabolic process						
317	Aminomethyltransferase	Q01KC0	137.0	6.9	167.3	1.8	-1.50
319	Aminomethyltransferase	Q01KC0	69.5	6.9	127.3	2.3	-2.40
	<u>Cellular homeostasis</u>						
974	Dihydrolipoyl dehydrogenase	F2E5U7	52.9	8.9	156.2	5.0	-1.27
979	Dihydrolipoyl dehydrogenase	F2E2T3	52.8	8.9	51.4	7.9	-1.79
	Carbon utilization						
162	Carbonic anhydrase, chloroplastic	P40880	85.1	6.9	219.3	2.8	-1.44
210	Carbonic anhydrase, chloroplastic	P40880	35.1	9.9	137.2	9.0	1.63
223	Carbonic anhydrase, chloroplastic	P40880	35.1	9.9	109.0	5.6	-1.17

Table 12 continued.

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	K/A
	Photosynthesis						
97	Oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 2, chloroplastic	Q00434	96.0	6.9	44.9	0.9	2.14
177	Chloroplast-localized Ptr ToxA-binding protein1	Q5YL57	106.2	7.0	96.3	5.0	1.22
191	Predicted protein	F2D9M7	29.3	9.4	80.1	4.1	1.29
221	Oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 2, chloroplastic	Q00434	96.0	6.9	91.5	7.0	1.86
323	Peroxisomal (S)-2-hydroxy-acid oxidase GLO1	Q10CE4	72.9	7.0	153.0	15.1	-1.39
324	Peroxisomal (S)-2-hydroxy-acid oxidase GLO1	Q10CE4	72.9	7.0	131.8	2.2	-1.54
325	Peroxisomal (S)-2-hydroxy-acid oxidase GLO1	Q10CE4	72.9	7.0	141.0	19.5	-1.57
637	Hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein-like	Q6ETQ7	132.5	7.0	62.6	4.9	-1.11
846	Predicted protein	F2CRK1	34.4	5.6	306.6	11.6	1.80
847	Chloroplast oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 1	A5JV93	68.7	7.0	198.6	3.7	2.53
849	Chloroplast oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 1	A5JV93	68.7	7.0	89.5	3.0	-1.17
851	Predicted protein	F2CRK1	34.4	5.6	199.0	11.6	2.39
853	Chloroplast oxygen-evolving enhancer protein 1	A5JV93	68.7	7.0	48.1	2.5	-1.43
865	Light harvesting chlorophyll a/b-binding protein Lhcb1	D6RSA1	28.2	5.0	98.7	9.4	1.66
866	Chlorophyll a/b-binding protein WCAB	O24401	78.9	6.9	106.0	10.3	1.57
867	Chlorophyll a/b-binding protein WCAB	O24401	66.8	7.0	54.2	6.0	1.24
870	Chlorophyll a-b binding protein of LHCII type III, chloroplastic	P27523	91.6	7.0	108.6	1.2	1.98
873	Predicted protein	F2D9M7	29.3	9.4	64.0	4.1	2.36
900	Predicted protein	F2D9M7	29.3	9.4	89.2	4.1	1.87
911	Chlorophyll a-b binding protein 1B-21, chloroplastic	Q9SDM1	26.4	5.8	38.4	4.1	2.11
	Response to abiotic stimulus						
566	Transketolase, chloroplastic	Q7SIC9	155.2	7.0	146.0	14.4	1.56
568	Transketolase, chloroplastic	Q7SIC9	155.2	7.0	203.0	18.5	-1.12
570	Transketolase, chloroplastic	Q7SIC9	155.2	7.0	217.0	18.1	-1.76
622	'putative 2,3-bisphosphoglycerate-independent phosphoglycerate mutase'	Q5KQH5	165.5	7.0	69.5	5.1	-1.67
730	RuBisCo activase A, chloroplastic	Q40073	51.0	8.9	240.6	7.8	1.41
748	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase B, chloroplastic	P25857	104.6	6.9	208.0	14.5	-2.00
763	RuBisCo activase A, chloroplastic	Q40073	133.8	6.9	277.8	2.2	-1.20
765	RuBisCo activase small isoform	E3WDK8	47.1	8.6	167.0	36.5	-1.79
768	RuBisCo activase A, chloroplastic	Q40073	133.8	6.9	213.4	2.2	-2.02
773	RuBisCo activase B, chloroplastic	Q42450	47.2	8.6	90.2	4.5	-2.05
799	Putative oxidoreductase, zinc-binding	Q7EYM8	121.9	7.0	277.8	3.6	-3.23
914	Thioredoxin-like protein CDSP32, chloroplastic	Q9SGS4	68.8	7.0	46.7	1.8	-1.45

Table 12 continued.

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	K/A
	<u>Response to stress</u>						
91	Os04g0602100 protein	Q0JAF4	59.3	7.0	123.9	3.3	-1.24
527	ATP-dependent Clp protease ATP-binding subunit clpA homolog CD4B, chloroplastic	P31542	173.3	6.9	124.0	7.9	-1.76
529	Predicted protein	F2DXI0	102.0	6.7	84.1	2.4	-1.71
656	Thioredoxin reductase	B0FXK2	52.0	5.3	70.9	12.7	-1.26
680	ATP synthase subunit alpha, mitochondrial	P0C520	47.0	7.0	79.9	3.5	1.85
682	ATP synthase subunit alpha, mitochondrial	P0C520	47.0	7.0	159.3	5.4	-1.20
74	Peroxisome type ascorbate peroxidase	Q941C3	31.7	8.7	147.0	38.8	-1.25
744	Predicted protein	F2D8I0	47.4	6.2	266.9	9.6	-1.36
939	Heat-shock protein	Q43638	103.9	7.0	122.8	2.2	-1.43
976	Catalase	F2CVM1	56.5	6.6	217.8	6.9	-1.17
980	Catalase	F2CVM1	56.5	6.6	261.1	7.3	-1.38
	Translation						
363	Predicted protein	F2D6W5	37.4	9.1	57.6	15.0	2.26
533	Elongation factor EF-G	Q9SI75	61.3	6.9	64.2	16.0	-1.45
703	Eukaryotic initiation factor 4A	P41378	143.9	6.9	121.0	4.8	-1.65
710	Eukaryotic initiation factor 4A	P41378	68.3	7.0	74.4	2.0	-1.56
723	Elongation factor Tu	Q8W2C3	144.5	6.9	298.2	2.4	-1.34
	Transport						
296	Cytochrome b6-f complex iron-sulfur subunit	F2CZH5	23.7	9.6	103.4	6.8	1.35
297	Cytochrome b6-f complex iron-sulfur subunit	F2CZH5	23.7	9.6	92.8	6.8	-1.24
592	Vacuolar proton-ATPase	Q9FS11	197.2	7.0	77.0	0.6	-1.78
594	Vacuolar proton-ATPase	Q9FS11	197.2	7.0	89.2	0.6	-1.23
661	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	234.0	47.2	-1.24
669	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	595.5	17.5	1.40
671	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	175.8	10.5	1.51
678	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	322.7	10.7	1.42
683	ATP synthase subunit beta, chloroplastic	P00828	53.8	5.0	301.7	8.0	-1.25
747	Protein TIC110, chloroplastic	024293	97.2	6.9	77.4	0.9	-3.88
769	ATP synthase subunit gamma, chloroplastic	P0C1M0	108.6	7.0	129.2	1.8	-1.61
789	ATP synthase subunit gamma, chloroplastic	P0C1M0	108.6	7.0	65.5	0.8	-1.44
83	Predicted protein	F2CQ27	25.1	6.8	97.8	33.9	-1.62
857	Thioredoxin-like protein CDSP32, chloroplastic	Q84NN4	108.5	7.0	104.0	8.0	-1.19
929	ATP synthase subunit alpha, chloroplastic	A1E9I8	55.3	6.3	98.0	4.0	-1.24
	Unknown						
357	Predicted protein (Fragment)	F2ECE5	40.8	9.4	99.1	5.7	-1.40
359	Predicted protein (Fragment)	F2ECE5	40.8	9.4	195.8	8.1	-2.23
746	Predicted protein	F2DE91	41.6	5.2	97.9	7.7	-1.29
859	Cp31BHv	O81988	102.8	7.0	243.8	2.8	-1.34
862	Harpin binding protein 1	Q5QJB5	100.3	7.0	76.9	1.2	1.49
913	Predicted protein (Fragment)	F2CRX4	20.4	5.3	163.9	16.2	-1.56

Table 13. Proteins differentially regulated due to an interacting effect of temperature and genotype as quantified by DIGE and identified via mass spectrometry. For each identified protein, the corresponding spot number (No.) in Figure 10 is given in addition to the Uniprot protein name and accession number. Proteins are grouped according to their biological function. Based on the Mascot searches, the predicted molecular weight (MW), isoelectric points (pl), Mascot scores, and percent sequence coverage (SC%) are reported. The regulation factors, the log2 fold change in protein expression, are given for plants grown at 36°C over plants grown at 21°C (36/21), for Keel plants over Arta plants (K/A), for heat treated Keel plants over heat treated Arta plants (K36/A36) and for control Keel plants over control Arta plants (K21/A21). Regulation factors corresponding to significant (p < 0.05) changes in expression are underlined.

No.	Protein Name	UniRef100	MW	pl	Score	SC%	36/21	K/A	K36/A36	K21/A21
	Metabolic process									
576	Methionine synthase 1 enzyme	Q4LB13	215.8	6.9	207.0	11.7	-1.08	<u>-1.65</u>	<u>-2.03</u>	<u>-1.38</u>
780	MRNA-binding protein	Q7X998	162.3	7.0	95.6	1.3	<u>1.37</u>	<u>-1.61</u>	<u>-1.95</u>	<u>-1.26</u>
809	Aldo/keto reductase family-like protein	Q8H4J8	68.3	6.9	103.6	1.9	1.02	<u>1.37</u>	<u>1.77</u>	1.07
	Carbohydrate metabolic process									
330	Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, cytosolic	P26517	48.3	7.0	49.0	2.6	<u>1.68</u>	<u>-1.97</u>	<u>-2.36</u>	<u>-1.49</u>
713	Predicted protein	F2CTY2	44.2	4.9	131.4	3.7	-1.17	<u>-1.41</u>	<u>-1.71</u>	<u>-1.20</u>
	Protein metabolic process									
662	RuBisCO large subunit-binding protein subunit alpha	P08823	113.6	7.0	91.5	1.5	<u>2.20</u>	<u>-2.39</u>	<u>-2.79</u>	<u>-1.76</u>
	Nucleobase-containing compound metabolic process									
711	S-adenosylmethionine synthase	F2CRM1	42.7	5.4	64.1	3.8	<u>-1.34</u>	1.26	-1.08	<u>1.61</u>
	Response to abiotic stimulus									
799	Putative oxidoreductase, zinc-binding	Q7EYM8	121.9	7.0	277.8	3.6	1.52	<u>-3.23</u>	<u>-3.45</u>	<u>-2.95</u>
	Translation									
533	Elongation factor EF-G	Q9SI75	61.3	6.9	64.2	16.0	<u>2.41</u>	-1.45	<u>-1.52</u>	<u>-1.29</u>
703	Eukaryotic initiation factor 4A	P41378	143.9	6.9	121.0	4.8	<u>1.73</u>	<u>-1.65</u>	<u>-1.96</u>	-1.24
	Transport									
592	Vacuolar proton-ATPase	Q9FS11	197.2	7.0	77.0	0.6	<u>2.54</u>	<u>-1.78</u>	<u>-2.30</u>	1.01
594	Vacuolar proton-ATPase	Q9FS11	197.2	7.0	89.2	0.6	<u>1.52</u>	-1.23	<u>-1.44</u>	1.03
83	Predicted protein	F2CQ27	25.1	6.8	97.8	33.9	<u>1.43</u>	<u>-1.62</u>	<u>-1.91</u>	<u>-1.29</u>
	Unknown									
859	Ср31ВНи	O81988	102.8	7.0	243.8	2.8	<u>1.42</u>	<u>-1.34</u>	<u>-1.59</u>	-1.06

References

- [1] R. Mendelsohn, "The Impact of Climate Change on Agriculture in Developing Countries," J. of Natural Resources Policy Res., vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 5–19, Jan. 2009.
- [2] S. Ceccarelli and S. Grando, "Drought as a challenge for the plant breeder," *Plant growth regulation*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 149–155, 1996.
- [3] A. Skirycz and D. Inzé, "More from less: plant growth under limited water," *Current Opinion in Biotechnology*, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 197–203, Apr. 2010.
- [4] D. Bartels and R. Sunkar, "Drought and Salt Tolerance in Plants," *Critical Reviews in Plant Sciences*, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 23–58, Feb. 2005.
- [5] J. K. McKay, J. H. Richards, K. S. Nemali, S. Sen, T. Mitchell-Olds, S. Boles, E. A. Stahl, T. Wayne, and T. E. Juenger, "GENETICS OF DROUGHT ADAPTATION IN ARABIDOPSIS THALIANA II. QTL ANALYSIS OF A NEW MAPPING POPULATION, KAS-1 × TSU-1," *Evolution*, vol. 62, no. 12, pp. 3014–3026, 2008.
- [6] J. L. Xu, H. R. Lafitte, Y. M. Gao, B. Y. Fu, R. Torres, and Z. K. Li, "QTLs for drought escape and tolerance identified in a set of random introgression lines of rice," *Theor Appl Genet*, vol. 111, no. 8, pp. 1642–1650, Oct. 2005.

- [7] "FAOSTAT," FAOSTAT home page. [Online]. Available: http://faostat.fao.org/. [Accessed: 24-May-2012].
- [8] B.-K. Baik and S. E. Ullrich, "Barley for food: Characteristics, improvement, and renewed interest," *Journal of Cereal Science*, vol. 48, no. 2, pp. 233–242, Sep. 2008.
- [9] J. Doležel, J. Greilhuber, S. Lucretti, A. Meister, M. A. Lysák, L. Nardi, and R. Obermayer, "Plant Genome Size Estimation by Flow Cytometry: Inter-laboratory Comparison," *Annals of Botany*, vol. 82, no. suppl 1, pp. 17–26, Dec. 1998.
- [10] T. Wicker, S. Taudien, A. Houben, B. Keller, A. Graner, M. Platzer, and N. Stein, "A whole-genome snapshot of 454 sequences exposes the composition of the barley genome and provides evidence for parallel evolution of genome size in wheat and barley," *The Plant Journal*, vol. 59, no. 5, pp. 712–722, Sep. 2009.
- [11] B. Steuernagel, S. Taudien, H. Gundlach, M. Seidel, R. Ariyadasa, D. Schulte, A. Petzold, M. Felder, A. Graner, U. Scholz, K. F. Mayer, M. Platzer, and N. Stein, "De novo 454 sequencing of barcoded BAC pools for comprehensive gene survey and genome analysis in the complex genome of barley," *BMC Genomics*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 547, 2009.
- [12] T. J. Close, P. R. Bhat, S. Lonardi, Y. Wu, N. Rostoks, L. Ramsay, A. Druka, N. Stein, J. T. Svensson, S. Wanamaker, and others, "Development and implementation of high-throughput SNP genotyping in barley," *Bmc Genomics*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 582, 2009.
- K. F. X. Mayer, M. Martis, P. E. Hedley, H. Šimková, H. Liu, J. A. Morris, B. Steuernagel, S. Taudien, S. Roessner, H. Gundlach, and others, "Unlocking the barley genome by chromosomal and comparative genomics," *The Plant Cell Online*, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 1249–1263, 2011.
- T. J. Close, S. I. Wanamaker, R. A. Caldo, S. M. Turner, D. A. Ashlock, J. A. Dickerson, R. A. Wing, G. J. Muehlbauer, A. Kleinhofs, and R. P. Wise, "A new resource for cereal genomics: 22K barley GeneChip comes of age," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 134, no. 3, p. 960, 2004.
- [15] L. Comai and S. Henikoff, "TILLING: practical single-nucleotide mutation discovery," *The Plant Journal*, vol. 45, no. 4, pp. 684–694, Feb. 2006.
- [16] A. Blum, "Drought resistance, water-use efficiency, and yield potential—are they compatible, dissonant, or mutually exclusive?," *Australian Journal of Agricultural Research*, vol. 56, no. 11, p. 1159, 2005.
- [17] S.-Y. Park, P. Fung, N. Nishimura, D. R. Jensen, H. Fujii, Y. Zhao, S. Lumba, J. Santiago, A. Rodrigues, T. -f. F. Chow, S. E. Alfred, D. Bonetta, R. Finkelstein, N. J. Provart, D. Desveaux, P. L. Rodriguez, P. McCourt, J.-K. Zhu, J. I. Schroeder, B. F. Volkman, and S. R. Cutler, "Abscisic Acid Inhibits Type 2C Protein Phosphatases via the PYR/PYL Family of START Proteins," *Science*, Apr. 2009.
- [18] T. Vahisalu, H. Kollist, Y.-F. Wang, N. Nishimura, W.-Y. Chan, G. Valerio, A. Lamminmäki, M. Brosché, H. Moldau, R. Desikan, J. I. Schroeder, and J. Kangasjärvi, "SLAC1 is required for plant guard cell S-type anion channel function in stomatal signalling," *Nature*, vol. 452, no. 7186, pp. 487–491, Feb. 2008.
- [19] A. Skirycz, S. De Bodt, T. Obata, I. De Clercq, H. Claeys, R. De Rycke, M. Andriankaja, O. Van Aken, F. Van Breusegem, A. R. Fernie, and D. Inzé, "Developmental Stage Specificity and the Role of Mitochondrial Metabolism in the Response of Arabidopsis Leaves to Prolonged Mild Osmotic Stress," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 152, no. 1, pp. 226–244, Jan. 2010.
- [20] L. AGUIRREZABAL, S. BOUCHIER-COMBAUD, A. RADZIEJWOSKI, M. DAUZAT, S. J. COOKSON, and C. GRANIER, "Plasticity to soil water deficit in Arabidopsis thaliana: dissection of leaf development into underlying growth dynamic and cellular variables reveals invisible phenotypes," *Plant, Cell & Environment*, vol. 29, no. 12, pp. 2216–2227, 2006.
- [21] M. E. Westgate and J. S. Boyer, "Osmotic adjustment and the inhibition of leaf, root, stem and silk growth at low water potentials in maize," *Planta*, vol. 164, no. 4, pp. 540–549, 1985.

- [22] W. Wang, B. Vinocur, and A. Altman, "Plant responses to drought, salinity and extreme temperatures: towards genetic engineering for stress tolerance," *Planta*, vol. 218, no. 1, pp. 1–14, Nov. 2003.
- [23] N. Smirnoff and Q. J. Cumbes, "Hydroxyl radical scavenging activity of compatible solutes," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 1057–1060, 1989.
- [24] S. Diamant, "Chemical Chaperones Regulate Molecular Chaperones in Vitro and in Cells under Combined Salt and Heat Stresses," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 276, no. 43, pp. 39586– 39591, Aug. 2001.
- [25] N. R. Baker, "A possible role for photosystem II in environmental perturbations of photosynthesis," *Physiologia Plantarum*, vol. 81, no. 4, pp. 563–570, 1991.
- [26] A. H. Mehler, "Studies on reactions of illuminated chloroplasts: I. Mechanism of the reduction of oxygen and other hill reagents," *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 65–77, Aug. 1951.
- [27] A. Wingler, W. P. Quick, R. A. Bungard, K. J. Bailey, P. J. Lea, and R. C. Leegood, "The role of photorespiration during drought stress: an analysis utilizing barley mutants with reduced activities of photorespiratory enzymes," *Plant Cell Environ*, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 361–373, Apr. 1999.
- [28] J. Moran, M. Becana, I. Iturbe-Ormaetxe, S. Frechilla, R. Klucas, and P. Aparicio-Tejo, "Drought induces oxidative stress in pea plants," *Planta*, vol. 194, no. 3, Aug. 1994.
- [29] Y. Chool Boo and J. Jung, "Water Deficit Induced Oxidative Stress and Antioxidative Defenses in Rice Plants," *Journal of Plant Physiology*, vol. 155, no. 2, pp. 255–261, Aug. 1999.
- [30] R. Mittler, "Oxidative stress, antioxidants and stress tolerance," *Trends Plant Sci.*, vol. 7, no. 9, pp. 405–410, Sep. 2002.
- [31] F. A. Hoekstra, E. A. Golovina, and J. Buitink, "Mechanisms of plant desiccation tolerance," *Trends in Plant Science*, vol. 6, no. 9, pp. 431–438, 2001.
- [32] T. Arakawa, Y. Kita, and J. F. Carpenter, "Protein–Solvent Interactions in Pharmaceutical Formulations," *Pharmaceutical Research*, vol. 08, no. 3, pp. 285–291, 1991.
- [33] M. A. Coca, C. Almoguera, T. L. Thomas, and J. Jordano, "Differential regulation of small heat-shock genes in plants: analysis of a water-stress-inducible and developmentally activated sunflower promoter," *Plant Mol. Biol.*, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 863–876, Jul. 1996.
- [34] W. Wang, B. Vinocur, O. Shoseyov, and A. Altman, "Role of plant heat-shock proteins and molecular chaperones in the abiotic stress response," *Trends in Plant Science*, vol. 9, no. 5, pp. 244– 252, May 2004.
- [35] L. Simova-Stoilova, V. Vassileva, T. Petrova, N. Tsenov, K. Demirevska, and U. Feller, "Proteolytic activity in wheat leaves during drought stress and recovery," *Gen Appl Plant Physiol Spec*, no. 91– 100, 2006.
- [36] S. Ramanjulu and C. Sudhakar, "Drought tolerance is partly related to amino acid accumulation and ammonia assimilation: A comparative study in two mulberry genotypes differing in drought sensitivity," *Journal of Plant Physiology*, vol. 150, no. 3, pp. 345–350, 1997.
- [37] R. D. Vierstra, "Proteolysis in plants: mechanisms and functions," *Plant Molecular Biology*, vol. 32, no. 1–2, pp. 275–302, Oct. 1996.
- [38] T. J. Aitman, A. M. Glazier, C. A. Wallace, L. D. Cooper, P. J. Norsworthy, F. N. Wahid, K. M. Al-Majali, P. M. Trembling, C. J. Mann, C. C. Shoulders, D. Graf, E. S. Lezin, T. W. Kurtz, V. Kren, M. Pravenec, A. Ibrahimi, N. A. Abumrad, L. W. Stanton, and J. Scott, "Identification of Cd36 (Fat) as an insulin-resistance gene causing defective fatty acid and glucose metabolism in hypertensive rats," *Nat Genet*, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 76–83, Jan. 1999.
- X. Wang, M. Ria, P. M. Kelmenson, P. Eriksson, D. C. Higgins, A. Samnegård, C. Petros, J. Rollins, A. M. Bennet, B. Wiman, U. de Faire, C. Wennberg, P. G. Olsson, N. Ishii, K. Sugamura, A. Hamsten, K. Forsman-Semb, J. Lagercrantz, and B. Paigen, "Positional identification of TNFSF4, encoding OX40
ligand, as a gene that influences atherosclerosis susceptibility," *Nature Genetics*, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 365–372, Mar. 2005.

- [40] B. Grisart, "Positional Candidate Cloning of a QTL in Dairy Cattle: Identification of a Missense Mutation in the Bovine DGAT1 Gene with Major Effect on Milk Yield and Composition," *Genome Research*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 222–231, Feb. 2002.
- [41] E. Fridman, "A recombination hotspot delimits a wild-species quantitative trait locus for tomato sugar content to 484 bp within an invertase gene," *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, vol. 97, no. 9, pp. 4718–4723, Apr. 2000.
- [42] R. C. Jansen and P. Stam, "High Resolution of Quantitative Traits Into Multiple Loci via Interval Mapping," *Genetics*, vol. 136, no. 4, pp. 1447–1455, Apr. 1994.
- [43] Z. B. Zeng, "Precision mapping of quantitative trait loci," *Genetics*, vol. 136, no. 4, pp. 1457–1468, Apr. 1994.
- [44] G. A. Churchill and R. W. Doerge, "Empirical threshold values for quantitative trait mapping," *Genetics*, vol. 138, no. 3, p. 963, 1994.
- [45] B. Teulat, P. Monneveux, J. Wery, C. Borries, I. Souyris, A. Charrier, and D. This, "Relationships between relative water content and growth parameters under water stress in barley: a QTL study," *New Phytologist*, vol. 137, no. 1, pp. 99–107, 1997.
- [46] A. A. Diab, B. Teulat-Merah, D. This, N. Z. Ozturk, D. Benscher, and M. E. Sorrells, "Identification of drought-inducible genes and differentially expressed sequence tags in barley," *Theor Appl Genet*, vol. 109, no. 7, pp. 1417–1425, Oct. 2004.
- [47] M. Korff, S. Grando, A. Del Greco, D. This, M. Baum, and S. Ceccarelli, "Quantitative trait loci associated with adaptation to Mediterranean dryland conditions in barley," *Theor Appl Genet*, vol. 117, no. 5, pp. 653–669, Jul. 2008.
- [48] B. Teulat, D. This, M. Khairallah, C. Borries, C. Ragot, P. Sourdille, P. Leroy, P. Monneveux, and A. Charrier, "Several QTLs involved in osmotic-adjustment trait variation in barley (Hordeum vulgare L.)," *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, vol. 96, no. 5, pp. 688–698, 1998.
- [49] B. Teulat, O. Merah, I. Souyris, and D. This, "QTLs for agronomic traits from a Mediterranean barley progeny grown in several environments," *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, vol. 103, no. 5, pp. 774–787, 2001.
- [50] B. Teulat, C. Borries, and D. This, "New QTLs identified for plant water status, water-soluble carbohydrate and osmotic adjustment in a barley population grown in a growth-chamber under two water regimes," TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics, vol. 103, no. 1, pp. 161–170, 2001.
- [51] B. Teulat, O. Merah, X. Sirault, C. Borries, R. Waugh, and D. This, "QTLs for grain carbon isotope discrimination in field-grown barley," *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, vol. 106, no. 1, pp. 118–126, 2002.
- [52] B. Teulat, N. Zoumarou-Wallis, B. Rotter, M. Ben Salem, H. Bahri, and D. This, "QTL for relative water content in field-grown barley and their stability across Mediterranean environments," *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, vol. 108, no. 1, pp. 181–188, Dec. 2003.
- [53] M. Baum, S. Grando, G. Backes, A. Jahoor, A. Sabbagh, and S. Ceccarelli, "QTLs for agronomic traits in the Mediterranean environment identified in recombinant inbred lines of the cross 'Arta' x H. spontaneum 41-1," *TAG Theoretical and Applied Genetics*, vol. 107, no. 7, pp. 1215–1225, Nov. 2003.
- [54] P. Guo, M. Baum, R. K. Varshney, A. Graner, S. Grando, and S. Ceccarelli, "QTLs for chlorophyll and chlorophyll fluorescence parameters in barley under post-flowering drought," *Euphytica*, vol. 163, no. 2, pp. 203–214, Dec. 2007.
- [55] S. Peighambari, B. Samadi, A. Nabipour, G. Charmet, and A. Sarrafi, "QTL analysis for agronomic traits in a barley doubled haploids population grown in Iran," *Plant Science*, vol. 169, no. 6, pp. 1008–1013, Dec. 2005.

- [56] B. C. Collard and D. J. Mackill, "Marker-assisted selection: an approach for precision plant breeding in the twenty-first century," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, vol. 363, no. 1491, pp. 557–572, Feb. 2008.
- [57] D. Lawlor, W. Day, A. Johnston, B. Legg, and K. Parkinson, "Growth of spring barley under drought: crop development, photosynthesis, dry-matter accumulation and nutrient content," *Journal of agricultural science*, vol. 96, pp. 167–186, 1981.
- [58] P. D. Jamieson, R. J. Martin, and G. S. Francis, "Drought influences on grain yield of barley, wheat, and maize," *New Zealand Journal of Crop and Horticultural Science*, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 55–66, Mar. 1995.
- [59] P. D. Jamieson, R. J. Martin, G. S. Francis, and D. R. Wilson, "Drought effects on biomass production and radiation-use efficiency in barley," *Field Crops Research*, vol. 43, no. 2–3, pp. 77–86, Oct. 1995.
- [60] C. Thachuk, J. Crossa, J. Franco, S. Dreisigacker, M. Warburton, and G. F. Davenport, "Core Hunter: an algorithm for sampling genetic resources based on multiple genetic measures," *BMC bioinformatics*, vol. 10, no. 1, p. 243, 2009.
- [61] J. C. Zadoks, T. T. Chang, and C. F. Konzak, "A decimal code for the growth stages of cereals," *Weed Research*, vol. 14, no. 6, pp. 415–421, Dec. 1974.
- [62] H. Barrs and P. Weatherley, "A re-examination of the relative turgidity technique for estimating water deficits in leaves," *Australian Journal of Biological Sciences*, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 413–428, 1962.
- [63] B. Alsop, A. Farre, P. Wenzl, J. Wang, M. Zhou, I. Romagosa, A. Kilian, and B. Steffenson,
 "Development of wild barley-derived DArT markers and their integration into a barley consensus map," *Molecular Breeding*, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 77–92, 2011.
- [64] Korol A, Ronin Y, Minkov D, Britvin E, Mester D, Korostishevsky M, Malkin I, Frenkel Z, Orion O, Cohen L, Brailovsky A, "MultiQTL version 2.5." Institute of Evolution, Haifa University, Haifa, 2005.
- [65] C. J. Mittelheuser and R. F. M. van Steveninck, "Stomatal Closure and Inhibition of Transpiration induced by (RS)-Abscisic Acid," *Nature*, vol. 221, no. 5177, pp. 281–282, Jan. 1969.
- [66] E. Schulze and A. Hall, "Stomatal responses, water loss and CO2 assimilation rates of plants in contrasting environments," *Encyclopedia of plant physiology*, vol. 12, pp. 181–230, 1982.
- [67] T. D. Sharkey, "Effects of moderate heat stress on photosynthesis: importance of thylakoid reactions, rubisco deactivation, reactive oxygen species, and thermotolerance provided by isoprene," *Plant, Cell & Environment*, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 269–277, 2005.
- [68] P. D. R. van Heerden, J. W. Swanepoel, and G. H. J. Krüger, "Modulation of photosynthesis by drought in two desert scrub species exhibiting C3-mode CO2 assimilation," *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, vol. 61, no. 2, pp. 124–136, Nov. 2007.
- [69] I. Hummel, F. Pantin, R. Sulpice, M. Piques, G. Rolland, M. Dauzat, A. Christophe, M. Pervent, M. Bouteillé, M. Stitt, Y. Gibon, and B. Muller, "Arabidopsis Plants Acclimate to Water Deficit at Low Cost through Changes of Carbon Usage: An Integrated Perspective Using Growth, Metabolite, Enzyme, and Gene Expression Analysis," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 154, no. 1, pp. 357–372, 2010.
- [70] A. Skirycz, K. Vandenbroucke, P. Clauw, K. Maleux, B. De Meyer, S. Dhondt, A. Pucci, N. Gonzalez, F. Hoeberichts, V. B. Tognetti, and others, "Survival and growth of arabidopsis plants given limited water are not equal," *Nature Biotechnology*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 212–214, 2011.
- [71] C. Busso, R. Mueller, and J. Richards, "Effects of drought and defoliation on bud viability in two caespitose grasses," *Annals of botany*, vol. 63, no. 4, pp. 477–485, 1989.
- [72] R. Savin and M. Nicolas, "Effects of Short Periods of Drought and High Temperature on Grain Growth and Starch Accumulation of Two Malting Barley Cultivars," *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, vol. 23, no. 2, p. 201, 1996.
- [73] M. El Soda, S. S. Nadakuduti, K. Pillen, and R. Uptmoor, "Stability parameter and genotype mean estimates for drought stress effects on root and shoot growth of wild barley pre-introgression lines," *Molecular Breeding*, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 583–593, Feb. 2010.

- [74] O. R. Jewiss, "Tillering in Grasses Its Significance and Control.," *Grass and Forage Science*, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 65–82, 1972.
- [75] B. Loggini, A. Scartazza, E. Brugnoli, and F. Navari-Izzo, "Antioxidative Defense System, Pigment Composition, and Photosynthetic Efficiency in Two Wheat Cultivars Subjected to Drought," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 119, no. 3, pp. 1091–1100, Mar. 1999.
- [76] Z. Lu and P. M. Neumann, "Water-stressed maize, barley and rice seedlings show species diversity in mechanisms of leaf growth inhibition," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 49, no. 329, pp. 1945–1952, 1998.
- [77] E. J. M. Kirby and M. Appleyard, "Cereal development guide," *Cereal development guide. 2nd Edition.*, no. Ed. 2, 1984.
- [78] P. Annicchiarico, *Genotype x environment interaction: challenges and opportunities for plant breeding and cultivar recommendations*. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, 2002.
- [79] J. K. Mckay, J. H. Richards, and T. Mitchell-Olds, "Genetics of drought adaptation in Arabidopsis thaliana: I. Pleiotropy contributes to genetic correlations among ecological traits," *Molecular Ecology*, vol. 12, no. 5, pp. 1137–1151, May 2003.
- [80] L. H. Rieseberg, M. A. Archer, and R. K. Wayne, "Transgressive segregation, adaptation and speciation," *Heredity*, vol. 83, no. 4, pp. 363–372, 1999.
- [81] K. Onishi, Y. Horiuchi, N. Ishigoh-Oka, K. Takagi, N. Ichikawa, M. Maruoka, and Y. Sano, "A QTL Cluster for Plant Architecture and Its Ecological Significance in Asian Wild Rice," *Breeding Science*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 7–16, 2007.
- [82] J. Rollins, B. Drosse, M. Muhammad, M. Baum, S. Grando, C. Salvatore, and M. von Korff, "Identification of QTL for agronomic performance under Mediterranean dryland conditions in the barley cross Arta x Keel," *Manuscript submitted for publication*, 2012.
- [83] C. M. Lebreton, P. M. Visscher, C. S. Haley, A. Semikhodskii, and S. A. Quarrie, "A Nonparametric Bootstrap Method for Testing Close Linkage vs. Pleiotropy of Coincident Quantitative Trait Loci," *Genetics*, vol. 150, no. 2, pp. 931–943, Oct. 1998.
- [84] K. Dipetrillo, X. Wang, I. Stylianou, and B. Paigen, "Bioinformatics toolbox for narrowing rodent quantitative trait loci," *Trends in Genetics*, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 683–692, Dec. 2005.
- [85] S. P. Hazen, R. M. Hawley, G. L. Davis, B. Henrissat, and J. D. Walton, "Quantitative trait loci and comparative genomics of cereal cell wall composition," *Plant physiology*, vol. 132, no. 1, p. 263, 2003.
- [86] R. Li, "Combining Data From Multiple Inbred Line Crosses Improves the Power and Resolution of Quantitative Trait Loci Mapping," *Genetics*, vol. 169, no. 3, pp. 1699–1709, Nov. 2004.
- [87] C. Rosenzweig and M. L. Parry, "Potential impact of climate change on world food supply," *Nature*, vol. 367, no. 6459, pp. 133–138, Jan. 1994.
- [88] D. B. Lobell and C. B. Field, "Global scale climate–crop yield relationships and the impacts of recent warming," *Environmental Research Letters*, vol. 2, no. 1, p. 014002, Mar. 2007.
- [89] J. P. Bruce, H. Yi, and E. F. Haites, *Climate change 1995: economic and social dimensions of climate change*. Cambridge University Press, 1996.
- [90] A. Wahid, S. Gelani, M. Ashraf, and M. R. Foolad, "Heat tolerance in plants: an overview," *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 199–223, 2007.
- [91] J. Larkindale, J. D. Hall, M. R. Knight, and E. Vierling, "Heat Stress Phenotypes of Arabidopsis Mutants Implicate Multiple Signaling Pathways in the Acquisition of Thermotolerance," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 138, no. 2, pp. 882–897, Jun. 2005.
- [92] L. Rizhsky, "The Combined Effect of Drought Stress and Heat Shock on Gene Expression in Tobacco," *PLANT PHYSIOLOGY*, vol. 130, no. 3, pp. 1143–1151, Oct. 2002.

- [93] C. Ugarte, D. F. Calderini, and G. A. Slafer, "Grain weight and grain number responsiveness to preanthesis temperature in wheat, barley and triticale," *Field Crops Research*, vol. 100, no. 2, pp. 240– 248, 2007.
- [94] E. Vierling, "The roles of heat shock proteins in plants," *Annual review of plant biology*, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 579–620, 1991.
- [95] A. Blum, "Crop responses to drought and the interpretation of adaptation," *Plant Growth Regulation*, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 135–148, 1996.
- [96] K. Shinozaki and K. Yamaguchi-Shinozaki, "Gene networks involved in drought stress response and tolerance," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 221–227, Nov. 2006.
- [97] A. Harb, A. Krishnan, M. M. R. Ambavaram, and A. Pereira, "Molecular and Physiological Analysis of Drought Stress in Arabidopsis Reveals Early Responses Leading to Acclimation in Plant Growth," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 154, no. 3, pp. 1254–1271, Nov. 2010.
- [98] P. V. V. Prasad, S. A. Staggenborg, and Z. Ristic, "Impacts of drought and/or heat stress on physiological, developmental, growth, and yield processes of crop plants," *Response of crops to limited water: understanding and modeling water stress effects on plant growth processes. American Society of Agronomy/Crop Science Society of America/Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI*, pp. 301–356, 2008.
- [99] B. A. . Barnabas, K. Jäger, and A. FehER, "The effect of drought and heat stress on reproductive processes in cereals," *Plant, cell & environment*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 11–38, 2008.
- [100] P. Q. Craufurd, D. J. Flower, and J. M. Peacock, "Effect of Heat and Drought Stress on Sorghum (Sorghum Bicolor). I. Panicle Development and Leaf Appearance," *Experimental Agriculture*, vol. 29, no. 01, p. 61, Oct. 2008.
- [101] E. Heyne, A. M. Brunson, and others, "Genetic studies of heat and drought tolerance in maize.," Journal of the American Society of Agronomy, vol. 32, pp. 803–14, 1940.
- [102] R. Mittler, "Abiotic stress, the field environment and stress combination," Trends in Plant Science, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 15–19, Jan. 2006.
- [103] L. Rizhsky, H. Liang, J. Shuman, V. Shulaev, S. Davletova, and R. Mittler, "When defense pathways collide. The response of Arabidopsis to a combination of drought and heat stress," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 134, no. 4, pp. 1683–1696, 2004.
- [104] K. Urano, Y. Kurihara, M. Seki, and K. Shinozaki, "'Omics' analyses of regulatory networks in plant abiotic stress responses," *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 132–138, Apr. 2010.
- [105] K. Shinozaki, "Regulatory network of gene expression in the drought and cold stress responses," *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, vol. 6, no. 5, pp. 410–417, Oct. 2003.
- [106] P. Guo, M. Baum, S. Grando, S. Ceccarelli, G. Bai, R. Li, M. von Korff, R. K. Varshney, A. Graner, and J. Valkoun, "Differentially expressed genes between drought-tolerant and drought-sensitive barley genotypes in response to drought stress during the reproductive stage," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 3531–3544, Jun. 2009.
- [107] V. Talame, N. Z. Ozturk, H. J. Bohnert, and R. Tuberosa, "Barley transcript profiles under dehydration shock and drought stress treatments: a comparative analysis," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 229–240, Nov. 2006.
- [108] S. G. Atienza, P. Faccioli, G. Perrotta, G. Dalfino, W. Zschiesche, K. Humbeck, A. M. Stanca, and L. Cattivelli, "Large scale analysis of transcripts abundance in barley subjected to several single and combined abiotic stress conditions," *Plant Science*, vol. 167, no. 6, pp. 1359–1365, 2004.
- [109] H. He, "Profiling Caenorhabditis elegans non-coding RNA expression with a combined microarray," *Nucleic Acids Research*, vol. 34, no. 10, pp. 2976–2983, May 2006.
- [110] S. P. Gygi, Y. Rochon, B. R. Franza, and R. Aebersold, "Correlation between protein and mRNA abundance in yeast," *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, vol. 19, no. 3, p. 1720, 1999.
- [111] I. M. Stylianou, J. P. Affourtit, K. R. Shockley, R. Y. Wilpan, F. A. Abdi, S. Bhardwaj, J. Rollins, G. A. Churchill, and B. Paigen, "Applying Gene Expression, Proteomics and Single-Nucleotide

Polymorphism Analysis for Complex Trait Gene Identification," *Genetics*, vol. 178, no. 3, pp. 1795–1805, Feb. 2008.

- [112] J. K. C. Rose, S. Bashir, J. J. Giovannoni, M. M. Jahn, and R. S. Saravanan, "Tackling the plant proteome: practical approaches, hurdles and experimental tools," *The Plant Journal*, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 715–733, Sep. 2004.
- [113] J. A. Bonos, S.A., Murphy, "Growth responses and performance of Kentucky bluegrass under summer stress," Crop Science, vol. 39, no. 3, pp. 770–774, 1999.
- [114] E. Zeiger, "The biology of stomatal guard cells," *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 441–474, 1983.
- [115] U. Feller, "Stomatal opening at elevated temperature: an underestimated regulatory mechanism," *Gen. Appl. Plant Physiology, Special Issue*, pp. 19–31, 2006.
- [116] F. J. Sánchez, M. Manzanares, E. F. de Andrés, J. L. Tenorio, and L. Ayerbe, "Residual transpiration rate, epicuticular wax load and leaf colour of pea plants in drought conditions. Influence on harvest index and canopy temperature," *European Journal of Agronomy*, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 57–70, Sep. 2001.
- [117] M. E. Salvucci and S. J. Crafts-Brandner, "Inhibition of photosynthesis by heat stress: the activation state of Rubisco as a limiting factor in photosynthesis," *Physiologia Plantarum*, vol. 120, no. 2, pp. 179–186, 2004.
- [118] J. A. De Ronde, W. A. Cress, G. H. J. Krüger, R. J. Strasser, and J. Van Staden, "Photosynthetic response of transgenic soybean plants, containing an Arabidopsis P5CR gene, during heat and drought stress," *Journal of Plant Physiology*, vol. 161, no. 11, pp. 1211–1224, Nov. 2004.
- [119] I. Hayakawa, J. Kajihara, K. Morikawa, M. Oda, and Y. Fujio, "Denaturation of bovine serum albumin (BSA) and ovalbumin by high pressure, heat and chemicals," *Journal of food science*, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 288–292, 1992.
- [120] V. Jagtap, S. Bhargava, P. Streb, and J. Feierabend, "Comparative effect of water, heat and light stresses on photosynthetic reactions in Sorghum bicolor (L.) Moench," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 49, no. 327, pp. 1715–1721, Oct. 1998.
- [121] M. Ünlü, M. E. Morgan, and J. S. Minden, "Difference gel electrophoresis. A single gel method for detecting changes in protein extracts," *Electrophoresis*, vol. 18, no. 11, pp. 2071–2077, 1997.
- [122] R. Marouga, S. David, and E. Hawkins, "The development of the DIGE system: 2D fluorescence difference gel analysis technology," *Anal Bioanal Chem*, vol. 382, no. 3, pp. 669–678, May 2005.
- [123] R. Westermeier, "Sensitive, Quantitative, and Fast Modifications for Coomassie Blue Staining of Polyacrylamide Gels," *PROTEOMICS*, vol. 6, no. S2, pp. 61–64, Sep. 2006.
- [124] A. Alban, S. O. David, L. Bjorkesten, C. Andersson, E. Sloge, S. Lewis, and I. Currie, "A novel experimental design for comparative two-dimensional gel analysis: Two-dimensional difference gel electrophoresis incorporating a pooled internal standard," *Proteomics*, vol. 3, no. 1, pp. 36–44, 2003.
- [125] C. Finnie, S. Melchior, P. Roepstorff, and B. Svensson, "Proteome analysis of grain filling and seed maturation in barley," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 129, no. 3, pp. 1308–1319, 2002.
- [126] C. Finnie, O. Ostergaard, K. S. Bak-Jensen, P. K. Nielsen, B. C. Bonsager, H. Mori, J. Nohr, B. Kramhoft, N. Juge, and B. Svensson, "Barley proteome analysis, starch degrading enzymes and proteinaceous inhibitors," *Journal of applied glycoscience*, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 277–282, 2003.
- [127] C. Finnie, K. S. Bak-Jensen, S. Laugesen, P. Roepstorff, and B. Svensson, "Differential appearance of isoforms and cultivar variation in protein temporal profiles revealed in the maturing barley grain proteome," *Plant Science*, vol. 170, no. 4, pp. 808–821, 2006.
- [128] O. Østergaard, S. Melchior, P. Roepstorff, and B. Svensson, "Initial proteome analysis of mature barley seeds and malt," *Proteomics*, vol. 2, no. 6, pp. 733–739, 2002.

- [129] O. Østergaard, C. Finnie, S. Laugesen, P. Roepstorff, and B. Svennson, "Proteome analysis of barley seeds: Identification of major proteins from two-dimensional gels (pl 4–7)," *Proteomics*, vol. 4, no. 8, pp. 2437–2447, Aug. 2004.
- [130] K. Witzel, A. Weidner, G. K. Surabhi, A. Börner, and H. P. Mock, "Salt stress-induced alterations in the root proteome of barley genotypes with contrasting response towards salinity," *Journal of experimental botany*, vol. 60, no. 12, pp. 3545–3557, 2009.
- [131] A. Süle, F. Vanrobaeys, G. Y. Hajós, J. Van Beeumen, and B. Devreese, "Proteomic analysis of small heat shock protein isoforms in barley shoots," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 65, no. 12, pp. 1853–1863, 2004.
- [132] S. Shi, W. Chen, and W. Sun, "Comparative proteomic analysis of the Arabidopsis cbl1 mutant in response to salt stress," *PROTEOMICS*, vol. 11, no. 24, pp. 4712–4725, Dec. 2011.
- [133] M. Di Carli, A. Zamboni, M. E. Pè, M. Pezzotti, K. S. Lilley, E. Benvenuto, and A. Desiderio, "Two-Dimensional Differential in Gel Electrophoresis (2D-DIGE) Analysis of Grape Berry Proteome during Postharvest Withering," *Journal of Proteome Research*, vol. 10, no. 2, pp. 429–446, Feb. 2011.
- [134] L. Gao, X. Yan, X. Li, G. Guo, Y. Hu, W. Ma, and Y. Yan, "Proteome analysis of wheat leaf under salt stress by two-dimensional difference gel electrophoresis (2D-DIGE)," *Phytochemistry*, vol. 72, no. 10, pp. 1180–1191, Jul. 2011.
- [135] E. A. Colman, "A Laboratory Procdure for Determining the Field Capacity of Soils," *Soil Science*, vol. 63, no. 4, 1947.
- [136] H. D. Barrs and P. E. Weatherley, "A re-examination of the relative turgidity technique for estimating water deficits in leaves," *Aust. J. Biol. Sci*, vol. 15, pp. 413–428, 1962.
- [137] "UniProt." [Online]. Available: http://pir.uniprot.org/. [Accessed: 12-Jun-2012].
- [138] "DFCI Barley Gene Index." [Online]. Available: http://compbio.dfci.harvard.edu/cgibin/tgi/gimain.pl?gudb=barley. [Accessed: 12-Jun-2012].
- [139] F. M. McCarthy, N. Wang, G. B. Magee, B. Nanduri, M. L. Lawrence, E. B. Camon, D. G. Barrell, D. P. Hill, M. E. Dolan, W. P. Williams, and others, "AgBase: a functional genomics resource for agriculture," *BMC genomics*, vol. 7, no. 1, p. 229, 2006.
- [140] Z. Du, X. Zhou, Y. Ling, Z. Zhang, and Z. Su, "agriGO: a GO analysis toolkit for the agricultural community," *Nucleic acids research*, vol. 38, no. suppl 2, pp. W64–W70, 2010.
- [141] Y. Benjamini and Y. Hochberg, "Controlling the false discovery rate: a practical and powerful approach to multiple testing," *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological)*, pp. 289–300, 1995.
- [142] D. Aspinall, "The Control of Tillering in the Barley Plant 1. The Pattern of Tillering and its Relation to Nutrient Supply," *Australian Journal of Biological Sciences*, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 493–505, 1961.
- [143] D. F. Calderini, R. Savin, G. A. Slafer, and L. G. Abeledo, "Final grain weight in wheat as affected by short periods of high temperature during pre- and post-anthesis under field conditions," *Australian Journal of Plant Physiology*, vol. 26, no. 5, p. 453, 1999.
- [144] W. J. R. BOYD, A. G. GORDON, and L. J. LACROIX, "SEED SIZE, GERMINATION RESISTANCE AND SEEDLING VIGOR IN BARLEY," Can. J. Plant Sci., vol. 51, no. 2, pp. 93–99, 1971.
- [145] R. G. McDaniel, "Relationships of Seed Weight, Seedling Vigor and Mitochondrial Metabolism in Barley," *Crop Science*, vol. 9, no. 6, p. 823, 1969.
- [146] I. F. Wardlaw, "Tansley Review No. 27 The control of carbon partitioning in plants," *New Phytologist*, vol. 116, no. 3, pp. 341–381, 1990.
- [147] R. B. Austin, J. A. Edrich, M. A. Ford, and R. D. Blackwell, "The Fate of the Dry Matter, Carbohydrates and 14C Lost from the Leaves and Stems of Wheat during Grain Filling," Annals of Botany, vol. 41, no. 6, pp. 1309 –1321, Nov. 1977.
- [148] R. Daniels, M. Alcock, and D. Scarisbrick, "A reappraisal of stem reserve contribution to grain yield in spring barley (Hordeum vulgare L.)," *Journal Agric Science*, vol. 98, pp. 347–355, 1982.

- [149] C. Z. Jiang, S. R. Rodermel, and R. M. Shibles, "Photosynthesis, Rubisco Activity and Amount, and Their Regulation by Transcription in Senescing Soybean Leaves," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 101, no. 1, pp. 105 –112, Jan. 1993.
- [150] J. N. Gallagher, P. V. Biscoe, and R. K. Scott, "Barley and its Environment. V. Stability of Grain Weight," *Journal of Applied Ecology*, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. pp. 319–336, 1975.
- [151] C. J. Bell and L. D. Incoll, "The Redistribution of Assimilate in Field-grown Winter Wheat," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 41, no. 8, pp. 949–960, 1990.
- [152] W. Kühbauch and U. Thome, "Nonstructural Carbohydrates of Wheat Stems as Influenced by Sink-Source Manipulations," *Journal of Plant Physiology*, vol. 134, no. 2, pp. 243–250, Mar. 1989.
- [153] T. Oshino, M. Abiko, R. Saito, E. Ichiishi, M. Endo, M. Kawagishi-Kobayashi, and A. Higashitani, "Premature progression of anther early developmental programs accompanied by comprehensive alterations in transcription during high-temperature injury in barley plants," *Molecular Genetics* and Genomics, vol. 278, no. 1, pp. 31–42, Apr. 2007.
- [154] R. D. Law and S. J. Crafts-Brandner, "Inhibition and Acclimation of Photosynthesis to Heat Stress Is Closely Correlated with Activation of Ribulose-1,5-Bisphosphate Carboxylase/Oxygenase," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 120, no. 1, pp. 173–182, May 1999.
- [155] T. Sakata, H. Takahashi, I. Nishiyama, and A. Higashitani, "Effects of High Temperature on the Development of Pollen Mother Cells and Microspores in Barley Hordeum vulgare L.," *Journal of Plant Research*, vol. 113, no. 4, pp. 395–402, Dec. 2000.
- [156] M. Van Kleunen and M. Fischer, "Constraints on the evolution of adaptive phenotypic plasticity in plants," *New Phytologist*, vol. 166, no. 1, pp. 49–60, 2005.
- [157] A. B. Nicotra, O. K. Atkin, S. P. Bonser, A. M. Davidson, E. J. Finnegan, U. Mathesius, P. Poot, M. D. Purugganan, C. L. Richards, F. Valladares, and M. van Kleunen, "Plant phenotypic plasticity in a changing climate," *Trends in Plant Science*, vol. 15, no. 12, pp. 684–692, Dec. 2010.
- [158] J. Voltas, F. A. van Eeuwijk, J. L. Araus, and I. Romagosa, "Integrating statistical and ecophysiological analyses of genotype by environment interaction for grain filling of barley II.," *Field Crops Research*, vol. 62, no. 1, pp. 75–84, Jun. 1999.
- [159] G. A. Meehl, "More Intense, More Frequent, and Longer Lasting Heat Waves in the 21st Century," *Science*, vol. 305, no. 5686, pp. 994–997, Aug. 2004.
- [160] J. Berry and O. Bjorkman, "Photosynthetic response and adaptation to temperature in higher plants," *Annual Review of Plant Physiology*, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 491–543, 1980.
- [161] E.-D. Schulze, O. L. Lange, L. Kappen, U. Buschbom, and M. Evenari, "Stomatal responses to changes in temperature at increasing water stress," *Planta*, vol. 110, no. 1, pp. 29–42, 1973.
- [162] P. J. Franks and G. D. Farquhar, "The effect of exogenous abscisic acid on stomatal development, stomatal mechanics, and leaf gas exchange in Tradescantia virginiana," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 125, no. 2, pp. 935–942, 2001.
- [163] G. W. Todd, "Photosynthesis and respiration of vegetative and reproductive parts of wheat and barley plants in response to increasing temperature," in *Proc. Okla. Acad. Sci*, 1982, vol. 62, pp. 57– 62.
- [164] D. W. Lawlor and W. Tezara, "Causes of decreased photosynthetic rate and metabolic capacity in water-deficient leaf cells: a critical evaluation of mechanisms and integration of processes," *Annals of Botany*, 2009.
- [165] B. Genty, J. M. Briantais, and N. R. Baker, "The relationship between the quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence," *Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA)-General Subjects*, vol. 990, no. 1, pp. 87–92, 1989.
- [166] M. Živčák, M. Brestič, K. Olšovská, and P. Slamka, "Performance index as a sensitive indicator of water stress in Triticum aestivum L.," *L. Plant Soil Environ*, vol. 54, pp. 133–139, 2008.

- [167] A. Oukarroum, S. E. Madidi, G. Schansker, and R. J. Strasser, "Probing the responses of barley cultivars (Hordeum vulgare L.) by chlorophyll a fluorescence OLKJIP under drought stress and rewatering," *Environmental and Experimental Botany*, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 438–446, 2007.
- [168] H. M. Kalaji, K. Bosa, J. Kościelniak, and Z. Hossain, "Chlorophyll a Fluorescence A Useful Tool for the Early Detection of Temperature Stress in Spring Barley (Hordeum vulgare L.)," OMICS: A Journal of Integrative Biology, vol. 15, no. 12, pp. 925–934, Dec. 2011.
- [169] S. Ceccarelli, S. Grando, and J. Hamblin, "Relationship between barley grain yield measured in lowand high-yielding environments," *Euphytica*, vol. 64, no. 1, pp. 49–58, 1992.
- [170] R. Lande, "Adaptation to an extraordinary environment by evolution of phenotypic plasticity and genetic assimilation," *Journal of Evolutionary Biology*, vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 1435–1446, Jul. 2009.
- [171] Y. Yin, S. Li, W. Liao, Q. Lu, X. Wen, and C. Lu, "Photosystem II photochemistry, photoinhibition, and the xanthophyll cycle in heat-stressed rice leaves," *Journal of plant physiology*, vol. 167, no. 12, pp. 959–966, 2010.
- [172] A. Ayeneh, M. van Ginkel, M. . Reynolds, and K. Ammar, "Comparison of leaf, spike, peduncle and canopy temperature depression in wheat under heat stress," *Field Crops Research*, vol. 79, no. 2–3, pp. 173–184, Dec. 2002.
- [173] B. Lakew, J. Eglinton, R. J. Henry, M. Baum, S. Grando, and S. Ceccarelli, "The potential contribution of wild barley Hordeum vulgare ssp. spontaneum) germplasm to drought tolerance of cultivated barley (H. vulgare ssp. vulgare," *Field Crops Research*, vol. 120, no. 1, pp. 161–168, 2011.
- [174] Y. Shakhatreh, N. Haddad, M. Alrababah, S. Grando, and S. Ceccarelli, "Phenotypic diversity in wild barley (Hordeum vulgare L. ssp. spontaneum (C. Koch) Thell.) accessions collected in Jordan," *Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution*, vol. 57, no. 1, pp. 131–146, Jul. 2009.
- [175] A. H. Price, J. Townend, M. P. Jones, A. Audebert, and B. Courtois, "Mapping QTLs associated with drought avoidance in upland rice grown in the Philippines and West Africa," *Plant molecular biology*, vol. 48, no. 5, pp. 683–695, 2002.
- [176] R. Li, P. Guo, B. Michael, G. Stefania, and C. Salvatore, "Evaluation of Chlorophyll Content and Fluorescence Parameters as Indicators of Drought Tolerance in Barley," *Agricultural Sciences in China*, vol. 5, no. 10, pp. 751–757, Oct. 2006.
- [177] J. Batke, G. AsbóTh, S. Lakatos, B. Schmitt, and R. Cohen, "Substrate-Induced Dissociation of Glycerol-3-phosphate Dehydrogenase and Its Complex Formation with Fructose-bisphosphate Aldolase," *European Journal of Biochemistry*, vol. 107, no. 2, pp. 389–394, Mar. 2005.
- [178] L. Anderson, I. Goldhaber-Gordon, D. Li, X. Tang, M. Xiang, and N. Prakash, "Enzyme-enzyme interaction in the chloroplast: Glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase, triose phosphate isomerase and aldolase," *Planta*, vol. 196, no. 2, May 1995.
- [179] G.-P. Xue, C. L. McIntyre, C. L. D. Jenkins, D. Glassop, A. F. van Herwaarden, and R. Shorter, "Molecular Dissection of Variation in Carbohydrate Metabolism Related to Water-Soluble Carbohydrate Accumulation in Stems of Wheat," *PLANT PHYSIOLOGY*, vol. 146, no. 2, pp. 441–454, Dec. 2007.
- [180] E. S. Costa, R. Bressan-Smith, J. G. Oliveira, E. Campostrini, and C. Pimentel, "Photochemical efficiency in bean plants (Phaseolus vulgaris L. and Vigna unguiculata L. Walp) during recovery from high temperature stress," *Brazilian Journal of Plant Physiology*, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 105–110, 2002.
- [181] S. A. Heckathorn, J. S. Coleman, and R. L. Hallberg, "Recovery of net CO2 assimilation after heat stress is correlated with recovery of oxygen-evolving-complex proteins in Zea mays L.," *Photosynthetica*, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 13–20, 1998.
- [182] D. H. Yang, J. Webster, Z. Adam, M. Lindahl, and B. Andersson, "Induction of acclimative proteolysis of the light-harvesting chlorophyll a/b protein of photosystem II in response to elevated light intensities," *Plant physiology*, vol. 118, no. 3, pp. 827–834, 1998.

- [183] P. J. Nixon, M. Barker, M. Boehm, R. De Vries, and J. Komenda, "FtsH-mediated repair of the photosystem II complex in response to light stress," *Journal of experimental botany*, vol. 56, no. 411, pp. 357–363, 2005.
- [184] K. J. van Wijk, M. Roobol-Boza, R. Kettunen, B. Andersson, and E. M. Aro, "Synthesis and assembly of the D1 protein into photosystem II: Processing of the C-terminus and identification of the initial assembly partners and complexes during photosystem II repair," *Biochemistry*, vol. 36, no. 20, pp. 6178–6186, 1997.
- [185] W. S. Schuster and R. K. Monson, "An examination of the advantages of C3-C4 intermediate photosynthesis in warm environments," *Plant, Cell & Environment*, vol. 13, no. 9, pp. 903–912, 1990.
- [186] F. G. Pearce and T. J. Andrews, "The Relationship between Side Reactions and Slow Inhibition of Ribulose-bisphosphate Carboxylase Revealed by a Loop 6 Mutant of the Tobacco Enzyme," *Journal* of Biological Chemistry, vol. 278, no. 35, pp. 32526–32536, Jun. 2003.
- [187] A. R. Portis, C. Li, D. Wang, and M. E. Salvucci, "Regulation of Rubisco activase and its interaction with Rubisco," *Journal of Experimental Botany*, vol. 59, no. 7, pp. 1597–1604, Jun. 2007.
- [188] S. J. Rundle and R. E. Zielinski, "Organization and expression of two tandemly oriented genes encoding ribulosebisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activase in barley.," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 266, no. 8, pp. 4677–4685, 1991.
- [189] R. D. Law and S. J. Crafts-Brandner, "High temperature stress increases the expression of wheat leaf ribulose-1, 5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activase protein," *Archives of Biochemistry and Biophysics*, vol. 386, no. 2, pp. 261–267, 2001.
- [190] K. Y. To, D. F. Suen, and S. C. . Chen, "Molecular characterization of ribulose-1, 5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activase in rice leaves," *Planta*, vol. 209, no. 1, pp. 66–76, 1999.
- [191] M. E. Salvucci, F. J. van de Loo, and D. Stecher, "Two isoforms of Rubisco activase in cotton, the products of separate genes not alternative splicing," *Planta*, vol. 216, no. 5, pp. 736–744, 2003.
- [192] A. Ayala-Ochoa, M. Vargas-Suarez, H. Loza-Tavera, P. Leon, L. F. Jimenez-Garcia, and E. Sanchezde-Jimenez, "In maize, two distinct ribulose 1, 5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activase transcripts have different day/night patterns of expression," *Biochimie*, vol. 86, no. 7, pp. 439–449, 2004.
- [193] J. M. Werneke, J. M. Chatfield, and W. L. Ogren, "Alternative mRNA splicing generates the two ribulosebisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activase polypeptides in spinach and Arabidopsis," *The Plant Cell Online*, vol. 1, no. 8, pp. 815–825, 1989.
- [194] S. J. Crafts-Brandner, F. J. van de Loo, and M. E. Salvucci, "The two forms of ribulose-1, 5bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activase differ in sensitivity to elevated temperature," *Plant physiology*, vol. 114, no. 2, pp. 439–444, 1997.
- [195] B. P. DeRidder, M. E. Shybut, M. C. Dyle, K. A. G. Kremling, and M. B. Shapiro, "Changes at the 3'untranslated region stabilize Rubisco activase transcript levels during heat stress in Arabidopsis," *Planta*, Mar. 2012.
- [196] D. R. Law, S. J. Crafts-Brandner, and M. E. Salvucci, "Heat stress induces the synthesis of a new form of ribulose-1,5-bisphosphate carboxylase/oxygenase activase in cotton leaves," *Planta*, vol. 214, no. 1, pp. 117–125, Nov. 2001.
- [197] X. Wang, J. Cai, D. Jiang, F. Liu, T. Dai, and W. Cao, "Pre-anthesis high-temperature acclimation alleviates damage to the flag leaf caused by post-anthesis heat stress in wheat," *Journal of plant physiology*, 2011.
- [198] K. Zhu, J. Zhao, D. M. Lubman, F. R. Miller, and T. J. Barder, "Protein pl Shifts due to Posttranslational Modifications in the Separation and Characterization of Proteins," Anal. Chem., vol. 77, no. 9, pp. 2745–2755, 2005.

- [199] B. Huang and C. Xu, "Identification and Characterization of Proteins Associated with Plant Tolerance to Heat Stress," *Journal of Integrative Plant Biology*, vol. 50, no. 10, pp. 1230–1237, Oct. 2008.
- [200] C. B. Purrington, "Costs of resistance," *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 305–308, 2000.
- [201] T. Caldas, "Chaperone Properties of Bacterial Elongation Factor EF-G and Initiation Factor IF2," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 275, no. 2, pp. 855–860, Jan. 2000.
- [202] J. M. Jez, M. J. Bennett, B. P. Schlegel, M. Lewis, and T. M. Penning, "Comparative anatomy of the aldo-keto reductase superfamily," *Biochem. J.*, vol. 326 (Pt 3), pp. 625–636, Sep. 1997.
- [203] D. Bartels, K. Engelhardt, R. Roncarati, K. Schneider, M. Rotter, and F. Salamini, "An ABA and GA modulated gene expressed in the barley embryo encodes an aldose reductase related protein.," *The EMBO journal*, vol. 10, no. 5, p. 1037, 1991.
- [204] A. Oberschall, M. Deak, K. Torok, L. Sass, I. Vass, I. Kovacs, A. Feher, D. Dudits, and G. V. Horvath, "A novel aldosealdehyde reductase protects transgenic plants against lipid peroxidation under chemical and drought stresses," *The Plant Journal*, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 437–446, 2000.
- [205] Z. Turóczy, P. Kis, K. Török, M. Cserháti, Á. Lendvai, D. Dudits, and G. V. Horváth, "Overproduction of a rice aldo–keto reductase increases oxidative and heat stress tolerance by malondialdehyde and methylglyoxal detoxification," *Plant Molecular Biology*, vol. 75, no. 4–5, pp. 399–412, Jan. 2011.
- [206] U. Jakob, M. Gaestel, K. Engel, and J. Buchner, "Small heat shock proteins are molecular chaperones.," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 268, no. 3, pp. 1517–1520, 1993.
- [207] P. V. Bondarenko, D. Chelius, and T. A. Shaler, "Identification and Relative Quantitation of Protein Mixtures by Enzymatic Digestion Followed by Capillary Reversed-Phase Liquid Chromatography–Tandem Mass Spectrometry," Anal. Chem., vol. 74, no. 18, pp. 4741–4749, 2002.
- [208] G. L. Cantoni, "S-adenosylmethionine; A new intermediate formed enzymatically from lmethionine and adenosinetriphosphate," *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, vol. 204, no. 1, pp. 403 – 416, 1953.
- [209] L. Paleg, T. Douglas, A. van Daal, and D. Keech, "Proline, Betaine and Other Organic Solutes protect Enzymes against Heat Inactivation," *Functional Plant Biol.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 107–114, Jan. 1981.
- [210] J. Larkindale and M. R. Knight, "Protection against Heat Stress-Induced Oxidative Damage in Arabidopsis Involves Calcium, Abscisic Acid, Ethylene, and Salicylic Acid," *Plant Physiology*, vol. 128, no. 2, pp. 682–695, Feb. 2002.
- [211] D. B. Hays, J. H. Do, R. E. Mason, G. Morgan, and S. A. Finlayson, "Heat stress induced ethylene production in developing wheat grains induces kernel abortion and increased maturation in a susceptible cultivar," *Plant Science*, vol. 172, no. 6, pp. 1113–1123, Jun. 2007.

Appendix

Abbreviations

2D-PAGE	two dimensional polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
ABA	abscisic acid
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
Arke	Arta x Keel segregating population
Chr	chromosome
cM	centimorgan
Cys	cysteine

Da	Dalton
DArT	diversity array technology
DIGE	differential in gel electrophoresis
DTT	dithiothreitol
FC	field capacity
FDR	false discovery rate
Fm	fluorescence maximum of induction curve
Fo	fluorescence origin of induction curve
Gbp	gigabasepair
GO	gene ontology
h	hour
kDa	kilodalton
LD	linkage disequilibrium
LOD	logarithm of odds
MALDI	matrix assisted laser deabsorbtion ionization
Met	methionine
mRNA	messenger ribonucleic acid
MS/MS	tandem mass spectrometry
n/s	not significant
NADPH	nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
NHS	N-hydroxysuccinimide
NL	non-linear
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PEV	percent explained variance
PFF	peptide fragmentation fingerprints
рІ	Isoelectric point
PMF	peptide mass fingerprint
ppm	parts per million
PSII	photosystem II
Qa	primary electron acceptor
QTL	quantitative trait loci
RF	regulation factor
RIL	recombinant inbred line
ROS	reactive oxygen species
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
SEA	singular enrichment analysis
SSR	simple sequence repeats
SWC	soil water content
TOF	time of flight
tRNA	transfer ribonucleic acid
ZT	zeitgeber time

Acknowledgements

The undertaking of a PhD is nothing that can be accomplished alone. It is a piece of work that requires engagement in partnerships, teams, and entire communities. It is impossible to enumerate all those that have helped me on my way but I will still attempt.

Dr. Maria von Korff – for her patience, guidance and wonderful tutelage in statistics.
Prof. George Coupland – for his insight and for cultivating a positive, active department that was an honor to be part of.

Prof. Ute Höcker – for her time and pivotal role in my thesis committee

Dr. Jurgen Schmidt – for his sage advice as my secondary advisor

Dr. Thomas Colby – for his expertise in mass spectrometry and for countless fruitful discussions
 Dr.Nora Bujdoso – for her critical reading of the proteomic chapter and much needed encouragement
 Sven Templer – for staying cool during the heat shock measurements and unparalleled assistance in phenotyping

Benedickt Drosse – for developing the Arke recombination map and for his proofreading of the QTL chapter

Ermias Habte - for his tireless help in the greenhouse and engaging discussions about stress signaling

Aman Mulki – for his critical reading of the QTL chapter and theological discussions

Anne Harzen – for her vast technical expertise in all things proteomic

Anna Hall – for proofreading the hardest part of the thesis, the very first draft. You are the love of my life and inspiration.

My parents – for providing me with the curiosity and common sense to get this far.

"No man is an Island, entire of itself; every man is a piece of the Continent, a part of the main; if a clod be washed away by the sea, Europe is the less, as well as if a promontory were, as well as if a manor of thy friends or of thine own were; any man's death diminishes me, because I am involved in Mankind; And therefore never send to know for whom the bell tolls; It tolls for thee."—John Donne (1571–1631),

Erklärung

Ich versichere, dass ich die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation selbständig angefertigt, die benutzten Quellen und Hilfsmittel vollständig angegeben und die Stellen der Arbeit -einschließlich Tabellen, Karten und Abbildungen -, die anderen Werken im Wortlaut oder dem Sinn nach entnommen sind, in jedem Einzelfall als Entlehnung kenntlich gemacht habe; dass diese Dissertation noch keiner anderen Fakultät oder Universität zur Prüfung vorgelegen hat; dass sie - abgesehen von unten angegebenen Teilpublikationen - noch nicht veröffentlicht worden ist sowie, dass ich eine solche Veröffentlichung vor Abschluss des Promotionsverfahrens nicht vornehmen werde. Die Bestimmungen dieser Promotionsordnung sind mir bekannt. Die von mir vorgelegte Dissertation ist von Prof. Dr. George Coupland betreut worden.

Köln, den 17. August 2012 _____

Jarod Rollins

Lebenslauf

Jarod Rollins Vogelsangerstr.22 50823 Cologne, Germany Tel. 017659697158 Email. Jarod.Rollins@gmail.com



<u>Studium</u>

2008-2012 Universität zu Köln Cologne, DE

Doctorate in Plant Genetics

Dissertation title: Genetic and Proteomic Basis of Abiotic Stress Responses in Barley (*Hordeum vulgare*)

2005-2007 Technische Universität Dresden Dresden, DE

Masters in Molecular Bioengineering

Thesis title: Characterization of Erwinia amylovora Inducible Synthetic Promoters in Apple (Malus domesticus Borkh).

2002-2004 University of Maine at Orono Orono, ME

Graduate non degree course work

Continued education while employed at Jackson Labs

1997-2001 University of Maine at Orono Orono, ME

Bachelor of Science in Molecular and Cellular Biology

Additional major in Biochemistry

Berufliche Erfahrungen

2008-2012 Max Planck Institute for Plant Breedin	g Research	Cologne, DE			
PhD Research – Lab of Maria von Korff					
2007-2008 Max Planck Institute for Cell Biology a	and Genetics	Dresden, DE			
Lab Manager – Lab of Karla Neugebauer					
2007 Julius Kühn-Institute - Centre for Cultivated Plants Dresden, DE					
Graduate Research – Supervised by Dr. Henryk Flachowsky					
2002-2005 The Jackson Laboratory	Bar Harbor, MI	Ξ			
Research Assistant II – Lab of Beverly Paigen					
2001-2002 Plant Biochemistry Laboratory	Orono, ME				
Senior Research / Lab Aide – Lab of Mary Rumpho					
1999 Darling Marine Center Walpole, ME					
Internship – Lab of Gary King					